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In 2023, arab national bank (anb) continued to strengthen its 

leadership position in the Kingdom by delivering unprecedented 

and extraordinary growth, reflecting the excellent progress and 

achievements of its operating divisions. The Bank’s success is attributed 

to its future-focused transformation and growth strategy, which is 

intended to improve operations and resource management, increase 

competitiveness, and maintain its dominant position in the Saudi 

banking sector.

The Bank’s commitment to digital innovation, in line with its new 

brand promise of “faster, simpler banking,” has improved operational 

efficiency, enhanced customer experience, expanded its provision of 

cutting-edge financial services, and developed alternative channels 

that meet customer expectations with ease and flexibility. 

Supporting Saudi Vision 2030 remained a key focus for anb, with 

substantial contributions to various initiatives and partnerships with 

government programs. Investments in employee development and 

a commitment to becoming a preferred employer in the sector also 

remained high on the strategic agenda.

Looking forward, anb aims to align more closely with Saudi Vision 2030 

growth sectors, focusing on sustainable growth in wholesale banking 

and enhancing fintech support, thereby reinforcing its prominence and 

contribution to the Kingdom’s continued economic diversification and 

development.
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At a glance

Financial 
highlights
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Operational 
highlights

Awards

Robust capital 
adequacy and liquidity

2 million+ 
people chose anb

44 years 
of operation

96.43% 
Saudization

3,786 
total employees

127 
branches

1,178 
ATMs
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1979

2000

1991

anb was established, taking over 
the existing operations of Arab 
Bank in the Kingdom of Saudi 
Arabia. The Bank started its 
business with 6 branches and a 
capital of SAR 150 million.

1985

1998

2005

anb continued to expand 
its reach, with the number 

of branches reaching 79.

In line with Saudization efforts, 
the Bank’s Saudization rate 

reached 73%.

1986

1992

2007

anb’s head office building at 
Al Murabaa was inaugurated. 

anb established its employee 
training center.

anb launched its TeleMoney 
service, allowing money 
transfers to various countries.

The Bank launched a branch in 
London, offering a broad range 

of products and solutions to 
customers in the United Kingdom.

The anb story

anb launched the first internet 
banking service in the Kingdom.

The Bank established 
the Business Continuity 

Center (BCM).

The Bank established the Saudi 
Home Loan Company (SHL).
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2013

2022

2018

anb launched 
its mobile service.

anb launched its corporate 
identity, moving towards “Faster 
and Simpler” banking solutions.

anb opened its first digital branch 
in Prince Mohammed bin Abdulaziz 

Road (Tahlia Street), Riyadh.

2015

2021

anb inaugurated its new 
head office tower in Riyadh.

anb appointed its first 
Saudi MD and CEO.

2017

2019

The training center was 
transformed into anb Academy.

The Bank’s Saudization 
rate reached 93%, of 
which 20% are female.
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Year in review
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M
a

rc
h Cooperation 

agreement with 
Monsha’at to support 
SMEs

anb signed a cooperation 
agreement with the 
General Authority for 
Small and Medium 
Enterprises (Monsha’at) 
worth up to SAR 1.1 
billion to launch several 
new financial products 
in support of the small 
and medium-sized 
enterprises (SME) sector. 

2 cooperation 
agreements with 
the Saudi Industrial 
Development Fund 
(SIDF)

anb signed 2 
agreements with 
SIDF to provide a 
Guarantee for working 
capital financing, and 
a Letter of Credit 
service program, 
in line with SIDF’s 
efforts to stimulate 
the growth of 
industrial projects 
in the sectors of 
manufacturing, mining, 
energy, logistics 
services, technology 
development, 
infrastructure and 
others.

M
a

y Investment in the 
establishment of the 
Arab Bank of Iraq

anb announced the 
investment to co-
establish Arab Bank 
of Iraq, with a 20% 
ownership of the new 
bank’s capital (worth 
USD 38.2 million), 
which will facilitate 
and support trade 
exchange for the Bank‘s 
customers, diversify 
income sources and 
facilitate entry into new 
promising markets. 

J
u

n
e Launch of “anb 

initiative to serve 
pilgrims” 

anb launched a social 
initiative called “anb 
initiative to serve 
pilgrims” in partnership 
with a number of 
government entities, 
which provided a 
package of services 
to support pilgrims to 
perform their rituals 
through a team of 650 
specialized and qualified 
Saudi volunteers.

J
u

ly First Saudi bank 
with Payment 
Card Industry Data 
Security Standard 
certification

anb achieved a new 
milestone by obtaining 
the latest version (4.0) 
of the Payment Card 
Industry Data Security 
Standard (PCI-DSS) 
certification, a first 
in the Saudi banking 
sector, highlighting 
the proactive steps 
it takes to enhance 
security standards for 
the protection of its 
customers.

anb delivered another solid performance filled with key achievements 
and strategic partnerships, during a year that proved to be a significant 
step in our journey of growth and innovation. 

Cooperation 
agreement with 
Saudi EXIM Bank

anb and Saudi EXIM 
Bank collaborated 
to provide credit 
insurance and credit 
solutions, supporting 
Saudi exporters to 
increase non-oil 
exports from the 
Kingdom and expand 
into new regional and 
global markets for 
locally produced goods 
and services. 

“Transport Finance  
Deal of the Year” 

anb won the award at the 
Capital Markets & ESG Finance 
Saudi Arabia Awards for 
successfully leading a SAR 
2.5 billion financing deal in 
record time for Tibah Airports 
Development Company, the 
developer and operator of 
Prince Mohammed bin Abdulaziz 
International Airport in Madinah.
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A
u

g
u

st “Visa Global” 
awards for 
excellence in 
business and 
innovation

anb received this 
award in recognition 
of its efforts to 
enrich and enhance 
its banking services 
and products, and 
in appreciation of 
the efficiency and 
excellence of the 
standards governing 
its banking operations. 

S
e

p
te

m
b

e
r “She’s Next” 

initiative

anb demonstrated 
its support for the 
initiative aimed at 
supporting and 
empowering women 
entrepreneurs and 
small to medium-
sized enterprises 
across various sectors 
in the Kingdom, in 
partnership with 
Visa, as part of the 
Bank’s commitment 
to empowering Saudi 
women and Saudi 
businesswomen.

Launch of the  
“Our Giving  
Renews Their 
Hope” initiative

anb launched its 
corporate social 
responsibility “Our 
Giving Renews Their 
Hope” initiative, in 
partnership with 
King Salman Hospital 
and the Rheumatism 
Association to 
perform 93 knee 
replacement 
operations in honor 
of the 93rd Saudi 
National Day.

O
c

to
b

e
r Best SME Bank in Saudi Arabia 

by Global Finance 

anb won the SME Bank of the Year 
in Saudi Arabia by the renowned 
Global Finance Magazine.

Partnership with the “Wave” 
for positive environmental 
impact

anb partnered with the “Wave” 
initiative to support international 
efforts for environmental 
sanitation, preservation of the 
oceans and seas and restoring 
their balance, and sustainability 
in general, in line with the 
Bank’s sustainability focus and 
commitments. 

First bank to obtain ISO 
certification for cybersecurity

anb became the first organization 
in the IMETA region to obtain 
the ISO/IEC 27001:2022 
certification from BSI, reflecting 
the Bank’s continuous efforts 
in implementing and improving 
its risk management framework, 
cybersecurity and operational 
excellence.

D
e

c
e

m
b

e
r

N
o

ve
m

b
e

r

anb’s Managing Director 
and Chief Executive Officer 
wins “Best CEO for Giant 
Establishments”

Out of 88,000 competing 
establishments, Mr. Obaid 
Al-Rasheed won “Best CEO 
for Giant Establishments” in 
the third edition of the Labor 
Awards by the Ministry of 
Human Resources and Social 

Development.

Leading the financing 
for development of the 
“Avenues – Al Khobar”

anb led a SAR 4.35 billion 
syndicated financing that 
includes the Tourism 
Development Fund (TDF) and a 
syndicate of local and regional 
banks to finance “The Avenues - 
Al Khobar” project, in one of the 
largest joint financing operations 
led by the Bank, reflecting the its 
strategic interest in supporting 
significant projects in line with 
the Kingdom’s Vision 2030.

Cooperation agreement 
with The National Center 
for Privatization & PPP 
(NCP)

anb signed an agreement 
with NCP to cooperate in 
exchanging experiences 
and knowledge, enhancing 
the flexibility and efficiency 
in privatization initiatives 
in line with the goals 
of Vision 2030 and its 
implementation programs 
for the sectors targeted 
for privatization. This 
supports the integration of 
the partnership between 
government and  
private entities.

“MENA Most Innovative 
Bank of the Year” 

This prestigious award 
received at the MENA 
Banking Excellence 
Awards 2023 (a MEED 
product) reflects anb’s 
steadfast dedication to 
delivering cutting-edge 
and customer-focused 
transactional solutions, 
utilizing state-of-the-art 
technology to elevate 
exceptional customer 
experience.
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London,
United Kingdom

Kingdom of 
Saudi Arabia

Geographic footprint

anb caters to all the needs of its individual and corporate 
clients through an extensive network covering all regions 
of the Kingdom. It consists of 127 branches, 61 remittance 
centers (TeleMoney) and 13 centers for servicing small and 
medium-sized enterprises. 

Moreover, the Bank has a number of branches specializing 
in corporate services, in addition to an international branch 
in London (UK). The Bank also owns more than 1,100 ATMs.

12
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Stakeholder engagement

anb is proud of the vital and central role it plays in the Kingdom’s 
financial ecosystem. We work hard to engage and support all our valued 
stakeholders in order to move forward, create sustainable value for 
the Bank and help achieve the vision and ambitions of the Kingdom, its 
financial sector and service its people. 

Stakeholder 

group

Our  

employees

Our  

customers

Our  

suppliers/partners

Our  

community

Our  

shareholders

How we 
engage

• Regular engagement 
surveys.

• Dedicated employee 
experience unit.

• Collaborative 
culture.

• Organize events 
and team-building 
workshops.

• Training programs.
• Financial support 

for our employees 
completing Master’s 
degrees.

• Customer surveys.
• Customer visits.
• Customer inquiries 

and complaints.

• Engagement sessions 
for ongoing evaluation, 
exploring new 
opportunities and 
addressing concerns.

• Fintech partners utilize 
anb Connect, a seamless 
platform for effective 
collaboration and 
expanding product and 
service engagements.

• Innovation events, 
including conducting 
hackathons to explore 
and implement new 
technologies and solutions.

• Explorations with 
consulting partners to 
refine the technology 
strategy, optimize 
operating models, manage 
demand and advance data 
transformation.

• Various 
initiatives 
that aim to 
address crucial 
social and 
environmental 
issues that 
have the 
most positive 
impact on our 
community and 
society.

• Earnings’ calls.
• Investor 

meetings.
• Road shows.
• Analyst days.
• Conferences.

How often 
we engage

• Continuous 
engagement 
embedded in all 
functions.

• Daily engagement 
with staff 
participating in 
training programs, 
events or session 
evaluations. 

• Surveys annually and 
quarterly, as well as 
before conducting 
any hackathon.

• Banking hours. 
• Customer 

engagement. 
• Digital banking. 
• Quality experience.

• Monthly operational 
meetings to discuss 
ongoing projects and 
immediate concerns.

• Half yearly reviews with 
suppliers to discuss 
state of health of the 
engagement and future 
plans.

• Quarterly meetings with 
our fintech partners to 
discuss broader trends, 
share insights and 
strengthen relationships.

• Periodically, 
we analyze 
the efficacy 
of our social 
responsibility 
initiatives with 
our partners 
to make the 
necessary 
improvements 
and ensure that 
we achieve the 
best results. 

• Monthly/
quarterly basis 
for formal and 
pre-arranged 
engagements.

• Ongoing 
engagements 
concerning ad-
hoc interactions 
with investors. 
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Stakeholder 

group

Our  

employees

Our  

customers

Our  

suppliers/partners

Our  

community

Our  

shareholders

Key items 
discussed

• Issues related 
to performance 
management. 

• Setting objectives 
and KPIs.

• Card deliveries. 
• New mobile app.
• Providing banking 

services and 
products for people 
with disabilities on 
the new mobile 
app.

• Performance metrics 
reviewed to assess the 
effectiveness of current 
partnerships and projects.

• Digital transformation 
opportunities for 
digitalization and exploring 
customer experience 
solutions.

• Technology trend 
opportunities in Cloud, 
Gen AI, CBDC (Blockchain) 
and other emerging 
technologies.

• Transformation assessment 
of technology operations 
for efficiency and better 
control.

• Our efforts to 
build innovative 
programs and 
initiatives that 
will contribute 
to the country’s 
environmental, 
social and 
economic 
development in 
the long run.

• Evaluate the 
effectiveness 
of our CSR 
initiatives.

• Communicate 
our CSR goal, 
vision and 
principles to all 
stakeholders 
in a clear and 
consistent 
manner.

• Current period 
financial 
performance.

• anb’s strategy, 
plans and 
outlook.

Key actions 
from these 
discussions 

• Implemented 
workshops on 
performance 
management, 
objectives setting 
and KPIs.

• Hackathon to 
unleash employee 
creativity.

• Emergency stop. 
• Mada card renewal. 
• anb ambassador. 
• Voice guidance. 
• Re-branding of 

ATMs. 
• Gifts for customers 

when taking a 
housing loan.

• Integrated with 
third parties to ease 
the application 
process and the 
manual work.

• Updated expired IDs 
on the Interactive 
Voice Response 
system (IVR)

• Birthday SMS 
messages sent. 

• Braille brochures 
made available 
in branches, and 
sign language for 
our products is 
accessible on 
YouTube through 
QR codes

• Amended hygiene 
policy. 

• Implemented new 
technologies (Cloud, AI, 
Blockchain – CBDC).

• Enhanced efficiency using 
insights from consultants 
and vendors, particularly 
focusing on ITG processes 
and key performance 
indicators.

• Formed collaborations 
with fintech’s for 
innovative financial 
solutions, strengthening 
our leadership in the 
Kingdom’s Open Banking 
sector.

• Formulated strong risk 
mitigation strategies 
with consultant input, 
addressing cybersecurity, 
compliance and 
operational risks.

• Developed customized 
IT solutions, such as 
advanced reconciliation 
systems, through partner 
collaboration and strategic 
alignment.

• 4 volunteer 
initiatives 
undertaken 
for important 
causes. 

• Top 
management 
executives took 
part in 2 major 
activities.

• Planned to 
organize 
additional 
volunteer 
initiatives in the 
future.

• Identification 
and 
decomposition 
of the 
perception gap 
in order to align 
financial markets 
and intrinsic 
value of anb.

• Conducted 
earnings call 
and additional 
outreach 
programs.
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Stakeholder engagement (continued)

Stakeholder 

group

Our  

employees

Our  

customers

Our  

suppliers/partners

How we 
create value 
for this 
stakeholder 
group

• Sponsored engaged team 
development, emphasizing their 
role in enhancing employee 
engagement through initiatives 
including training and skill-
building.

• Assessment center for staff 
development established to 
evaluate staff skills and potential, 
aiding employees in articulating 
development plans and career 
paths.

• New leadership and coaching 
programs at anb Academy in 
collaboration with top universities, 
showcasing a commitment to 
high-quality education and 
strategic investment in leadership 
capabilities.

• Compensation aligned with 
market standards to attract 
and retain top talent, ensuring 
a motivated and satisfied 
workforce.

• Financial support for education 
and certifications, including 
Master’s degrees and professional 
certifications.

• Provided outstanding 
experience to customers.

• New products.
• New channels.
• New ways of delivering 

services.

• Partners gain access to varied markets 
and clients through their integrated 
expertise in anb services. 

• Shared optimized processes enhances 
partners’ efficiency and cost-
effectiveness.

• Collaboration on pioneering projects 
boosts partners’ innovation credentials.

• Partners improve their operational 
excellence and customer satisfaction by 
engaging with our advanced solutions.
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Our  

community

Our  

shareholders

• Adopted an integrated 
framework of high-quality 
community-focused 
activities that have a 
positive impact on our 
society, contribute 
to overall national 
development and support 
the goals of Saudi Vision 
2030.

• Provided current and 
potential shareholders 
with an accurate portrayal 
of anb’s performance and 
prospects, which in turn 
helped them to make 
an informed investment 
decision.
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Investment case 

Large and 

growing market 

position

Solid and 

consistent 

financial 

performance

anb is one of the largest banks 
in the Middle East and Saudi 
Arabia by assets. We have a 
wide network of 127 branches 
across the Kingdom and a 
bespoke London branch. We 
offer a comprehensive range of 
products and services across 
Wholesale, Retail, MSME, 
Private, Treasury and 
Investment Banking (Capital).

anb has consistently 
delivered profitable 
growth and maintained a 
healthy balance sheet. In 
2023, our net income of 
SAR 4,071 million shows a 
33% increase over 2022, 
in addition to a return on 
equity of 12.1% and NIM 
of 2.74%.

As a well-established Bank, undergoing an ambitious transformation, anb 
provides investors with a unique proposition to benefit from the growth of 
the Saudi financial sector and Saudi Arabia’s vibrant fintech ecosystem. 
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Innovative 

digital strategy 

and fintech 

enabler

Diversified 

customer 

segments and 

revenue streams

Contribution 

to social and 

economic growth  

anb is committed to 
enhancing its digital 
capabilities and providing a 
superior customer 
experience. We have 
invested in developing our 
online and mobile banking 
platform, in addition to 
enhancing our corporate 
transaction banking platform 
and upgrading our systems 
to support the latest Open 
Banking Standards, and 
provide our BaaS offerings 
for fintech, as the leading 
provider in that market.

anb has a diversified 
operating model focused 
on various segments and 
markets. We have a strong 
market position across all 
our operating segments, 
including Wholesale, Retail, 
Private, Treasury and 
Capital. In addition, we are 
regionally present across 
Saudi Arabia and have a 
strong footprint in the UK 
with our London branch. 

anb is committed to supporting 
the social and economic 
development of the Kingdom and 
is an active participant in key 
Vision 2030 and Saudi economic 
development initiatives. This 
includes MSME support and the 
REDF Housing program, while also 
serving as a banking partner for 
key financial transactions, such as 
being the joint bookrunner for the 
PIF inaugural green bond.
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Exchange: 

Saudi 
Exchange 
(Tadawul)

Symbol: 

1080.SE

ISIN: 

SA0007879105

Listing date: 

1 December 
1979

1,500m

Number of 
shares issued

>5%
Major shareholders 

SAR 

25.30

Closing price as of 
31 December 2023

SAR

37,950m

Market cap as of 
31 December 2023

49%

Foreign 
ownership limit

Shareholders’ 
information

40%

9.97%

5.65%

Arab Bank PLC  Rashed Abdulrahman 
Alrashed & Sons Company

 Al Jabr Investment Company

5867

962

1

Number of shareholders

1,500,000,000

Total number 

of shares

184,917,750 

12.33%
715,082,250 

47.67%

600,000,000 

40%

Foreign investors

Local investors

Strategic investors

Shareholding by type
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Share price performance vs. benchmark equity indices

For more information,
please visit our Investor 
Relations page: 

https://anb.com.sa/ar/web/
anb/investor-relations
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Accelerating transformation and performance 

Chairman’s statement

      It gives me pleasure to present anb’s Annual Report 
and closing accounts for the 2023 fiscal year. Our Bank 
enjoyed another exceptional year, with strong performances 
by our various divisions as the business accelerated its 
transformation and focused on profitable growth. 

Salah Rashed Al Rashed
Chairman of the Board
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As Saudi Arabia continued its wide-ranging economic 
development and diversification agenda, despite regional 
and global uncertainty, anb was once again an active 
player in the Kingdom’s outstanding growth. The Bank 
was a key contributor in supporting the Government’s 
vision and projects across the Kingdom, which presented 
a plethora of significant opportunities. The Bank’s results 
were especially notable in 2023, considering the increasing 
competitiveness of the banking sector and challenging 
external factors.

We continued our progress towards our five-year strategy 
targets by augmenting and deploying our digital capabilities 
to further enhance our customer’s journeys and 
experience, and to optimize our internal bank functions. 
Thanks to this proven strategy and our customer-centric 
approach, we delivered healthy growth and enhanced 
profitability. Furthermore, our achievements in 2023 will 
underpin the many initiatives planned for the years ahead 
to deliver our ambition of providing “Fast and Simple” 
banking services for all our clients and elevating the quality 
of their banking experience.

Saudi Arabia’s continued economic growth momentum 
relies on the sustainable expansion and diversification of 
the economy. During 2023, anb invested in providing the 
products, services and customer experience aligned to the 
national priority sectors for Wholesale Banking, in addition 
to our continued participation in the key initiatives 
targeting the retail sector and MSMEs. Our dedication to 
enhancing customer experience has already earned us 
recognition from our experts and clients as a preferred 
banking partner for the fintech sector, top partner for the 
Kafala program and active participant with the Kingdom’s 
Investment and Development Funds.

Saudi Vision 2030 partnerships gathering 
momentum

Our continuing investment in developing our human 
capital as well as enhancing our technological 
infrastructure and digital capabilities has enabled us 
to expand our participation in the Saudi Vision 2030 
initiatives. In particular, we are honored to be playing an 
important role in nurturing the MSME sector by providing 
financing and business support in partnership with 
Monsha’at and Kafala to develop this crucial segment. The 
growth and success of MSMEs, which fosters innovation 
and contributes to economic growth, will help build a 
diversified, future-proof economy, which in turn will have 
many positive ramifications. 

Our Wholesale Banking team continued to focus on 
emerging opportunities and large-scale developments 
as public-private partnership projects stemming 
from the Kingdom’s exceptional growth and the giga 
projects outlined by Saudi Vision 2030 gained significant 
momentum.

The Retail Banking team continued developing digital 
propositions and optimizing the branch network to 
support our clients with products to enable them to 
achieve their ambitions. This was aided by our partnership 
with the REDF Housing program to continue expanding 
the mortgage proposition, providing savings programs and 
products, and launching awareness campaigns to develop 
financial literacy.

Maintaining excellent governance during 
accelerated transformation

During a period of rapid transformation and growth, it 
is imperative to maintain high standards of governance, 
compliance and risk management. During 2023, we 
remained vigilant in our adherence to the policies and 
procedures that ensure the stability and sustainability 
of our operations and the sound implementation of 
our ambitious strategy. Furthermore, we strengthened 
our Shariah Committee with new appointees who have 
the requisite expertise to guarantee that our new digital 
products and services are fully compliant with Islamic law.

Commitment to our community  

Recognizing our social responsibility, the Bank has 
continued to launch initiatives with a sustainable impact 
on the community. This is our way of contributing and 
showing loyalty to the community we take pride in being 
a part of. It also underscores our active role in achieving 
the Kingdom’s 2030 developmental goals, driven by 
our commitment and profound values that define our 
operations.
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Managing Director’s 
message 

We continued our commitment towards our strategic 
transformation plans which were reflected in our positive 
organizational and financial performance, placing us 
among the top three Saudi banks in terms of year-on-year 
profitability growth and net interest margin (NIM).

Our continued resilience and the impact of our five-year 
strategy was demonstrated by record net income after 
zakat and income tax of SAR 4,071 million, compared to SAR 
3,070 million in 2022. This represented a 33% increase and 
translated into a return on assets of 1.9% (2022: 1.5%).

The Bank’s operational efficiency was also reflected in 
maintaining the cost-to-income ratio at 33.86% (compared 
to 35.8% in 2022), with our asset book ending the year at 
SAR 220,683 million, 3.8% higher than 2022. This reflected 
customer loan growth of 6%, a 3% increase in liabilities, and 
a 7% surge in customer deposits. 

Strengthening our foundation for  
accelerated transformation

Our transformation into one of the Kingdom’s leading 
banks, led by our brand promise of faster, simpler banking, 
requires strengthening and enhancing of our infrastructure 
to provide a dynamic and agile foundation for our growth 
and operational expansion. In 2023, we made excellent 
headway in this regard, embarking on a core banking system 
update to support our digital transformation, enhance our 
client services and future-proof our operations. 

In addition to the technology improvements which were 
implemented, we developed and launched our updated 
digital strategy, kicking off with the release of our revamped 
retail mobile app. The app was extremely well received by 
the market and our customers, and is the first milestone of 
several major enhancements which are planned across all 
our business lines and service centers.

A dedicated focus on customer experience has been at 
the heart of our mission to deliver faster, simpler banking. 
In 2023, this imperative was progressed by operational 
enhancements and a focus on developing our CX function 
to spearhead our ambition to become the chosen banking 
partner across our main segments. We rejuvenated 
our Retail Bank loyalty program and made substantial 
improvements in products and end-to-end digital journeys.

Increasing profitability for sustainable growth

      anb’s performance in 2023 reflected our intensified 
actions to driving a profitable growth in line with our five-
year strategy, during a year that was characterized by an 
increasingly competitive banking sector and persistently 
high global interest rates.

Obaid Abdullah Al-Rasheed
Managing Director and  
Chief Executive Officer

26



Changes were made to our branch network and physical 
channels in 2023, installing best-in-class customer 
experience designs and applying our new brand identity 
within our branches. We also revamped Telemoney, which 
saw significant growth by attracting new customers this year. 
Its services are now offered at over 60 centers around the 
Kingdom, in addition to various digital channels, fulfilling all 
our customers’ needs.

Our Wholesale Bank Group (WBG) implemented substantial 
improvements to transaction banking services for our 
corporate and MSME clients. 

WBG strengthened its market-leading banking-as-a-service 
(BaaS) capabilities to enhance our ability to target fintech’s 
and position ourselves to become the market leader in this 
segment.

We also maintained our dominance in the Open Banking 
realm with SAMA Open Banking certification and streamlined 
fintech integration via anb connect, setting a benchmark in 
accessibility and fintech enablement.
 
The MSME Banking division maintained its Saudi Vision 
2030 alignment, consolidating its status as a key partner 
supporting Government initiatives to grow the sector.

Finally, recognizing the importance of Treasury as a key 
business driver and enabler for growth, we have invested 
in upgrading our systems and infrastructure to enhance 
our offerings and operations, in addition to growing our 
investment book to diversify our revenue streams and 
cater to our balance sheet growth in line with our market 
expectations and risk appetite.

Enabling and partnering with Saudi Vision  
2030 initiatives 

In 2023, anb continued to play an integral role in enabling 
and supporting important initiatives as part of Vision 2030. 
We continued our partnerships with the MSME support 
programs as part of Kafala and Monsha’at. 

Moreover, anb remains the chosen partner for fintech, which 
is an important aim for the Financial Sector Development 
program to increase and improve access to financial services 
and promote public financial literacy. We continued our 
active partnership with the National Development Fund and 
its supervised funds on a number of collaboration initiatives 
that will support the Kingdom’s development funds to 
achieve their government mandate in line with Vision 2030 
objectives. 

In our Wholesale Bank Group, we established the Vision 
Realization Department to focus on this important segment 
and provide bespoke financial services to the various 
development projects and pioneer companies spearheading 
the Kingdom’s National Transformation as well as creating 
initiatives to contribute to achieving Vision 2030 objectives.

Investing in our employees to support growth 

In 2023, anb undertook a proactive transformation process 
to enhance its standing as a leading employer in the 
financial sector. This involved a comprehensive overhaul of 
employee benefits and the refinement of the performance 
management framework to emphasize continuous 

improvement and enhance workforce engagement 
and performance. The Bank also organized events and 
celebrations aligned with national and social occasions to 
foster a sense of community and belonging.

Our efforts to position anb as an employer of choice were  
recognized as we received both the prestigious “Best CEO” 
award as well as the “Best Training Program” award from the 
Ministry of Human Resources and Social Development.

Looking ahead to 2024

anb’s alignment with Saudi Vision 2030 will manifest in our 
continued focus on the strategy’s identified growth sectors.

Our Wholesale Bank Group will pursue opportunities 
to deliver strong and sustainable growth for the bank, 
contributing to the Kingdom’s Vision 2030 economic goals.
In addition to the aim of becoming the chosen banking 
partner for our large corporate clients, WBG expects to 
participate in project and structured financing deals as Saudi 
Vision 2030 and PIF infrastructure development projects 
accelerate.

The Treasury business will continue to expand further their 
products offerings and reach during 2024. The other main 
focus will be to grow the investment book to support the 
Bank’s growth ambitions and liquidity requirements.

Reflecting our Government’s emphasis on the small and 
micro business sector, our MSME Banking team will explore 
more partnership opportunities with key Government 
entities to expand our financing activities in this segment.

Retail Banking Group will continue investing in their digital 
and physical channels. Other plans for 2024 include new 
products and services, loyalty offerings and bespoke 
rewards. 

anb Capital’s primary objective for 2024 is to enhance its 
market positioning in key investment banking and brokerage 
categories. The new brokerage app, which will be launched 
with market-leading services, is expected to deliver an 
exceptional customer experience. 
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As a recognized and respected bank in Saudi Arabia, anb’s business 
model leverages our strengths and core capabilities to create 
significant and sustainable value for all our stakeholders.

anb creates value through:

Value creation 
levers

Diversified operations: 

• Serves different segments of customers, 
including individuals, small and medium 
enterprises (SMEs), corporate and institutional 
clients and government entities.

• Offers a range of products and services to 
meet the needs and preferences of each 
segment, such as deposit accounts, loans, 
credit cards, investment products, insurance 
products, trade finance, cash management 
and treasury services.

Continuous innovation and digitalization:

• Focuses on innovation and digitalization to 
enhance its competitive edge and customer 
satisfaction.

• Develops new products and services, 
eBusiness+, Mobile App, Online Banking, 
Banking-as-a-Service and Open Banking.

Business model

Inputs

anb’s unique proposition and 
strengths provide the foundation 
for sustainable value creation

Solid capital base: paid-up 
capital and equity (SAR 15 billion 
of Tier 1 + Tier 2).

Talented human resources: 
over 3700 employees across 
different business units and 
groups, including Retail Banking, 
Wholesale Banking, Treasury, 
Capital and other support 
functions.

Advanced technologies: 
investments in technology to 
enhance operational efficiency, 
customer service and digital 
transformation, and offering on-
line and mobile banking, ATMs, 
POS terminals and other digital 
channels to customers.

Robust regulatory environment: 
operating under the supervision 
and regulation of the Saudi 
Central Bank (SAMA) and 
compliant with all local and 
international banking regulations.
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Strict risk management and 
compliance:

• Adopts a prudent and proactive 
approach to risk management 
and compliance to ensure its 
financial stability and reputation.

• Has a comprehensive risk 
management framework that 
covers credit risk, market risk, 
operational risk, liquidity risk 
and reputational risk.

• Follows the best practices 
and standards of corporate 
governance, internal control, 
anti-money laundering and 
social responsibility.

Outputs

Strong financial results: 

• Net income after zakat and income tax of 
SAR 4,071 million for 2023, an increase of 33% 
over the previous year.

• Increased total assets by 3.8% to SAR 220 
billion, total deposits by 7% to SAR 165 billion, 
and total loans and advances by 6% to SAR 
152 billion.

• Return on equity (ROE) was 12% and return on 
assets (ROA) was 1.8%.

Increasing customer loyalty and satisfaction: 

• Over 2 million customers and 214 premises 
across Saudi Arabia.

• Providing high-quality service and financial 
solutions to enrich customer experience.

• Invested in CRM systems to manage customer 
interactions.

Significant social and environmental impact:

• Contributes to the social and economic 
development of Saudi Arabia and supports 
the goals of Vision 2030.

• Participates in various initiatives and 
programs, such as the SME Financing 
program, the Mortgage program and the 
Financial Literacy program.

• Supports various charitable and humanitarian 
causes, including the health, education, 
culture, sports and environmental sectors.

anb generates outputs that reflect its 
performance, impact and value proposition 
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Strategy and KPIs

Amongst the largest banks in the Middle East, anb’s headquarters are 
based in Riyadh, Saudi Arabia with regional offices in Jeddah, Khobar 
and a network of branches throughout the Kingdom, in addition to an 
international branch in London, United Kingdom.

Our philosophy

Our Vision: To become the chosen 
financial partner in the Kingdom.

Our Mission: To empower the 
Kingdom’s ambitious people, 
organizations and society by providing 
innovative tailored financial solutions 
and a fast simple experience.

Our Promise: Beyond Banking.

Our strategic pillars

Our corporate strategy aims to drive 
profitable growth through a focus on: 

Bank of choice  
for large and  
mid-corporates

Strategic pillar

Description

KPIs

• Corporate Banking: 

growing our portfolio, 

boosting profitability and 

aligning with Vision 2030.

• Mid-sized corporates: 

sustainable growth 

through a diversified 

portfolio.

• SME: become a leading 

SME bank.

• Net loans.

• Total operating income.

• ROAA.

• NIM.

• NFI/operating income.
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Saudi Arabia’s 
affluent bank  
of choice

Diversify treasury 
revenue streams 
and support  
anb’s growth

Become the 
premier capital 
markets player

• Offer a differentiated 

product/service for our 

affluent customers.

• Transform our channels 

digitally to drive growth 

and optimize our 

operations.

• Net loans.

• Total operating income.

• ROAA.

• NIM.

• NFI/operating income.

• Expand treasury products 

and grow the investment 

book.

• Enhance our 

infrastructure and 

systems.

• Assets.

• Total operating income.

• NIM.

• ROAA.

• Diversify products across 

different asset classes, 

themes and geographies. 

• Develop institutional 

capabilities.

• Build a strong investment 

banking brand.

• Assets.

• Total operating income.

• NIM.
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Brand and engagement 

Building our brand and enhancing engagement

anb’s strategic and data-driven approach to launching products and 
services fit for market, constantly improving experience and engagement 
to acquire and retain customers, and building the strength and equity of 
our brand accelerated during 2023. 

Our approach and initiatives 
to create value for the 
Bank and our shareholders 
through brand and 
marketing included: 

We continued to leverage digital 
channels to reach our target 
audience. This included strategies 
such as search engine optimization 
(SEO) to improve online visibility, 
pay-per-click (PPC) advertising, 
content marketing and social media 
marketing. Digital marketing enabled 
better connections with customers 
through web-sites, mobile apps, 
social media platforms and e-mail 
campaigns.

Launching the 

new mobile 

app in 2023

Digital 
marketing

Personalized 
customer 
experience

We focused on delivering 
personalized experiences to our 
customers. We used customer 
data and analytics to understand 
individual preferences and needs, 
allowing us to provide tailored 
products and offers. Personalization 
has been achieved through 
targeted marketing and public 
relations campaigns, customized 
communications and product 
recommendations based on 
customer behavior and segments.
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Content 
marketing

Data-driven 
marketing 
and analytics

We created valuable and informative 
content to educate and engage 
customers. Content marketing 
includes blog articles, videos, 
infographics and interactive tools 
that address financial topics, 
provide financial planning tips 
and offer insights into the banking 
industry. 

We leveraged data analytics to gain 
insights into customer behavior, 
preferences and market trends. 
By analyzing data, we’ve identified 
cross-selling opportunities, refined 
marketing strategies and measured 
the effectiveness of our campaigns. 
Data-driven marketing allowed us 
to make informed decisions and 
optimized our marketing efforts for 
better results.

Rebranding 

branches 

and ATMS 

Customer 
Relationship 
Management 
(CRM)

We invested in CRM systems to 
manage customer interactions, 
track leads and enhance customer 
satisfaction. The CRM platform 
enabled us to consolidate customer 
data, streamline communication 
and provide a unified view of 
customer interactions across 
various touchpoints. This helped 
us in building stronger customer 
relationships and delivering 
personalized experiences.

33
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Market overview

Despite economic headwinds globally, the Saudi banking sector 
maintained its growth trajectory in 2023 and anb captured strategic 
opportunities to continue maintaining a profitable growth. 

Challenging global economic landscape

The world economy experienced a challenging 
macroeconomic and geopolitical environment in 2023. 
High inflation led to major central banks tightening 
monetary policy and increasing interest rates to 
generational-high levels. This policy initially showed 
limited success in curbing inflation, due to geopolitical 
uncertainties leading to increasing commodity prices, and 
a robust US economy and job market, which maintained 
consumer spending power.

With slower than forecasted economic growth, OPEC+ 
aimed to bolster oil prices by implementing production 
cuts. This led to a slowdown in the Saudi oil sector’s 
GDP growth. Nevertheless, non-oil GDP growth was very 
healthy at over 4% in 2023.

Despite the uncertain global macroeconomic 
environment, Saudi Arabia continued its steadfast 
development and implementation of Vision 2030’s 
ambitious economic and social reforms. The pace of 
infrastructure development picked up and multiple giga 
project contracts and key milestones were announced, 
including NEOM and The Red Sea Project.

The economic successes culminated in 2023 with Saudi 
Arabia winning the bid to host Expo 2030 and the FIFA 
World Cup 2034. These major events are expected to 
provide an additional boost to the Saudi economy, as 
preparations in the leading years will drive major sectors 
including tourism, construction and manufacturing.

Additionally, the economic diversification away from oil 
was spearheaded by PIF, with multiple international and 
local investments and new ventures announced. 

The Government also maintained its fiscal discipline 
and continued to reduce its budget deficit, while also 
providing targeted support and equal opportunities. It is 
set to continue on an expansionary budget policy in 2024.

Quarterly real GDP growth rates (year-on-year, %) 

Source: General Authority for Statistics

Source: S&P Global

Gross value added (GVA) growth breakdowns 
based on implied forecasts
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Resilient Saudi banking sector

The aforementioned events in 2023 influenced the 
Saudi banking sector in several ways. It benefited 
from increased lending, especially to the corporate 
and retail segments, as well as increased profitability 
(despite the higher liquidity cost). The Saudi Central 
Bank (SAMA) implemented the final Basel III reforms 
and maintained its vigilance to ensure the stability and 
resilience of the financial system.

Digitization and fintech growth continued to 
show strength, driven by the high level of internet 
penetration and young age demographics in 
the Kingdom. Banks launched enhanced digital 
propositions and SAMA continued to enable the 
seamless banking experience in the Kingdom, by 
enhancing inter-bank transaction functionality and 
supporting the adoption of the latest Open Banking 
framework.

The sector also embraced the opportunities and 
challenges of emerging technologies, such as 
blockchain, virtual assets, cloud computing and 
biometrics. SAMA continued to foster a conducive 
and supportive environment for financial innovation, 
through its regulatory sandboxes, fintech initiatives 
and digital transformation programs.

Finally, with COP28 taking place in the GCC and Saudi 
Arabia pledging to reach net-zero by 2060, the focus 
shifted to the role of banks in enabling this transition 
and contributing to the protection of our planet.

anb capitalized on opportunities  
for growth

2023 was a continuation of anb’s strong financial 
performance. Despite the challenging market 
conditions due to generation-high interest rates, the 
Bank was able to maintain the health of its loan book, 
enhance its deposit base and boost its profitability. 

This has enabled anb to grow its NIMs to be one of 
the market leaders. Additionally, despite the tighter 
monetary policy with higher interest rates, the Bank 
was able to grow its NIBs, while greatly increasing time 
deposits and saving accounts, which provided healthy 
liquidity and protected the Bank’s ability to continue to 
profitably grow its loan book.

In addition, with the growing emphasis on digitization 
and with the Bank continuing its role as a key enabler 
for fintech’s in the Kingdom, anb launched its revamped 
mobile app and enhanced its technology infrastructure 
to maintain this leading market position. 
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Chief Financial 
Officer’s review 
Achieving record results

      In line with our five-year strategy that began in 2022, 
arab national bank continued to achieve exceptional 
financial results in 2023. Total operating income increased 
by 24.8% to SAR 8,567 million at the end of the current 
financial year from SAR 6,862 million in 2022.

Saad Aldughish
Chief Financial Officer

Demonstrating its financial strength, the 
Bank achieved sustained growth in financing 
and investment portfolios of 5.8% and 13.8% 
respectively. The Bank also maintained a 
balance between the Wholesale and Retail 
Banking, while continuing to focus on digital 
transformation. 

Despite the great challenges and rising prices 
worldwide, the Saudi economy was able to 
overcome these challenges, thanks to its 
robust fiscal standing and the Kingdom’s Vision 
2030 economic diversification initiatives. 

Supported by these favorable market 
conditions, the Bank developed an ambitious 
five-year strategy plan in 2022, laying sound 
foundations for its future transformation 
and business sustainability. The plan focused 
on effective management of its operations 
and emphasized the Bank’s position as a 
major player in the market with a focus on 
sustainable growth and enhanced profitability. 
The Bank has been able to take advantage of 
the changes in the banking sector to achieve 
impressive results in 2023, which consolidated 
its initial progress in 2022; while maintaining 
a balance among the different sectors, with a 
continued focus on digital transformation.

anb was able to achieve an increase in net 
income, after zakat and tax, of SAR 4,071 million 
for the current fiscal year, compared to SAR 
3,070 million in 2022; an increase of 32.6%.  
This increase is attributed to a 24.8% growth 
in total operating income offset by a 12.8% 
increase in impairment charges and a 15.9% 
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increase in operating expenses compared to 2022. The 
increase in total operating income comes as a result of a 
26.6% increase in net special commission income resulting 
from an increase in investments and net financing of 13.8% 
and 5.8%, respectively. Furthermore, the net commission 
margin has improved this year despite the increase in cost 
of funds year-on-year. Total assets increased by 3.8% to 
reach SAR 220.7 billion as at year-end 2023 compared to 
SAR 212.6 billion in 2022. 

Recent operating performance at a glance

anb maintained its solid financial position and robust 
performance in 2023.

Net income and profitability metrics

The Bank was able to achieve excellent financial results 
in the year 2023, as net income after zakat and tax 
recorded SAR 4,071 million in 2023 compared to SAR 
3,070 million in 2022, an increase of 32.6%. This growth 
is mainly due to an increase in total operating income of 
24.8%, reaching SAR 8,567 million compared to SAR 6,862 
million in the year 2022. This increase is attributed to the 
growth in the investment and financing portfolios and 
the increase in the Bank’s core operations; in addition to 
the improvement in the net commission margin this year, 
higher net banking fees, net gain on sale of non-trading 
instruments and other operating income. 

Accordingly, the 24.8% increase in total operating income 
comes as a direct result of the growth of the Bank’s 
financing and investments portfolio to meet the enhanced 
market demand for economic and business diversification 
in addition to the increase in the Bank’s core operations. 
The financing and investment portfolios grew by 5.8% 
and 13.8% respectively, coupled with increased yields. 
Accordingly, the net special commission income reached 
SAR 7,137 million in 2023 compared to SAR 5,636 million 
for the previous year, an increase of 26.6%. Furthermore, 
the net fee and commission income amounted to SAR 
637 million, an increase of 16.6% from SAR 546 million in 
2022. Additionally, the Bank achieved profits from sale of 
non-trading instruments amounting to SAR 156 million in 
2023 and other operating income reached SAR 106 million 
in 2023 compared to SAR 74 million in 2022, an increase of 
42.3%. Meanwhile, exchange income and dividend income 
showed a decrease of 6.5% and 10.3% respectively from 
the previous year, reaching SAR 331 million and SAR 143 
million respectively in 2023.

Operating expenses increased by 15.9% to reach SAR 
2,848 million in 2023 from SAR 2,458 million in the 
previous year. This increase is mainly due to the increase 
in computer maintenance expenses, consultancy services, 
communication expenses, advertising expenses, etc., 
in addition to the increase in salaries and wages and 
related benefits. Despite the increase in total operating 
expenses, the high growth in operating income led to 
an improvement in the cost-to-income ratio by 5.4% to 
reach 33.86% in 2023.

152.2bn220.7bn
Loans and advances, net (SAR)Total assets (SAR)

5.8% (22-23)3.8% (22-23)

35.1bn165.9bn
Shareholders’ equity (SAR)Customer deposits (SAR)

8.5% (22-23)7.1% (22-23)

4.1bn8.6bn

Net income after 

Zakat and Tax (SAR)

Total operating 

income (SAR)

32.6% (22-23)24.8% (22-23)

3.64% 33.86%
Net commission margin C/I ratio

17.4% (22-23) 5.4% (22-23)

12.08% 1.88%
ROAE ROAA

24.8% (22-23) 23.7% (22-23)

145% 20.86%
NPL coverage ratio Total CAR

Tier 1 ratio 18.82%

Operating income 

by business 

segment
7%

5%

3%

48%

37%

Retail Banking

Corporate Banking

Treasury 

Investment and 
brokerage services

Others 
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The Bank recorded an improvement in its profitability 
and earnings metrics in the year 2023, as a result of the 
increase in the net income after zakat and tax. Earnings 
per share reached SAR 2.71 in 2023, up from SAR 2.05 
in 2022. ROAA and ROAE increased to 1.88% and 12.08% 
respectively in 2023, compared to 1.52% and 9.68% 

respectively in 2022. The net commission margin ratio 
increased and cost-to-income ratio decreased to reach 
3.64% and 33.86% respectively in 2023, compared to 
3.10% and 35.81% respectively in 2022.

Below is a five-year summary of the income statement:

*2023 figure includes impairment in value of property acquired in recovery of debt in prior year.
** Inclusive of gain on disposal of investments in associates and non-controlling interests.

Chief Financial Officer’s review (continued)

2023

2023 2023

2023

2023

20232023

2023

2022

2022 2022

2022

2022

20222022

2022

2021

2021 2021

2021

2021

20212021

2021

2020

2020 2020

2020

2020

20202020

2020

2019

2019 2019

2019

2019

20192019

2019

7,137

(2,848) (992)

1,430

5,719

4,74215

8,567

5,636

(2,458) (880)

1,226

4,404

3,636112

6,862

4,672

(2,201) (1,034)

1,093

3,564

2,62797

5,765

4,869

(2,047) (1,271)

955

3,777

2,57569

5,824

5,553

(2,203) (989)

1,180

4,530

3,55211

6,733

Net special 

commission income

Total operating 

expenses

Fee, exchange, and other 

operating income

Net income 

before provisions

Net income before 

Zakat and tax

Share in earnings of

associates - net**

Total operating 

income

Provision for financing 

and other assets*

Income Statement 
(all numbers are in SAR million)

2023

2022

2021

2020

2019

(671)

(566)

(450)

(503)

(529)

Zakat and tax

2023

2022

2021

2020

2019

4,071

3,070

2,177

2,072

3,023

Net income after 

Zakat and tax

Allowance charges for expected 
credit losses

anb continued to maintain an adequate 
coverage ratio by allocating an 
allowance for credit losses of SAR 670 
million in 2023, compared to SAR 880 
million in the previous year. The total 
provision for expected credit losses on 
financed facilities was SAR 3,329 million 
at year-end 2023 compared to SAR 
3,920 million at the end of 2022. Credit 
quality remained stable, as evidenced 
by the non-performing loans (NPL) 
ratio and NPL coverage ratio. The cost 
of risk decreased by 19 basis points to 
0.45%. The NPL ratio improved by 31 
basis points to reach 1.5% at the end 
of 2023. NPL coverage ratio decreased 
slightly from 148% at the end of the 
fiscal year 2022 to reach 145% at 31 
December 2023. 
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Financial Position
(all numbers are in SAR million)

The Bank also recorded a provision for impairment in the value of a property acquired in recovery of debt from a 
customer for the amount of SAR 322 million during the current year.

Summary of financial position

anb maintained its strong financial position as of year-end 2023, highlighted by a healthy growth in assets and liabilities 
during the year. 

Below is a five-year summary of the statement of financial position:

The Bank’s balance sheet remained strong, with growth 
in gross lending balances reaching SAR 155.6 billion 
and deposit balances reaching SAR 165.9 billion at the 
end of 2023. Net loans and advances also achieved an 
annual growth of 5.8% in 2023, as the consumer loans 
and corporate loans portfolios witnessed significant 
improvements. Consumer loans witnessed a growth 
in financing of 10.2% during the year, driven mainly by 
mortgage financing, while commercial loans witnessed 
4.3% growth in financing on an annual basis. 

Stability and liquidity

All key indicators of stability, growth, balance sheet 
strength, liquidity and asset quality were at satisfactory 
levels during the reporting period. anb maintained a good 
liquidity position throughout 2023, with Loan-to-deposit 
Ratio (LDR) at 80.97% (below the regulatory maximum) 
as of 31 December 2023. The Bank’s Liquidity Coverage 

Ratio (LCR) and Net Stable Funding Ratio (NSFR) stood at 
177.56% and 121.17% respectively, as of 31 December 2023, 
both well above the regulatory minimum.

anb recorded an 8.5% growth in shareholders’ equity 
in 2023. This is mainly due to the increase in retained 
earnings resulting from growth in net income in addition to 
statutory reserves and other reserves. The Bank remained 
well capitalized, as evidenced by the Capital Adequacy 
Ratio of 20.86% at the end of 2023 from 19.78% in 2022, 
with the Tier 1 Capital ratio reaching 18.82% in 2023.

Going forward, anb is looking forward to taking advantage 
of the available opportunities and is in a prime position 
to sustain its growth trajectory, capitalizing on its current 
strong position and the remarkable achievements of 
2023. anb aims primarily to achieve a strong financial 
performance in the year 2024 and onwards.

2023

2023

2023

2023

2023

2023

2022

2022

2022

2022

2022

2022

2021

2021

2021

2021

2021

2021

2020

2020

2020

2020

2020

2020

2019

2019

2019

2019

2019

2019

152,235

165,861

220,683

35,069

46,676

185,585

143,829

154,871

212,628

32,334

41,018

180,270

126,674

135,714

192,502

31,101

44,168

161,374

113,363

129,352

180,396

29,734

43,775

150,630

118,837

142,129

183,442

28,308

38,038

155,099

Loans and advances, net

Customer deposits

Total assets

Total shareholders’ equity

Investments

Total liabilities
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Business review 

Wholesale Bank Group

anb’s Wholesale Bank Group (WBG) created exceptional 
value for shareholders, delivering impressive revenue 
and profit growth by increasing anb’s share of wallet 
of ancillary business with the existing client base. 
Supported by enhanced efficiencies and optimizations, 
this also contributed to onboarding new clients in 
sectors offering high ancillary and cross-selling 
opportunities.

Our wholesale integrated businesses made important 
gains in capturing a larger share of the market, expanding 
our client base, and growing our share of wallet. Our 
ongoing technology investment should also accelerate 
progress, build a solid framework for transformation and 
consolidate our capacity and capabilities to differentiate 
anb in a competitive market. 

In 2023, our digitalization program, especially for the 
SME and fintech segments, continued to expand the 
availability of digital channels to deliver our faster, simpler 
banking objectives. Improving both speed and agility in the 
provision and operability of our platform contributed to a 
better customer experience. 

Saudi Arabia’s unparalleled economic growth relies on the 
sustainable expansion of the country’s business segment 
across the spectrum – from large scale corporates to mid-
sized businesses and SMEs. Our Wholesale Bank Group 
provides diverse financial solutions that are carefully 
designed to advance our clients’ business objectives 
and encourage them to partner with us throughout their 
growth journey.

These enduring relationships are essential to maintaining 
the Bank’s growth momentum and contributing to the 
attainment of Saudi Vision 2030’s ambitious goals. In 
2023, WBG intensified its efforts to embed end-to-end 
relationships with our clients by providing the appropriate 
products and quality services that support every step of 
their growth. 

We enhanced this approach by collaborating with other 
business teams across anb to promote cross-selling 
opportunities to further enhance client relationships and 
maximize returns.

Corporate

In 2023, our Corporate team secured new business from 
existing clients and expanded the portfolio by targeting 
new clients.

Saudi Arabia’s economy was exposed to the high interest 
rates in 2023, and accordingly, our Corporate Banking 
team maintained a stringent risk management approach. 
Being selective in growing the loan book and generating 
higher returns by focusing on fee-based services, 
maintained our robust and resilient portfolio. 

We also introduced further enhancements to ensure 
that our products and services are enabled for better 
efficiency and responsiveness to our clients’ requirements. 
These improvements were aligned with the Bank-wide 
commitment to a seamless customer experience.

Project and Structured Finance

anb’s Project and Structured Finance Department 
enhanced the return on the portfolio by focusing on 
opportunities to generate higher fees and ancillary 
income. 

The Bank, which is one of Saudi Arabia’s leading project 
and structured finance providers, was involved in financing 
a number of high-profile projects in 2023. We are the 
sole lead arranger of SAR 4.35 billion financing for a 
lifestyle project encompassing a shopping mall and towers 
comprising hotels and offices in Al Khobar. The syndicated 
transaction includes the Tourism Development Fund, and 
local and regional banks. anb also played a leading role 
in a USD 1.3 billion debt refinancing for a leading regional 
airline’s plane-leasing transaction. 
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Saudi Arabia is set to spearhead public-private 
partnership projects in the region in the coming years, 
driven by its exceptional growth and the many new 
initiatives outlined by Saudi Vision 2030. The attendant 
opportunities for project and structured finance have 
been targeted by our team as key growth enablers and will 
remain an essential element of our strategy.

Commercial

In 2023, our Banking business targeting small and middle-
market organizations consolidated the high standard of 
service provided to our clients and focused on adding new 
clients to the portfolio.

Our investment in digitalizing our operations continued, 
while our face-to-face services were bolstered with the 
addition of a new branch in AlMadinah AlMunawwarah. 
Commercial Banking is now offered at 4 regional locations: 
Riyadh, Jeddah, Khobar, and Madinah. A plan to open 
new branches in other regions is in place for 2024, which 
should contribute to further expanding our client base 
and market reach. 

Physical engagement with clients, supported by our 
digital capabilities, will remain an essential element of our 
strategy to build enduring relationships with existing and 
new clients. Accordingly, we plan to expand our branch 
presence to other parts of the Kingdom in 2024.

Small and medium enterprises (SMEs) 

In 2023, we made further progress on our aspirations to 
be the leading SME bank in the Kingdom by enhancing the 
customer experience and extending our reach into this 
important economic sector.

Saudi Vision 2030 has identified SMEs as strategically 
critical to the continued prosperity of the Kingdom. 
Emerging businesses are innovative and engines of new 
employment – with the right financial support, they unlock 
the potential to drive diverse and sustainable economic 
expansion.

anb’s activities in the SME sector continues to grow, 
cementing our reputation as a bank of choice for small 
and medium businesses. In 2023, we were honored to win 
SME Bank of the Year from Global Finance Magazine.

During 2023, we further enhanced our digital channels 
to ensure that our products and services are enabled for 
best-in-class efficiency and responsiveness to our clients’ 
requirements. Our technological improvements were 
aligned with the Bank-wide commitment to a seamless 
customer experience.

Our SME clients, supported by 13 centers across the 
country, will soon have access to an additional 2 new 
centers, opening in the Northern and Southern regions. A 
new mobile app has been developed and will be launched 
in 2024, which will have many advanced features such as 
funds transfer, loan applications, trade finance and other 
services.
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Global Transaction Banking (GTB) 

GTB, underpinned by advanced technology and 
infrastructure, and the expertise of our team, allows 
both corporate and financial institutions to generate 
synergies through greater efficiencies and automation. As 
a result, in 2023, we restructured our Transaction Banking 
Department to better and more quickly respond to the 
international requirements of our large corporate clients 
which thereafter became GTB.

Capitalizing on anb’s global reach and the technological 
advancements in the payments sector, GTB offers the 
Kingdom’s largest companies and financial institutions 
transactional products and services that meet their 
exacting standards. GTB has a variety of off-the-shelf 
solutions for our corporate and institutional clients, 
ranging from corporate and transactional banking for 
public and private entities across the spectrum to cash-
management products for companies involved in off-plan 
real estate sales, investment houses and fintechs.

GTB provides tailored banking solutions to some of 
the biggest and most demanding corporate clients in 
the Kingdom. Our products are designed to meet the 
transactional needs of the Corporate business. One or 
more of these products can be customized to provide 
a banking solution to serve our clients’ unique financial 
requirements. 

anb’s ongoing digital transformation has played a 
significant role in optimizing our clients’ management of 
working capital in their commercial activity by employing 
appropriate technology without compromising on 
information security. Our services and products are 
powered by cutting-edge technology and top-tier 
expertise, which allows businesses to maintain greater 
transparency over collections and payments, improve 
digital capabilities and ensure agility and control. 

anb has strategically positioned itself as a leading fintech 
enabler bank since 2018. Our goal is to empower fintech’s 
to deliver secure, customizable, compliant and efficient 
solutions. At present, anb boasts a diverse fintech portfolio 
encompassing Aggregators (Information, Bill, Ecommerce 
and POS), PSPs, Digital Payment, Micro Lending, Equity 
Crowdfunding, Crowdfunding and Receivable Financing. 

Backed by a dedicated fintech team, we act as a gateway 
to other departments within the Bank, ensuring seamless 
support for the fintech sector. With more than 50% market 
share in the Saudi fintech sector, anb is committed to 
driving the success and market penetration of fintech 
companies at every stage, providing advisory and guidance 
along the way.

We differentiate ourselves by our ability to customize 
our products to suit our clients’ cash management 
requirements. anb has always been at the forefront of 
digital innovation in Saudi Arabia, and we are known to 
be the partner of choice for fintechs, investment firms, 
and major retail companies. Accordingly, our product 
suite continuously evolves as we adopt new technologies, 
perpetually introducing new and innovative solutions, 
allowing our corporate clients to become more efficient in 
managing their cash.

Vision Realization 

anb’s Vision Realization Department, established in 2022, 
successfully rallied the entire Bank to pursue opportunities 
in the public sector. 

As a result, deposits have increased fivefold in 2023, and 
further solidified anb’s positioning to engage and support 
the Kingdom’s projects.

Our dedicated team has fostered meaningful relationships 
with Saudi Vision 2030 champions in the public sector, with 
a mandate to identify and create initiatives that will make 
a material contribution to the Kingdom’s economic and 
societal advancement.

As one of anb’s most important priorities, our support 
for Saudi Vision 2030 takes the form of providing banking 
and financial services to projects in sectors identified as 
strategically important. These include industrialization, 
tourism, entertainment, sports, transportation and 
logistics, housing, utilities and renewables, aerospace, 
education, healthcare, food and agriculture and 
automotive. 

Our team in the Vision Realization Department continues 
to grow as a result of the growing opportunities that have 
emerged following the Kingdom’s Vision, reflecting our 
dedication to meet and exceed the desired deliverables of 
our clients.

Business review (continued)
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Deposits have increased fivefold in 2023, and 
further solidified anb’s positioning to engage 
and support the Kingdom’s projects.
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Case study: 

Pioneering 
fintech 
excellence

Empowering the Kingdom’s  
financial landscape

The financial sector, both domestically and globally, 
is undergoing a transformative journey driven by 
the disruptive force of fintech’s. Commercial banks 
find themselves at a crossroads of challenges and 
opportunities, necessitating strategic decisions to navigate 
this paradigm shift. Recognizing the vast potential that 
collaboration with fintech’s holds, the GTB management at 
anb strategically positioned the Bank as a fintech enabler. 
However, despite anb’s longstanding provision of eWallet, 
eCommerce, payments, collections and other cash 
management solutions to the market customers since 
2004, the Bank’s strategy signifies its commitment to being 
a force in the dynamic fintech ecosystem.

Navigating challenges, capturing opportunities

In the pursuit of meaningful collaborations between 
commercial banks and fintechs, anb has encountered 
promising benefits and overcome intricate complexities.

Key benefits

Innovation and disruption – new income: fintech 
startups inject innovative solutions into the market, 
disrupting traditional financial services and introducing 
new business models. GTB’s solutions, notably in 
collaboration with fintechs, have played a pivotal role in 
transforming the cross-border home remittance market, 
creating new income streams and propelling anb into the 
vanguard of industry innovation.

Cost efficiency: collaborations with fintech’s, known 
for operating with leaner overhead costs, promote 
more competitive pricing for consumers. anb’s strategic 
partnerships extend to fintechs working on Open Banking 
API solutions, enhancing the Bank’s market reach and 
capitalizing on the innovation and agility inherent in 
fintechs.

Key challenges
Regulatory compliance: navigating the intricate 
regulatory landscape remains a weighty challenge, 
demanding meticulous due diligence and carefully drafted 
agreements to ensure compliance from the time-to-
market and adherence.

Cybersecurity and protection: the financial industry’s 
susceptibility to cyber-attacks is a prime concern. Fintech 
startups, lacking the robust security infrastructure of 
established institutions, face challenges in safeguarding 
sensitive customer data. Addressing these concerns is 
crucial for maintaining the integrity of collaborative efforts.

Trust and credibility: establishing trust in revenue-
sharing models within the fintech space is a formidable 
challenge. Customer hesitation in adopting new financial 
technologies poses a potential blind spot for banks 
engaged in collaborations with fintech companies.

Scaling operations: the rapid scaling of fintech companies 
introduces operational challenges for traditional banks. 
anb recognizes the importance for scalable solutions 
to accommodate increased transaction volumes while 
maintaining operational efficiency.

Business review (continued)

50%
of Saudi fintech 
companies chose anb

More than
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Capturing value through a strategic approach

anb’s strategic engagement with fintech’s involves a 
multifaceted approach:

1. Risk management and compliance: rigorous due 
diligence ensures regulatory compliance, with all 
fintech agreements carefully drafted to shield the Bank 
against unforeseen events. GTB collaboration with RMG, 
Compliance and Legal guarantees adherence to all risk 
and compliance requirements without compromising 
solutions.

2. Technology stack: anb procured a state-of-the-art 
technology stack, seamlessly integrating it with core 
banking and allied applications to furnish effective APIs. 
This scalable technological prowess instilled market 
confidence and facilitated the successful onboarding 
of numerous fintech entities. GTB collaborated with ITG 
to provide a technology stack that scales with growing 
transaction volumes.

3. Accelerator and Incubator program: anb introduced 
a revolutionary free sandbox environment, providing a 
platform for potential fintech’s to develop and prove 
their concepts without incurring exorbitant expenses. 
GTB drove the program directly with fintech’s, offering 
mentorship and technical guidance to support promising 
startups.

4. Cultural transformation: GTB initiated a cultural shift, 
fostering a culture of innovation integral for adapting to the 
dynamic fintech landscape. Encouraging experimentation, 
agility and a willingness to embrace new technologies 
became a cornerstone of this cultural transformation. GTB 
management worked with all GTB staff to communicate 
the importance of continuous improvement and learning, 
enabling effective communication horizontally within the 
Bank and vertically with customers.

Driving growth and innovation

Through this strategic fintech enablement, anb adeptly 
navigated challenges, surpassing the targets for 2023. The 
onboarding of more than 50% of SAMA/CMA-licensed 
fintech companies resulted in incremental recurring 
revenue and a diversified fintech customer portfolio. 
anb’s success, with over 100 fintech’s onboarded, stands 
as a testament to the profound impact of the Bank’s 
solutions in navigating and thriving within the dynamic 
fintech landscape. This notable achievement not only lays 
the foundation for sustained growth but also catalyzes 
transformative changes in the Kingdom’s financial industry. 
anb, through its fintech strategy, has created a platform for 
future growth, setting the stage for continued innovation 
and excellence. 
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Retail Banking 
Our Retail Banking business delivered solid growth in 
2023, with the affluent segment performing particularly 
well. The division’s success this year is testament to our 
clear focus, financial discipline and precise alignment 
with anb’s overarching strategy.

Optimizing capabilities

In a year of strategic transformation, the Bank benefited 
from its exceptional leadership, guiding our retail business 
to deliver improvements across products and services. 
In addition, our branch and ATM network optimization 
progressed well, buoyed by the implementation of the new 
brand identity.

In line with our branding strategy, Retail Banking extended 
its affluent and upper mass client segment in 2023, with 
business improvements, new value propositions, product 
innovation and digital technology supporting customer 
acquisition and sales volume growth. 

These enhancements, combined with the evolution in our 
customer journey process, delivered a better customer 
experience. This was particularly notable with affluent 
customers who benefited from product differentiation 
and new services, and thus resulted in an increase of the 
overall customer base. 

Retail Banking’s ongoing strategy to grow its affluent and 
middle customer segment included the introduction of 
new value propositions in 2023. These included end-to-
end digital loan processing, a seamless youth customer 
acquisition experience and revamped touch points for 
consumer loans and cards customers, to provide them 
with a better customer journey. Coupled with faster 
turnaround times, these improvements boosted new-to-
bank customer acquisition and raised our ability to cross-
sell asset products. 

The importance of driving customer experience 
motivated a decision to expand our dedicated function. 
Our Customer Experience team’s mandate is to deliver 
customer-centric solutions to improve every step of a 
customer’s Retail Banking journey.

At the front end, we developed a real-time feedback 
system for customers on branch services to identify 
areas needing improvement. The attendant insights and 
advanced analytics resulted in better leads’ management, 
enabling the Retail Bank to cross-sell more asset products 
and raise customer retention.

Customer adoption and use of digital channels increased 
significantly in 2023, reinforcing anb’s focus on digital 
transformation. 

Product and service launches and 
enhancements

In line with our primary focus on our existing affluent and 
middle customer base, the Retail Bank added new products 
to its extensive range, including salary advances and micro 
loans, as well as enhancements to our savings product.

We continued our training program to enhance the sales and 
service excellence of our relationship managers engaging 
with customers in branches and through digital platforms. 
This program substantially contributed to the success of 
our initiatives to enhance our products, deliver growth and 
advance diversification.

The Retail Banking cards and payments business reported 
unprecedented success in 2023, reflecting our investment 
in innovation and superior products and services. Our 
unwavering dedication to customer satisfaction and our 
exceptional ability to meet our valued customers’ evolving 
needs led to an outstanding increase in new customer 
numbers.

Moreover, the expansion of our anb rewards banner further 
cemented our enduring relationships with our customers, 
ensuring their continued trust and support. 

Our cards business in 2023 earned us a prestigious award 
from our global partner VISA. This accolade recognized 
our continuous pursuit of innovation and excellence. It 
also acknowledged our persistent focus on delivering 
an exceptional banking experience to our customers by 
providing value-added and high-quality solutions and 
products that exceed our customers’ expectations.

Delivering growth and diversifying offerings

Retail Banking recorded growth in its asset portfolio due 
largely to efficiency improvements, shorter service delivery 
times, and the introduction of new products in our auto 
leasing business. 

Mortgage lending grew steadily, reflecting the strength of 
the market and the Real Estate Development Fund’s (REDF) 
strategy to provide financing. 

As part of ongoing efforts, Retail Banking launched the 
Platinum program and the Classic Business program for 
small firms, offering dedicated services and transaction fees, 
prioritized branch banking, competitive financing and lower 
fees for certain banking solutions. 

As a socially responsible corporate citizen, anb continued 
to urge our customers to save for the future. We augmented 
our efforts in this regard by strengthening our relationship 
with the Social Development Bank (SDP) with unique and 
appealing savings options, including the Zood program in 
which anb participates. 

Business review (continued)
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Private Banking 

During the year, our teams further strengthened 
their strategic relationship with each high net worth 
client, using their expertise to identify and manage 
their unique banking requirements and investment 
appetites, supported by our sophisticated suite of wealth 
management products and services. 

In 2023, we continued expanding our client base and we 
increased assets under management and grew both the 
loan and deposits portfolios.

Leveraging our growing client base and the successful 
implementation of our business model, Private Bank is 
primed for another year of growth ahead. Our expert 
relationship managers will build on their deepening 
engagement with our existing high net worth clients and 
apply this knowledge to secure new business and clients 
from this lucrative segment.

London branch 

Since its establishment in 1991, anb’s London branch has 
contributed to the Bank’s profile and visibility in one of 
the world’s largest and most important financial centers. 
During the year, we expanded our support for our valued 
customers’ banking requirements in the UK.

Despite economic challenges and rising interest rates, 
our London branch positively contributed to anb’s overall 
financial results. Following our expansion of mortgage 
finance transactions to cities and regions beyond London, 
we anticipate this trend will continue in 2024 and beyond. 

Furthermore, new services for Private Banking and VIP 
clients are providing broader, yet more personalized 
assistance, based on individual needs. Our collaboration 
with selected external business partners and a dedicated 
concierge service have become important elements of 
this extended offering.

TeleMoney 

Our TeleMoney business is an important contributor 
to anb’s strategy to grow revenue from transaction 
fees and foreign exchange, providing customers 
with multiple options to execute their transfers in a 
convenient and simple manner. 

In 2023, our TeleMoney business achieved strong 
growth by attracting new customers and encourage 
them to use the Bank to send remittances. Services 
are now offered at more than 60 TeleMoney centers 
around the Kingdom, as well as via our digital 
channels which includes the TeleMoney App, Retail 
internet banking, ATMs and TeleMoney kiosks. 

In addition to building a larger customer base, our 
growth in new customers has generated more 
opportunities for cross-selling other Bank products 
and services.

In 2023, we signed up the money transfer operations 
of Mastercard, Thunes and Moneygram, all of which 
use TransFast, a network provider for cross-border 
remittance banking. 
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Islamic Banking 
anb’s Islamic Banking division continued to benefit 
from Saudi Arabia’s position as the leading Islamic 
finance market. With the Islamic banking sector in 
the Kingdom comprising a third of all Islamic banking 
assets worldwide, anb is well positioned to capture 
a significant portion of this business thanks to its 
impressive reputation and operating excellence.

During 2023, our Islamic Banking division achieved a 
significant 8.4% increase in assets compared to 2022, due 
to intensive promotion of our Shariah-compliant finance 
products to clients. 

Our Shariah Committee, which is an integral part of anb’s 
governance framework, provided exceptional guidance 
and counsel to all anb’s divisions across the wider Bank, 
ensuring that all new consumer products and services 
developed during the year met with the compliance 
requirements of Shariah law. 

The committee grew this year with the addition of new 
members as planned in 2022. These scholars all have 
requisite expertise to oversee the Bank’s implementation 
of appropriate Shariah-compliant digitalization, specifically 
our new digital products for customers to apply for 
banking facilities entirely online.

An additional highlight of the year was the publication of 
the research, findings and recommendations stemming 
from our first conference on Islamic Banking, which we 
hosted in 2022. We also ran several training courses on 
Islamic banking products for staff across the Bank. 

anb capital
anb capital, a leading capital markets player in the 
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, continued its growth 
trajectory in 2023 and demonstrated the strength of 
its brand by completing transactions and launching 
new products. As our capital markets arm increased its 
revenues, it also strengthened its team, expanded its 
product offering and invested in its infrastructure. 

This was an important year for the investment banking 
business, which began the year by completing 2 high 
profile transactions in the mergers and acquisitions 
space. In the first transaction, anb capital advised Saudi 
Tabreed District Cooling Company on the sale of a 30% 
shareholding to the Public Investment Fund (PIF) of Saudi 
Arabia. In the second transaction, anb capital advised 
Tamimi Markets on the sale of a 30% equity stake, also to 
the PIF. With a number of deals on the way that will go to 
market over the coming months and years, the investment 
banking business has now begun to establish a firm footing 
in the Saudi capital markets. 

The asset management business continued to gain ground 
in 2023, with 4 new funds and new investment strategies 
launched, which greatly expanded its product offering. anb 
capital’s Equity Fund (Shariah) continues to outperform 
their relative benchmarks, while its Money Market fund was 
the top performer for the year in Saudi Arabia, based on 
information provided on the Saudi Stock Exchange web-
site. anb capital has plans to take new products to the 
market in the coming months, including thematic funds 
and innovative investment strategies.

The Real Estate Department launched 3 new closed-
ended funds in 2023 and added SAR 1.8 billion of new 
assets under management. Two of the funds launched will 
invest in projects in the city of Riyadh, while the third fund 
will invest in a development in the city of Buraidah. The 
year also witnessed the successful exit of Almubarak Real 
Estate Income Fund II. 

anb capital retained its ranking among bank-affiliated 
capital market institutions in the Kingdom in terms of 
brokerage volumes. With the dynamics of the brokerage 
market changing, anb capital is investing in new 
technologies and service propositions to change how 
its brokerage business is positioned. anb capital expects 
brokerage to continue to be one of its main revenue 
drivers in the coming years, and accordingly, will invest in 
its development in line with the market’s evolution.

anb capital in 2024

There are tremendous opportunities in the 
Saudi capital markets on the back of the 
projects that are being developed under 
Vision 2030. The capital markets will have to 
evolve and expand to meet the requirements 
of the Kingdom’s public and private sectors, 
creating avenues of growth for Saudi 
investment banks such as ourselves.

In alignment with Vision 2030, we remain 
steadfast in our commitment to delivering 
high quality investment advisory and 
investment management services to our 
clients, while taking advantage of the 
opportunities being created.

Business review (continued)
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Treasury Group 
In 2023, anb’s Treasury business continued its track 
record of positive contributions to the Bank’s overall 
performance. The year under review was also notable 
for the progress made towards the Bank’s strategic 
objectives relating to investments, automation and the 
development of its human capital.

Over the year, our Treasury team expertly and efficiently 
managed the Bank’s liquidity requirements, investment 
portfolio and market risks to maintain the institution’s 
financial stability and maximize returns in line with our 
strategy and risk appetite.

Capitalizing on volatile markets

Despite challenging markets, Treasury capitalized 
on opportunities arising from interest rate volatility, 
diversifying into different asset classes and geographies. 

Among the initiatives undertaken in 2023 was our 
customer outreach program where our emphasis on 
cross-selling Treasury products resulted in  
noteworthy success. 

We also achieved pleasing results from expanding the sales 
teams in the regional areas and improving their skills and 
knowledge to improve their client interactions. 

Treasury in 2024

In the coming year, Treasury intends to 
further expand cutting-edge financial 
solutions for our clients following our recent 
technology upgrades. We will also continue 
diversifying our growing investment portfolio. 

As part of our commitment to sustainable 
returns, the Treasury governance framework 
will be strengthened by the incorporation 
of Environmental, Social and Governance 
(ESG) factors into practices and investment 
decision-making.
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Digital 
transformation 
and technology

Revolutionizing the future 
of banking, anb’s digital 
transformation journey:

The birth of the digital office

In 2021, anb set up its digital office (DO), a 
center for innovation and digital progress. 
Since then, we have continued to expand 
and strengthen our digital capabilities 
through groundbreaking initiatives. Thanks 
to the relentless commitment at all levels of 
the Bank, the DO is harnessing the power of 
digitalization to improve the anb customer 
experience and optimize internal banking 
functions.

Unveiling the future: 2023 initiatives

In 2023, the DO created a new digital landscape with a number 
of exciting and thrilling initiatives. The DO was able to expand 
anb’s digital product portfolio and the full range of products 
across retail, SME, wholesale, global transaction banking, 
trading platforms and payments, with a focus on developing 
omnichannel customer experiences. The DO team was able 
to harness the power of collaboration by partnering with 
leading fintech companies and developing best-in-class user 
interfaces and new customer experiences. These initiatives are 
paving the way for integrated services that enable customers 
to access a wide range of solutions through our anb mobile 
app, from digital account opening to savings and investment 
options, digitized financing solutions and online payment 
channels. The evolving needs of our customers are always at 
the forefront of our digital banking services.

A resounding success: the mobile 
banking app

In 2023, the DO achieved exceptional results with the 
high-profile launch of our new digital apps and our 
innovative banking offering. The market response was 
overwhelming: more than 80% of new retail accounts 
were opened via our digital channels. Customers 
have embraced the seamless interface and simplified 
customer journey introduced in the same year, resulting 
in a significant increase in new customer acquisition and 
unprecedented revenue convergence in anb’s history 
through digital and mobile applications for credit cards 
and personal finance via the anb mobile app.
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A comprehensive  
digital strategy

Looking to the future, the DO has developed 
a comprehensive digital strategy that 
addresses the goals for the next 5 years and 
targets new digital revenue growth to be 
realized. Our strategy focuses on improving 
digital offerings across all channels, 
driving customer loyalty and attracting 
new customers. With expertise, flexibility, 
innovative digital solutions and enhanced 
digital business models as our guiding 
principles, we will revolutionize the digital 
banking ecosystem and meet the needs of 
retail, wholesale and investment customers.

At anb, we are reimagining the future of banking each day, making 
our operations more efficient, our people more productive and our 
customers more empowered. This year, there has been significant 
progress in accelerating our digital transformation, building a solid 
foundation for the future while applying technologies and expertise 
to deliver tangible progress. 

80%+
new retail accounts 
were opened via our 
digital channels

Unleashing the power of 
partnerships: anb connect

To further enhance our offering, we have 
developed a compelling value proposition 
and operating model for anb connect, 
our Open Banking channel. anb connect 
facilitates partnerships with financial 
companies and fintech’s through API banking 
interfaces and switches, fostering innovation 
and expanding the horizons of financial 
services. In addition, we launched Cashee 
as the first digital engagement in the local 
market, providing a platform for financial 
education and a savings account tailored 
for children and young customers that 
encourages saving habits amongst the youth.

Aligning with Vision 2030

At anb, we embrace Vision 2023 as our guiding principle for 
the development of the financial sector. Our commitment 
lies in providing unparalleled digital products and services, 
fostering a culture of savings, facilitating access to financing 
and investment opportunities and supporting income 
diversification through our modern digital channels. With the 
largest market share among all banks and financial sectors 
in promoting startups, fintech’s and Banking as a Service 
(BaaS), our primary objective is to prioritize the preferred 
and simplest banking infrastructure as a main service. This 
enables the financial sector to offer Open Banking and 
embedded financial services within the framework of SAMA 
regulations, all while meeting the market demand for new 
innovative banking solutions.
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Embracing innovation and 
cutting-edge technologies

Innovative banking experience: 
relaunched a state-of-the-art mobile 
banking application with a new look, 
complemented by inventive financial 
products like micro-lending and 
overdraft facilities.

Open Banking leadership: 
maintained our dominance in the Open 
Banking realm with SAMA Open Banking 
certification and streamlined fintech 
integration via anb connect, setting a 
benchmark in accessibility and fintech 
enablement.

In 2023, anb’s Technology Group delivered 
significant advances for the business, with a 
focus on digital and technological leadership, 
driven by customer-first strategies. 

Our efforts in modernizing digital architecture, expanding our 
ecosystem, utilizing big data, improving operational efficiency 
and revamping digital channels, led to remarkable growth and 
innovation. Highlights for this year included:

Architectural transformation: 
achieved significant architectural 
transformation with revolutionized 
digital channels and ecosystem, 
unlocking new and dynamic 
product offerings and 
empowering future-ready 
banking ecosystem. 

Digital transformation and technology (continued)
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Data empowerment: 
elevated our strategic insight with 
cutting-edge data infrastructure 
and analytics, enabling rapid, 
informed business decisions.

IT and fraud threats fortification: 
advanced our IT framework and 
fraud detection mechanisms, 
safeguarding our operations and 
clients in alignment with SAMA’s 
fraud framework. 

Agile delivery: 
streamlined operations through 
Agile and DevOps methodologies, 
significantly boosting market 
responsiveness and customer 
satisfaction.

Collectively, this outstanding progress 
demonstrates that anb has not just embraced 
change; we have become the catalyst of it, 
setting new standards in financial services 
through innovation and strategic excellence. We 
will continue to build on this momentum and 
create increasing value for our business and 
stakeholders in the years to come.

Legacy system modernization: 
launched a transformational journey 
to upgrade our core systems with 
completion expected by Q1 2024, 
paving the way for innovation in 
digital services delivery and  
client engagement.

Modern IT infrastructure: 
executed pivotal projects 
improving, expanding and 
modernizing our IT infrastructure, 
automation, machine learning 
and traffic analysis capabilities 
which will bolster anb’s 
preparedness for future 
technological trends and  
evolving customer needs.

Workforce digitalization: 
launched new employee 
engagement capabilities, enriching 
our workplace environment and 
productivity.
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Customer experience 

In 2023, anb implemented several enhancements across the 
organization to substantially improve the relationship and experience 
our customers have at every point in their journey with the Bank. These 
far-reaching refinements and upgrades followed extensive monitoring 
and evaluation of our valued customers’ feedback across all products 
and services under our Voice of the Customer program. This vital new 
initiative embraced a holistic approach to assessing every interaction, 
from opening accounts to after-sales service, to ensure that any 
avenue for improvement is identified and pursued.

anb’s mission to provide exceptional products and service 
to our customers puts unparalleled customer experience 
at the heart of our strategy. In addition, our product and 
service development hinges on the incorporation of the 
customer’s perspective on any proposed changes.

In the previous financial year, the Bank formulated a 
vision to place the customer at the center of all major 
enhancements, pledging to become a faster and simpler 
bank. Since then, all anb’s initiatives have pivoted around 
customer experience – from engaging with the Retail 
Bank to digitalizing Bank processes, all the while creating 
memorable moments for customers. 

Using a precise methodology, the Customer Experience 
division adopted key metrics to measure our progress, 
providing a comprehensive and integrated overview of our 
customers’ interactions with the Bank. 

In 2023, the success of this strategy manifested in a 
very pleasing uplift in customer sentiment and a marked 
increase in growth. The primary focus was on our 
affluent customer segment, the housing loan and digital 
journeys. Following the early successes in these areas of 
the Bank’s operations, the customer-centered initiative 
was expanded to include all remaining touchpoints 
throughout the organization. 

Customer behavior is changing rapidly. anb is 
committed to its digital transformation as it explores 
new opportunities to meet customer demands with 
innovative solutions.

54



Overview  Strategic Review  Directors’ Report  Financial Statements

55Annual Report 2023



ESG approach 

At anb, we are committed to being a responsible corporate player and 
force for positive progress for our people, communities, environment 
and the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. 

From the highest levels of our Board of Directors and senior management to every talented and dedicated 
employee across our operations and branches, we are individually and collectively committed to doing our part, 
leveraging our resources and capabilities to stimulate meaningful change every day.

Although we are in the development stages of our Environmental, Social, and Governance (ESG) journey, we are 
integrating ESG factors into our strategy, divisions and corporate culture to create a solid foundation for increasing 
initiatives and impact in the years ahead. 

We have also defined key stakeholders across the organization, along 
with proposed meeting cadence, to effectively oversee and execute 
our ESG strategy, programs and projects. 

Launching our ESG journey

In line with our overarching commitment to enhancing 
and embedding ESG across all aspects of our business, 
we have launched a multi-faceted program to develop a 
comprehensive strategy and roadmap, which is currently 
focused on developing our framework and conducting 
internal materiality assessments at both management and 
Executive levels. 

Emphasizing corporate sustainability, our approach 
includes a blend of Human Capital and CSR initiatives 
under the social category, while our environmental efforts 

currently consist of a number of energy and resource 
saving initiatives and partnerships. In governance, we 
uphold standards through quality control and information 
security certifications, aligning with global standards like 
the SDGs and Saudi Vision 2030.

Our ESG governance structure

As part of our ESG framework, anb has developed the 
following proposed ESG governance structure, outlining 
key roles and responsibilities for effective governance of 
our ESG strategy and initiatives. 

Proposed governance structure 

Board of  
Directors

Key roles

Set anb’s ESG ambition 
and key priorities

ESG Management 
Committee 

Key roles

Monitor and oversee 
ESG progress within 
anb, ensuring execution 
of BoD’s direction

LevelLevelLevel

ESG Working  
Group

Key roles

Develop initial ESG 
framework, conduct 
current state assessment, 
manage day-to-day ESG 
initiatives and operations 

ESG Credit  
Committee 

Key roles

Define risk criteria 
and business KPIs to 
develop and offer 
ESG- compliant 
financial products 

1 2 3
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Safeguarding our natural environment

In 2023, anb demonstrated a robust commitment to environmental stewardship, deploying a series of strategic 
initiatives. These efforts reflect our deepening engagement with sustainability practices, aiming to reduce our 
ecological footprint while contributing positively to the environment. 

Our actions encompass various aspects of our operations, from infrastructural enhancements to innovative financial 
instruments, and form a part of our broader strategy to align with global environmental goals and the Saudi green 
initiative. This comprehensive approach signifies our dedication to a sustainable future and the importance we place 
on environmental responsibility in our corporate ethos.

Activities and achievements in 2023

In 2023, anb’s environmental initiatives included:

Recycling boxes

installation around the headquarters for 
waste management.

Solar-powered branches

installation and implementation of solar 
panels in 2 branches.

Green spaces

enhancing green areas around the 
headquarters and preserving local wildlife.

Saudi green initiative contribution

planting 12,000 seedlings as part of the 
Saudi green initiative.

Green bonds investment

USD 150 million invested in green bonds by 
the Treasury.

Digital transformation in retail

83% of individual account openings are 
now digital, with personal loan applications 
fully digitalized.

Our environment

Launching the Wave initiative

anb showcased its commitment to environmental 
conservation and sustainable development 
through its active involvement in the “Wave” 
initiative. A collaborative effort led by the Future 
Investment Initiative Institute and the Ministry of 
Energy, Wave is focused on the regeneration and 
sustainability of oceans, a critical component in 
maintaining global ecological and climate balance. 
It aims to support international efforts in restoring 
ocean health, preserving their sustainability, 
and ensuring their role in the global economy is 
sustained and enhanced. 

The Bank’s participation in Wave is a key 
component of its strategy to support sustainable 
initiatives that have a meaningful impact on both 
the environment and the economy. By aligning 
itself with such a significant global cause, anb 
reinforces its commitment to the preservation of 
natural resources and demonstrates its role as a 
responsible corporate citizen.
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Our society 
Supporting the success of our people, communities, and country  

Our people
anb’s Human Resources Group’s (HRG) embarked on a differentiated employee value proposition to 
attract and retain talent and motivate staff to achieve the Bank’s strategic objectives.  HRG played a 
pivotal role in accelerating employees’ embrace of its organization-wide transformation program, 
resulting in a well-equipped, resilient and agile workforce, that aims to achieve the best results, 
strengthen the Bank’s presence, and provide the easiest and fastest solutions for our valued customers. 

Enhancing our HR function

An integral element of anb’s transformation strategy 
in 2023 encompassed the alignment of employee 
performance and productivity. Accordingly, the Bank 
enhanced its performance management approach to 
empower our workforce to play an effective role in 
delivering meaningful outcomes. The Bank’s vision, mission 
and commitment to our promise provided a robust 
framework for this performance-driven approach, with 
the primary objective being to remain our customers’ 
preferred bank.

Across the Bank, HRG invested in initiatives to encourage 
our people to fully embrace our corporate culture and 
behaviors. These included reinforcing the Bank’s core 
competency and leadership frameworks and embedding 
them in performance reviews. 

anb’s leadership team plays an essential role in shaping 
and driving our organizational culture. Our leaders’ 
outstanding commitment to fostering a culture of integrity, 
teamwork and innovation in 2023 once again provided an 
admirable example for all employees to emulate.

Key achievements in 2023

Leadership and talent development are key strategic 
priorities for the Bank. Consequently, a comprehensive 
Assessment Center project was launched to provide 
HRG with oversight on all functions and provide talent 
identification and development. The new center uses a 
structured process to identify future leaders and provide 
them with tailored learning to develop and accelerate 
their growth and impact in the Bank. During the 2023 year, 
3,355 employees from all job functions participated in 283 
assessment sessions. 

 

Total employees

3,786

Female employees

850 (23%)

New hires

654

Training hours

289,491

Saudization

96.43% 

ESG approach (continued)
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In a competitive, regulated and highly complex industry, 
building the skills and competencies of all employees is 
an ongoing, essential business imperative. In 2023, the 
Bank delivered 289,491 hours of training to develop the 
expertise of our staff. 

This exceptional investment in our people included 
technical training, leadership development, and new 
compliance learning, and was geared to ensuring that our 
teams remain agile and well-prepared for the challenges 
and opportunities in the financial services industry.

Aligned to improving performance by raising skills and 
competencies is delivering the right environment and 
motivation to optimize employee experience. In the year 
under review, we continued to enhance our policies to 
make the workplace more attractive and distinctive for our 
people. With their well-being an important objective, the 
Bank implemented a comprehensive suite of programs, 
activities and benefits that were designed to safeguard 
the physical and mental health of our workforce. These 
include wellness programs, mental health resources and 
work-life balance initiatives.

HRG rolled out a number of initiatives over the year to 
improve organizational effectiveness. These included 
reviews to streamline the Bank’s structure, capacity 
planning to ensure headcount optimization and a 
comprehensive job evaluation exercise. Additionally, 
the Bank revamped salary structures and completed 
the implementation of the Saudi Central Bank’s (SAMA) 
mandatory new remuneration rules.

New initiatives for employee retention

The Bank’s ability to deliver superior and unparalleled 
customer service is linked to the engagement and 
satisfaction of our dedicated and enthusiastic employees. 
To this end, the Bank established a dedicated Employee 
Experience team in 2023 to create a positive and enriching 
work environment by focusing on employee engagement, 
recognition programs, internal communication and 
building a culture that fosters collaboration and innovation.

In addition, the Bank undertook several reward activities in 
2023, including a total remuneration review exercise and 
a revamp of allowances as part of our strategy to retain 
the best talent and reward outstanding performance and 
productivity. Our retention approach was enhanced by a 
decision to support employees embarking on a Master’s 
degree program by funding 75% of their tuition fees, 
capped at SAR 100,000. anb once again demonstrated its 
market-leading credentials by being the only Saudi bank to 
offer such a benefit.

Diversity building innovation for  
business outcomes

At the end of 2023, the Bank’s total workforce was 3786 
individuals whose varying backgrounds enrich our ability to 
serve our customers effectively. We believe that diversity 
and inclusivity lead to stronger business and customer 
outcomes. To this end, anb remains steadfastly committed 
to promoting diversity and inclusion in our organization 
by embedding them into our recruitment practices 
and employee resource groups and providing equal 
opportunities to all staff members.  

Diversity is also essential for innovation, which is a core 
business prerequisite as Saudi Arabia’s banking industry 
undergoes rapid digital innovation. HRG is the lead 
sponsor of innovation within the Bank, spearheading its 
‘’anb beyond’’ program in 2023 to host hackathons for our 
employees to participate in competitive think tanks that 
foster no-limits innovation. Our objective is to develop 
novel solutions to internal challenges, and the Bank has 
already started implementing some of the winning ideas.  

Looking forward

In the year ahead, anb is determined to fulfill its 
commitment to investing in a digitally savvy workforce that 
will promote innovation. Our ongoing pledge to attract top 
talent is matched by expanding our training initiatives and 
empowering our employees to reach their full potential. 

Our people remain central to achieving our strategic 
goals and advancing our competitive edge in the ever-
evolving banking industry. We are extremely proud of their 
achievements, and we extend our sincere gratitude to 
each one for their commitment and contribution to our 
continuing success in delivering our brand promise.
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Our communities and country 
anb is focused on developing a groundbreaking banking experience that mirrors the values of our society and 
supports the Kingdom’s comprehensive development strategy. Our efforts in partnerships and initiatives are 
centered on driving economic growth, enhancing community welfare, and improving lives across Saudi Arabia, 
all in alignment with the objectives of Vision 2030.

We have developed a Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) strategy to organize and elevate our diverse CSR initiatives 
and activities from their traditional framework to a more effective system that aligns with institutional standards and 
can be measured and continually improved. As part of this strategy, we have established 5 CSR pillars representing the 
foundation of selecting the social initiatives in line with its strategy:

ESG approach (continued)

Sustainability

initiatives with a 
sustainable impact.

Innovation 

embrace and drive 
technological 
advancements and 
creative solutions  
in banking.

Empowerment 
and development

foster personal and 
professional growth 
among employees 
and communities.

Partnership 

build strong, collaborative 
relationships with various 
stakeholders to enhance 
societal progress.

Meaningful impact 

make a significant, 
positive difference in 
the communities and 
environments.
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Activities and achievements in 2023

Supporting the success of family businesses 

anb launched this initiative in partnership with various 
Saudi government entities, with the aim of training and 
qualifying 100 productive families across the Kingdom. The 
initiative reflected our dedication to community welfare 
and aligned with the goals of Saudi Vision 2030, focusing 
on improving living standards, empowering women, and 
addressing female unemployment.

The program was designed to support family businesses 
by making them sustainable and scalable. It offers practical 
training in economic feasibility, professional business 
transformation, and online marketing. Participants also 
gained fruitful insights into technology investment and 
business establishment, and learned about successful 
business models.

Upon completion, participants received certificates 
and benefited from marketing support through social 
media, boosting the exposure and sales potential of their 
projects. This not only enhanced individual success, but 
also contributed to the overall economic growth of the 
community.

Giving Renews their Hope initiative 

In commemoration of Saudi Arabia’s 93rd National Day, 
anb renewed its national initiative, “Our Giving Renews 
their Hope”, Collaborating with King Salman Hospital 
and the Rheumatism Association, we financed 93 knee 
joint replacement surgeries, focusing on patients with 
rheumatism and joint stiffness, particularly those on 
waiting lists, while adhering to established medical policies.

This was inspired by the positive impact on patients’ 
mobility and quality of life, underscoring our ongoing 
commitment to community well-being, and reflecting our 
dedication to supporting the Kingdom’s health through 
each renewed effort.

Assisting the Guests of Rahman initiative 

anb launched a noble mission, bringing together the 
National Center for Social Responsibility, the Ministry 
of Hajj, and various government entities. This joint 
effort aimed to enrich the Hajj experience by offering 
a spectrum of services to 115,000 pilgrims, including 
services like health and medical aid, first aid, multilingual 
translation, guidance, counseling, and logistical assistance.

It included a volunteer campaign with 650 qualified 
Saudi youths who actively assisted pilgrims throughout 
Hajj. Beyond facilitating the pilgrims’ experience, 
the initiative also set a benchmark for community 
volunteering, demonstrating a model of cooperation. anb’s 
involvement in this initiative reflected its commitment to 
social responsibility, emphasizing its role in supporting 
community initiatives and fostering a spirit of volunteerism 
among Saudi youth. The Bank also distributed more than 
60,000 umbrellas to the pilgrims across all holy sites.

Rahab community project

The Rahab community project is a groundbreaking 
initiative developed by anb and the Ministry of Municipal 
and Rural Affairs and Housing to construct 100 housing 
units for the neediest families across Saudi Arabia. With 
anb’s support, Mawa for Social Services has implemented 
the project, which is aligned with the objectives of the 
Kingdom’s Development Housing program. 

The initiative represented a synergistic collaboration 
between the government, the private sector, and non-
profit organizations, dedicated to improving standards of 
living, and aligning with Vision 2030 goals. anb was a proud 
participant, reflecting the Bank’s commitment to social 
development and supporting the sustainable growth of 
the non-profit sector in the Kingdom. 

Rahab 
community 
project
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Report of the Board of Directors of the arab national bank
For the fiscal year ended 31 December 2023

To: The Shareholders of arab national bank

The Board of Directors (the Board) is pleased to submit arab 

national bank’s Annual Report for the financial year ended 31 

December 2023.

Introduction
arab national bank (the Bank or anb), a Saudi joint stock 

company, was incorporated pursuant to Royal Decree No. 

M/38 dated 18 Rajab1399H (corresponding to 13 June 1979). 

The Bank commenced business on 2 February 1980 by taking 

over the operations of Arab Bank Limited in the Kingdom 

of Saudi Arabia. The Bank operates under the unified No. 

7000018007 and commercial registration No. 1010027912 

dated 1 Rabi Al-Awwal 1400H (corresponding to 19 January 

1980) and is subject to the supervision and control of the 

Saudi Central Bank under license number 4017/M/A/254 

through its network of branches, comprising of 127 branches 

and 59 remittance centers in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia 

and one branch in the United Kingdom. 

The Bank’s head office is located in Riyadh - Kingdom of 

Saudi Arabia and its national address is:

7317 King Faisal Road, Al Murabba, Unit “1” , Riyadh 12613 – 

3536, P.O. Box 65921 – Riyadh 11546

The objectives of the Bank are to provide a full range of 

banking services. The Bank also provides its customers non-

commission based banking products which are approved 

and supervised by an independent Sharia Board established 

by the Bank. 

Financial Results
Net profit after zakat and income tax attributable to equity 

holders of the Bank for the year 2023 amounted to SAR 

4,071 million compared to SAR 3,070 million last year, an 

increase of 32.6%. Earnings per share amounted to SAR 2.71 

from SAR 2.05 in 2022.

Net special commission income increased by 26.6% to 

reach SAR 7,137 million compared to SAR 5,636 million in the 

previous year, while fees and commission income increased 

by 16.6% to reach SAR 637 million from SAR 546 million in 

2022. In 2023, the Bank also achieved profits from the sale 

of bonds listed at fair value through other comprehensive 

income in the amount of SAR 156 million, resulting mainly 

from the sale of government bonds and cession of its related 

hedging. Thus, total operating income increased by 24.8% to 

reach SAR 8,567 million in the current fiscal year from SAR 

6,862 million in 2022.

Operating expenses before provisions amounted to SAR 

2,848 million compared to SAR 2,458 million in 2022, an 

increase of 15.9%. The Bank assigned a provision charge 

for credit losses of SAR 670 million compared to SAR 880 

million in 2022, a decrease of 23.8%, and the coverage ratio 

of the non-performing loans portfolio reached 145% as 

of 31 December 2023. The Bank also recorded a provision 

for the decrease in the value of an acquired property from 

a customer in the amount of SAR 322 million during the 

current year.

The Bank’s loan portfolio amounted at year-end to SAR 

152,235 million compared to SAR 143,829 million in 2022, an 

increase of 5.8%; while its investment portfolio increased 

to SAR 46,676 million from SAR 41,018 million in 2022, an 

increase of 13.8%.

The Bank’s total assets and customer deposits as of 31 

December 2023 amounted to SAR 220,683 million and 

SAR 165,861 million, respectively. Equity attributable to 

equity holders of the Bank amounted to SAR 35,069 million 

compared to SAR 32,334  million in 2022, an increase of 

8.5%.  
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Financial Highlights

Geographical Analysis of Revenues

SAR millions

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019

Loans and advances, net 152,235 143,829 126,674 113,363 118,837

Investments, net 46,676 41,018 44,168 43,775 38,038

Customers’ deposits 165,861 154,871 135,714 129,352 142,129

Equity attributable to equity holders of the Bank 35,069 32,334 31,101 29,734 28,308

Total assets 220,683 212,628 192,502 180,396 183,442

Total liabilities 185,585 180,270 161,374 150,630 155,099

Total operating income 8,567 6,862 5,765 5,824 6,733

Total operating expenses 3,840 3,338 3,236 3,317 3,192

Net income after zakat and income tax attributable to 
equity holders of the Bank

4,071 3,070 2,177 2,072 3,023

The Group’s revenues are earned mainly through its activities in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and are distributed as follows:

SAR ‘000s

Central Region* 5,429,322

Western Region 1,754,236

Eastern Region 1,383,551

Total 8,567,109

* Includes London branch revenues (not disclosed separately due to being immaterial to the Bank as a whole).
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Report of the Board of Directors of the arab national bank
For the fiscal year ended 31 December 2023

Subsidiaries and Associates

anb capital
anb capital (anbc) is a closed joint stock company wholly owned 

by the Bank, registered in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia under 

commercial registration No. 1010239908 issued on 26 Shawwal 

1428H (corresponding to 7 November 2007). The company’s 

authorized and issued capital is SAR 1,000 million (100 million 

shares), and its objective is to undertake and manage the 

Bank’s investment services and asset management activities 

consisting of dealing, managing, arranging, advising and custody 

of securities regulated by the Capital Market Authority (CMA). 

The subsidiary commenced operations on 3 Muharam 1429H 

(corresponding to 12 January 2008). On 19 Muharram 1436H 

(corresponding to 12 November 2014), the subsidiary changed 

its legal structure from a limited liability company to a closed 

joint stock company. The objective of the subsidiary was 

amended and approved by the CMA on 28 Muharram 1437H 

(corresponding to 10 November 2015) through a resolution 

No.  S/1/6/14832/15 to include dealing as a principal activity. 

The objective of the subsidiary was further amended on 26 

Sha’ban 1437H (corresponding to 2 June 2016) to provide loans 

to the subsidiary’s customers to trade in shares as per the 

Saudi Central Bank’s circular No. 371000014867 dated 5 Safar 

1437H, and the CMA’s circular No. S/6/16287/15 dated 10 Rabih 

Al-Awwal 1437H. The General Assembly of ANB Capital approved 

the name change of the company from Arab National Bank 

Investment Company (ANBI) to anb capital on 28 Dhu Al-Qi`dah 

1443H (corresponding to 27 June 2022).

Arabian Heavy Equipment Leasing Company (AHEL)
An 87.5% owned subsidiary incorporated in the Kingdom of 

Saudi Arabia as a Saudi closed joint stock company under 

commercial registration No. 1010267489 issued in Riyadh on 

15 Jumada Alawwal 1430H (corresponding to 10 May 2009). 

The company’s authorized and fully paid up capital amounts 

to SAR 300 million representing 30 million shares of SAR 10 

each as of 31 December 2023. The company is engaged in 

the leasing of heavy equipment and operates in compliance 

with Sharia principles. The Bank started consolidating the 

subsidiary’s financial statements effective 10 May 2009, the 

date the subsidiary started its operations. On 6 May 2014, the 

Bank increased its ownership percentage in this subsidiary from 

62.5% to 87.5%. 

Saudi Home Loan Company (SHL)   
A 40% owned associate incorporated in the Kingdom of Saudi 

Arabia as a Saudi closed joint stock company under commercial 

registration No. 1010241934. SHL’s authorized and fully paid share 

capital amounts to SAR 1,000 million representing 100 million 

shares of SAR 10 each as of 31 December 2023. The company 

started its operations during the fourth quarter of 2007 and 

the Bank’s share in the company is equity accounted. The 

company’s activities are to finance the purchase of Islamic home 

and real estate products that are fully Sharia-compliant. 

During the first quarter of 2022, the Bank offered 30% of its 

shareholding (12 million shares) as part of the Initial Public 

Offering (IPO) for a gain of SAR 36.1 million which was recognized 

as a realized gain on partial disposal of an investment in an 

associate in the consolidated statement of income.

During the second quarter of 2022, the Bank purchased 1.4 

million shares for an amount of SAR 28 million (SAR 20 per share) 

representing 1.4% of SHL’s issued capital. 

The Group continues to classify its remaining interest of 29.4% 

in the company (29,4 million shares) as an associate, as the Bank 

still exercises significant influence over SHL.  

ANB Insurance Agency
A Saudi limited liability company established during 2013 as a 

wholly owned subsidiary, registered in the Kingdom of Saudi 

Arabia under commercial registration No. 1010396423 issued 

in Riyadh dated 28 Muharram 1435H (corresponding to 1 

December 2013). The company’s capital amounted to SAR 

500,000 consisting of 50,000 parts (at a nominal value of SAR 

10 per part) as of 31 December 2022. The subsidiary obtained 

its license from the Saudi Central Bank to start its activities in 

insurance and related business on 5 Jumada Alawwal 1435H 

(corresponding to 6 March 2014).

In reference to Article No (75) of the Insurance Company 

Control Law, the company requested to cease its operations 

on 28 Dhul Qadah 1441H (corresponding to 19 July 2020). The 

request was approved by the Saudi Central Bank at 4 Rabih 

Al-Thani 1442H (corresponding to 19 November 2020). The 

same was communicated to the Ministry of Commerce. On 29 

Dhul Hijjah 1444H (corresponding to 17 July 2023), the company 

completed the closure procedures with the relevant regulatory 

authorities.

Al-Manzil Al-Mubarak Real Estate Financing Ltd.
A wholly owned subsidiary, registered in the Kingdom of 

Saudi Arabia as a limited liability company under commercial 

registration No. 1010199647 issued in Riyadh dated 18 Jumada 

Alawwal 1425H (corresponding to 6 July 2004). The company’s 

capital amounts to SAR 1 million consisting of 10,000 parts (at 
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a nominal value of SAR 100 per part) as of 31 December 2023. 

The company’s activities include engaging in the purchase of 

land and real estate, selling or renting in favor of the company, 

maintaining and managing of owners and others’ assets as 

a guarantee, and the sale and purchase of real estate for 

financing purposes as per the Saudi Central Bank’s approval No. 

361000109161 dated 10 Shaban 1436H.

anbc Business Gate Fund 
The Bank indirectly owned 25.47% of anbc Business Gate 

Fund (the Fund), which is a closed-ended private placement 

real estate investment fund launched on 25 August 2014 for 

a period of 5 years starting from the date of closure of the 

first offering on 11 January 2015. The CMA was informed of 

the offering of the Fund through letter No. 8/14//411 dated 9 

Shawwal 1435H (corresponding to 5 August 2014). The Fund’s 

activity is to acquire real estate assets, including an income 

generating real estate property located in the city of Riyadh, 

out of which the Fund receives rental and hotel operating 

income over the Fund period. The Fund’s total shareholding 

reached SAR 950 million divided into 950,000 units and 

each unit value is SAR 1,000. 

Since its launch, the Fund’s period has been extended a 

number of times. The last extension being 14 December 

2020, when the unit holders approved an extension to 31 

December 2025.

On 26 May 2021, the Fund’s total shareholding was reduced 

by an amount of SAR 375 million to reach SAR 575 million, 

instead of SAR 950 million, as it was divided into 950,000 

units, each with a value of SAR 605.

At the end of May 2021, the Bank sold half of the Group’s 

share in the Fund to other unit holders. Consequently, 

the Bank’s indirect ownership became 12.75% in the Fund 

instead of 25.47%. The Bank still has significant influence 

over the Fund; thus, the Bank continued to classify its 

investment in the Fund as an investment in an associate. 

Sara Second Real Estate Investment Fund
The Bank owns directly and indirectly 31.9% of Sara Second 

Real Estate Investment Fund (the Fund), which is a closed-

ended, Sharia-compliant, private real estate fund established 

in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and launched on 22 May 

2020 for a period of 12 years. The CMA was informed of the 

offering of the Fund on 4 June 2020. The Fund’s activity 

was to acquire the Sara Village Residential Compound, an 

income generating real estate property located in Al Khobar, 

out of which the Fund receives rental income over the 

Fund term. The Fund’s total shareholding reached SAR 1,368 

million divided to 136.8 million units of SAR 10 each. 

The Bank’s share in the Fund is equity accounted.

It is to be noted that the above-mentioned subsidiaries and 

associates’ primary businesses operate in the Kingdom of 

Saudi Arabia.

ANB Global Markets Limited
The Bank established on 3 Jumada Alawwal 1438H 

(corresponding to 31 January 2017) ANB Global Markets 

Limited, a limited liability company registered in the Cayman 

Islands, which is 100% owned by the Bank. The company’s 

capital amounts to USD 50,000 consisting of 50,000 parts 

(at a nominal value of USD 1 per part). The objective of ANB 

Global Markets Limited is to trade in derivatives and repo 

activities on behalf of the Bank.

Dividend Distribution Policy
The rules governing the Bank’s dividend distribution are as 

follows:

1. In accordance with the Saudi Central Bank’s 

requirements, a minimum of 25% of the Bank’s annual 

net income is required to be transferred to a statutory 

reserve until such reserve equals the Bank’s paid up 

capital. 

2. The Board of Directors periodically reviews and analyzes 

the Bank’s financial position, capital adequacy and 

growth projections. Accordingly, it proposes to the 

General Assembly whether to distribute dividends or not.

3. If the General Assembly decides to distribute dividends, 

they will be distributed to shareholders in proportion to 

their shareholdings held at the eligibility date as per the 

dividend announcement.

4. The Board of Directors may also decide to distribute 

interim dividends based on the Bank’s financial situation. 

5. Non-distributed earnings are transferred to the next year 

or to the general reserve.
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The Board proposed to distribute 2023 net income as follows:

SAR ‘000s

2023  net income – after zakat and income tax 4,070,510

Retained earnings from previous years* 6,832,670

Total 10,903,180

Distributed as follows:

Transferred to statutory reserve (1,018,000)

Total interim dividends (for the first half of 2023 at a rate of 22.1% of net income)** (900,359)

Retained earnings for 2024 8,984,821

* Net of gain on derecognition of FVOCI equity investments.
** On 6 February 2024, the Board of Directors approved to pay cash dividends of SAR 1,050 million for the second half of 2023 after deducting zakat. The 
proposed final dividends resulted in a net payment of SAR 0.70 per share to Saudi shareholders. The income tax liability of the foreign shareholders for the 
current and prior period (if any) will be deducted from their dividend share. This final dividend will be distributed on 25 February 2024; accordingly, the total 
interim and final dividends for 2023 will be 45.6% of the net income of the year 2023.

Future Strategic Plans
anb embarked on an ambitious Five-year strategy in 2022 

by laying the foundation for its future transformation 

and business sustainability. The strategy is focused on 

positioning the Bank as a leading player in the market 

with a focus on sustainable growth and enhancement of 

profitability across the key business segments. 

Wholesale Banking – Becoming the Bank of 
Choice for large and mid-sized corporates:
anb aims to differentiate itself in the Wholesale Banking 

segment by enhancing its service offerings and becoming 

the chosen banking partner for the leading corporations 

in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, in addition to supporting 

and leveraging the opportunities driven by the Kingdom’s 

transformation as part of Vision 2030.

Corporate and Commercial Banking: 
Focusing on sustainable growth through leading and 

participating in project and structured finance solutions, as 

well as bolstering anb’s position as a key financial partner by 

offering bespoke transaction banking, liquidity management 

solutions and capital market products in collaboration 

with anb capital. In addition to the activation of the newly 

established Vision Realization Division, which will support 

the Bank in its collaborations with Vision 2030 initiatives by 

offering tailored solutions. 

Micro, Small & Medium Enterprises (MSME) 
Banking: 
Maintaining anb’s strong position as a supporter of this 

crucial segment, by partnering with Monshaat and the 

Kafalah program. Enhancing product offerings and services 

by providing new innovative lending, transaction banking 

and advisory products.

Finally, with the growth of fintech players in the Kingdom of 

Saudi Arabia, anb will continue to focus on enhancing the 

infrastructure and API capabilities to maintain its market-

leading position.

Retail Banking – Bank of Choice for affluent 
customers:
As part of the Five-year strategy, anb aims to capitalize on 

the Kingdom’s growing retail banking opportunities, driven 

by the socioeconomic development taking place across the 

country. Therefore, Retail Banking is gearing itself toward 

enhancing its affluent customer segment and providing 

tailored offerings. The Bank will enhance and expand 

its product offerings in-line with clients’ needs. This will 

include tailored mortgage propositions, introducing new 

credit card products, enhancing personal finance products 

and growing the auto leasing portfolio. Furthermore, in-line 

with the Kingdom’s Vision 2030 initiative to support financial 

literacy and savings, anb is expanding its savings products, 

including current accounts, call accounts and time deposits, 

in addition to collaborating with anb capital to offer bespoke 

brokerage and investment solutions for the various client 

segments.  Finally, in line with the updated brand, optimizing 

the branch network to improve customer satisfaction and 

enhance operational efficiency is a key focus area.

Treasury – Diversifying revenue streams to 
support growth:
Treasury aims to diversify its income sources by expanding 

its product offerings and increasing cross-selling with 
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Wholesale and Private Banking to enhance existing 

relationships. In addition, Treasury will continue to cater 

to the expected balance sheet growth in the business 

segments and ensure the Bank’s healthy capital position is 

maintained.

In order for the Bank to achieve its business targets, anb’s 

Five-year strategy identified the key enablers, with the 

following highlights:

 

 Digital – Becoming digital first:
anb established the Digital Office to drive digital 

transformation across the Bank and support the business 

lines to be at the forefront of innovation. This includes 

launching and enhancing digital channels in Retail Banking 

to offer end-to-end digital customer journeys across all 

products and services, in addition to improving efficiency 

in Retail Banking client services and operations to grow 

satisfaction and efficiency. Moreover, Wholesale Banking will 

develop its proprietary transaction banking solutions and 

enhance relationship management tools to enable best-in-

class services for corporate, commercial and MSME clients.

Marketing and Customer Experience – 
Enhancing customer service excellence and 
strengthening brand equity:
Following the highly successful rebrand and positive market 

reception of the new corporate identity, anb will continue 

to enhance its brand positioning across its key customer 

segments, by introducing new offerings such as strategic 

brand partnerships and a market-leading retail loyalty 

program. The Customer Experience Division was established 

to focus on enhancing and optimizing customer journeys, 

ensuring the voice of the customer is always at the forefront 

of service design, to deliver on the promise of  “faster, 

simpler banking”.

Infrastructure – Optimize its infrastructure to 
accelerate its transformation:
anb is investing in its technology infrastructure to enhance 

operational resilience and future-proof its capabilities in a 

fast-evolving banking sector. This includes the upgrade of 

the core and back-end systems to enhance the agility and 

efficiency required for digitization across all business lines. 

Human Capital – Investing in human capital to 
deliver its ambition:
anb has placed increased emphasis on human capital 

initiatives to support the Bank’s growth and position itself 

as a leading employer in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. This 

includes focusing on learning and development to enhance 

employees’ competencies in the emerging digital field. 

In addition, anb is focused on enhancing the employer 

value proposition to attract and retain the best talent, by 

introducing cultural initiatives and enhancing the flexibility 

for employees to perform their daily activities.

Principal Activities
For management purposes, the Bank is organized into the following major operating segments:

Retail Banking
Deposits, credit facilities and investment products for individuals, and the Bank's 
London branch.

Corporate Banking
Loans and advances, deposits and other credit products for corporate and institutional 
customers, and small to medium sized businesses. 

Treasury Banking
Manages the Bank’s trading and investment portfolios and its funding, liquidity, currency 
and commission rate risks.

Investment and Brokerage Services
Investment management services and asset management activities related to dealing, 
managing, arranging, advising and custody of securities.

Other
Includes income on capital and unallocated costs and assets and liabilities of Head 
Office and other supporting departments.

Transactions between business segments are reported in 

accordance with the Group’s transfer pricing system. The basis 

for determining the intersegment operating income/ (expenses) 

for the current year are consistent with the basis used for 31 

December 2022. Segment assets and liabilities mainly comprise 

of operating assets and liabilities.

The Group’s primary business is conducted in the Kingdom of 

Saudi Arabia with one international branch in London, United 

Kingdom however, the total assets, liabilities, commitments 

and results of operations of this branch are not material to the 

Group’s overall consolidated financial statements.
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The Group’s total assets and liabilities as of 31 December 2023 and its total operating income, expenses and net income for 

the year then ended, by operating segments, are as follows:

2023 – SAR’ 000s
Retail 

Banking
Corporate 

Banking Treasury

Investment
and 

Brokerage
Services Other Total

Total assets 63,288,965 93,894,239 60,246,063  591,689 2,662,354 220,683,310 

Investments in associates  -    -    -    328,489  620,914  949,403 

Total liabilities 89,551,969 80,433,353 13,422,936  129,727 2,047,426 185,585,411 

Operating income/ (expenses) from 
external customers

 2,077,731  6,164,298  68,985  384,898 (128,803)  8,567,109 

Intersegment operating income/ 
(expenses)

 2,067,323 (2,990,452)  508,807  -    414,322  -   

Total operating income  4,145,054  3,173,846  577,792  384,898  285,519  8,567,109 

Of which:

Net special commission income  3,998,029  2,690,763  (69,342)  172,699  344,845  7,136,994 

ECL allowance charges and other 
provisions, net

 411,135  257,454  1,576  -    -    670,165 

Impairment charge on other real 
estate owned 

- 322,000 - - - 322,000

Depreciation and amortization  189,659  9,432  498  5,307  23,391  228,287 

Total operating expenses  2,356,993  1,251,299  165,312  128,503  (62,240)  3,839,867 

Share in earnings of associates  -    -    -    11,991  7,517  19,508 

Net income before zakat and 
income tax

 1,788,061  1,922,547  412,480  268,386  355,276  4,746,750 

Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises 
(MSMEs)
MSME relationships are managed at anb by dedicated 

business units catering for the financial services 

requirements of (i) micro and small enterprises and (ii) 

medium sized businesses. This bifurcation is necessary 

because of the different client coverage, credit underwriting 

and risk management / control models required for these 

2 segments. In view of the importance of this sector to 

the economy, a dedicated work force has been allocated 

for small and micro enterprises, this is in addition to the 

Commercial Banking department specialized to serve the 

medium-sized enterprises’ sector. This specialization in 

relationship management comes from the Bank’s keenness 

to cover and meet all the needs of these enterprises in view 

of their sizes and growth requirements.

Establishing a meaningful presence in the MSME segment 

is a key strategic priority and to this end, the Bank, over 

the past four years expanded its distribution footprint by 

establishing 13 dedicated MSME centers across the Kingdom 

covering 9 cities. anb offers its clients a range of services 

and products including borrowing services that include short 

and medium-term loans, and non-borrowing services such 

as trade services, account services, internet banking, utility 

bill payments, payroll services and merchant POS. For the 

micro and small sub-segments, the Bank offers customized 

solutions via product programs to cover a wide range of 

financing requirements along with a competitive price range.

anb is one of the leading participants of the Kafalah 

program, under the umbrella of Monshaat (the Government’s 

SME Authority) by participating with their developmental 

programs through launching new finance programs and 

awareness initiatives. anb is the first Bank to launch an 

electronic service that allows micro and small enterprises 

to apply for facilities through the Bank’s electronic gate, 

to obtain the necessary approvals and sign contracts 

electronically. In addition, the Bank is one of the most 

important supporting financing bodies in the MSME funding 

platform; being one of the leading banks to co-finance 

the collaboration with the SME Bank which commenced 

financing in 2023. The Bank was awarded the best SME 

banking in Saudi Arabia in 2024 (based on the Bank’s 
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performance during 2023) from Global Finance business 

publication.

The Bank envisages growth in 2024 to be challenging with 

increasing competition amongst financial institutions in the 

MSME segment.  The Bank will continue to focus on selective 

industry and geographic segments and endeavor to provide 

innovative and relevant research based financial services 

solutions to the selected segments.  Besides, technology 

requirements including digital solutions will be a key enabler 

in this regard. 

Building bench strength and a knowledge pool is another 

key dependency in our strategic plan.  We plan to keep 

investing in our staff strength during 2024 as training needs 

are identified at the start of the year based on competency 

gaps. Individuals are then assigned to appropriate external 

and internal programs. 

The Bank is committed to play its part in facilitating the 

Government’s initiatives to increase the GDP participation 

of the MSME segment by introducing new research based 

product propositions that meet the borrowing and non-

borrowing financial servicing needs of the segment. 

anb also remains committed to supporting the Kafalah 

program, governmental funds and entities, by partaking in 

initiatives to promote and develop the MSME segment, as 

identified by Monshaat and other government institutions.

Quantitative Disclosures 
The year-on-year growth in the MSME business, as reported periodically to the Saudi Central Bank is highlighted as follows:

As of 31 December 2023  As of 31 December 2022  

Details Micro Small Medium Total Micro Small Medium Total

Loans to MSMEs – on balance 
sheet (SAR millions)

1,083 5,188 11,324 17,595 773 4,048 10,542 15,363

Loans to MSMEs – off balance 
sheet (SAR millions)

182 1,340 4,479 6,001 114 876 2,714 3,704

On balance sheet loans to 
MSMEs as a percentage of 
total on balance sheet loans

0.70% 3.33% 7.28% 11.31% 0.52% 2.74% 7.14% 10.40%

Off balance sheet loans to 
MSMEs  as a percentage of 
total off  balance sheet loans

0.48% 3.53% 11.79% 15.80% 0.43% 3.31% 10.26% 14.00%

Number of loans (on and off-
balance sheet)

2,332 6,592 3,575 12,499 2,214 6,854 3,235 12,303

Number of customers (on 
and off balance sheet)

1,489 2,659 642 4,790 1,158 2,009 496 3,663

Number of loans guaranteed 
by Kafalah program (on and 
off balance sheet)

1,204 1,886 103 3,193 1,331 2,088 117 3,536

Amount  of loans guaranteed 
by Kafalah program (on and 
off balance sheet)  (SAR 
millions)

511 1,381 446 2,338 544 1,673 507 2,724

MSMEs training initiatives and workshops for staff and customers FY 2023

Number of man-days training provided to staff * 244

Number of man-days training provided to customers * 26

* Man-days based on 8 hours per day.
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Risks Encountered or that could Potentially 
be Encountered by the Bank

Risk Management
The recent failures in the banking sector have highlighted the 

importance of having rigorous and robust approaches to identify 

and manage emerging risks within the operating environment. 

anb’s Risk Management Group (RMG) provides an independent 

and centralized risk management function to ensure that an 

optimal balance between risk and return is achieved given 

the Bank’s strategic objectives. RMG is also responsible for 

implementing the Basel Accord’s capital and liquidity adequacy 

rules and other related requirements. RMG performs a critical 

role in ensuring that our activities are prudent and reflect the 

dynamic nature of current and emerging risk factors. 

The Bank is exposed to the following main risks:

a) Credit Risk
Credit risk is the risk that a customer or counter-party may not 

settle an obligation for full value, either when due or at any time 

thereafter. This risk arises from the potential that a customer or 

counter-party is either unwilling to perform an obligation or its 

ability to perform such an obligation is impaired, resulting in an 

economic loss to the Bank. The Bank is exposed to credit risk 

when its business units extend credit to various counterparties.

Established credit risk policies and procedures provide control 

over credit risk portfolios through periodic assessment of the 

credit worthiness of obligors, quantifying maximum permissible 

exposure to specific obligors and continuous monitoring of 

individual exposures and portfolios.

For mortgage loans, the Bank has taken insurance coverage 

from an approved insurance company providing the Bank 

effective hedging coverage against mortality, permanent 

disability and damages to property. 

b) Market Risk
Market risk is the risk that the value of the Bank’s on- and 

off-balance sheet positions will be adversely affected by 

movements in market rates or prices. Major market risk factors 

that the Bank is exposed to include interest rates (IR), foreign 

exchange (FX) rates and equity prices, which exist in both the 

trading book and the banking book and could result in losses to 

earnings and capital.

Liquidity risk could be of 2 types: funding liquidity risk and 

market liquidity risk. The former is the risk that the Bank will 

not be able to efficiently meet both, expected and unexpected, 

current and future cash flows and collateral needs, without 

affecting either daily operations or the financial position of the 

Bank. The latter refers to the risk that the Bank cannot easily 

liquidate some or all of its holdings of liquid asset reserves 

without suffering significant difficulties due to inadequate 

market depth or market disruption.

Market risk is managed by effectively implementing Board-

approved limits for all relevant market risk factors, e.g. interest 

rate risk, FX risk and equity prices in the investment portfolio. 

The Board has also established a set of limits for liquidity risk 

to ensure that adequate level of high-quality liquid assets is 

maintained to meet the Bank’s obligations under both normal 

and stressed conditions.

c) Operational Risk
Operational risk is defined as the risk of loss resulting from 

inadequate or failed internal processes, people and systems 

or from external events. This definition includes legal risk but 

excludes strategic and reputational risk.

Operational risks are inherent in the Bank’s products, activities, 

processes and systems. The Bank continually strives to reduce 

operational risks to acceptable levels. 

Operational risks are managed through established risk 

management policies and procedures including a wide range 

of sources of operational risk such as business continuity, 

information security, technology risk, Sharia non-compliance 

risk, regulatory risk and fraud risk. 

d) Regulatory and Reputational Risk
Reputational risk is the risk arising from adverse perceptions 

of the image of anb on the part of customers, counterparties, 

shareholders, investors and /or regulators and supervisory 

authorities. It is also the potential risk that negative publicity, 

whether true or not, would cause a decline in the customer 

base, entail additional costs, affect the Bank’s brand value and/

or result in revenue reductions. 

The regulatory risks are related to imposing penalties by 

regulatory and supervisory authorities resulting from non-

compliance to related regulations and instructions and resulting 

violations. Risks are managed mainly by the Bank’s Compliance 

and Anti-Money Laundering Group as an independent body, 

which is assigned to evaluate such risks and formulate the 

controls framework to mitigate such risks.

e) Digital Transformation Risk
The technology landscape has evolved in recent years due to 

the Bank’s focus on delivery of services through digital channels, 

process automation, customer migration to online channels and 

the increasing role of data analytics in management’s decision-

making and regulatory reporting.

72



Digital transformation has triggered new risks including but not 

limited to third-party risk, emerging technologies risk, fintech 

risk, data privacy risk, cloud computing risk, etc. 

Mitigation of these risks is managed by the Information 

Technology Group as well as multiple control functions within 

the Risk Management Group e.g. Technology Risk, Information 

Security Risk, Business Continuity and Operational Risk 

departments.

f) Fraud Risk 
Fraud risk refers to the risk of intentional deceit to obtain direct 

or indirect benefits by exploiting technical or documentary 

means, relationships or social means, using functional powers, 

or deliberately neglecting or exploiting weaknesses in systems 

or standards.

The rapid development of new channels, services and products 

to enhance the customers experience and align with the 

ongoing technological advancements creates new methods for 

fraudulent activities that can be exposed by fraudsters.

Fraud risks are mitigated by assessing potential fraud risks 

prior to launching any new product, service or channel, as 

well as identifying risks and implementing required controls 

post implementation through the annual bank-wide fraud risk 

assessment, and monitoring fraud incidents on a daily basis to 

identify root-cause analysis and take corrective measures when 

needed.

g) Cybersecurity Risk
Cybersecurity is the practices and measures taken to 

protect digital information and technology systems from 

unauthorized access, data breaches and other cyber threats. 

This encompasses protecting sensitive customer data, financial 

transactions and internal banking systems.

The digitization of banking services inherently introduces 

various cybersecurity risks. Online banking, mobile applications 

and cloud-based services, while offering convenience and 

efficiency, also create vulnerabilities to cyber-attacks such as 

hacking, phishing and malware.

The Bank employs various strategies to manage and mitigate 

cybersecurity risks requiring a comprehensive approach that 

includes robust security measures, ongoing risk assessment, 

employee training, legal compliance and a proactive stance 

towards evolving cyber threats. This comprehensive approach 

is essential for protecting sensitive data and maintaining the 

trust and confidence of customers in the digital banking 

environment.

Corporate Governance in the Kingdom of 
Saudi Arabia
The Bank implements all the mandatory Corporate Governance 

rules issued by the CMA. The following table stipulates the non-

implemented provisions with justification:

SN. Article No. Justification

1. Article No. 39 - paragraph (e) Guiding article, noting that the assessment is carried out internally and on an annual basis.

2. Article No. 82 - paragraph 1 Guiding article, however, partially implemented. 

3. Article No. 85 Guiding article, however, partially implemented. 

4. Article No. 86 - paragraph 3 Guiding article, disclosure is made through a Tadawul platform.

5. Article No. 92 Guiding article.

Governance Message
Rational governance, along with adherence to the rules and 

regulations in force, represents an essential element directing 

anb’s activities and operations. The Bank has instilled the 

rational management culture which ensures adherence to 

honesty and integrity, whereby the Board of Directors leads by 

example and management strives to have full commitment to 

regulations to the letter and spirit.

The Bank’s philosophy is based on following the best practice 

of corporate governance, in addition to adherence to the 

regulatory stipulations of all the countries of its operations. 

Furthermore, the Bank adheres to the Corporate Governance 

Regulations issued by the Saudi Central Bank and the Capital 

Market Authority, in addition to the Companies Law pursuant 

to Royal Decree (M/132) dated 1 Dhu Al-Hijjah1443H.

Sukuk
On 21 October 2020, the Bank issued USD 750 million, 10-year 

subordinated Tier II capital (Sukuk), callable in 5 years, carrying 

a special commission rate of 3.326%.

Share Capital
As of 31 December 2023, the authorized and fully paid share 

capital of the Bank consists of 1,500 million shares of SAR 10 

each. The ownership of the Bank’s share capital is as follows: 

Saudi and non-strategic foreign shareholders 60%

Strategic shareholder - Arab Bank PLC – Jordan 40%

On 7 February 2024, the Board of Directors recommended 

increasing the Bank’s share capital by issuing 500 million 

bonus shares with a nominal value of SAR 10 per share, by 

transferring SAR 5 billion from retained earnings, so that the 

Bank’s capital becomes SAR 20 billion (2,000 million shares 

with nominal value of SAR 10 per share), after completing the 

approvals of the regulatory authorities and issuing a decision 

to this effect from the Extraordinary General Assembly of the 

Bank’s shareholders.
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Board of Directors
The Bank’s management represented by the Chairman and 

members of the Board are keen to deliver sustainable long-

term value to shareholders. Implementation of the strategy 

set by the Board is delegated to the Managing Director, who 

is supported by the Executive Committee (that comprises 

mainly of Board Members) as well as Board committees.

The Board of Directors consists of ten members, who are 

elected by the General Assembly of the Bank’s shareholders 

for a period of three years. All members of the Board of 

Directors may be reappointed. When nominating members, 

professional skills, financial experience, appropriate 

qualifications and appropriate personal characteristics 

are taken into account, as well as a high degree of good 

reputation, integrity, competence, responsibility and the 

ability to carry out the duties and responsibilities as a 

member of the Board of Directors. Therefore, each member 

is required, before his appointment, to complete the 

suitability form issued by the Saudi Central Bank, where the 

Bank obtains a non-objection from the Saudi Central Bank 

to ensure integrity and suitability.

The Board has a clearly documented schedule of meetings 

and an agenda of key discussion points that include the 

agreement of strategy, budgets, major capital expenditures, 

policies covering treasury, credit and other business units, 

the annual internal audit plan and authority levels for 

expenditure as well as proposing dividend distributions 

and approving the appointment of general managers and 

the Head of Internal Audit. All directors have full and timely 

access to relevant information through the Board Secretary. 

They may also opt for independent professional advice, 

where needed, to discharge their responsibilities as Board 

Members. 

The Board ensures that the Bank’s organizational structure 

is effectively established to manage its business. This 

structure includes appropriate delegation of authority and 

accountability considering acceptable levels of risks. This 

is documented in the Bank’s high level control framework 

which is reviewed by the Board annually.

As of 31 December 2023, the Board consisted of the 

following members**:

Name Position

1. Mr. Salah Rashed Al-Rashed Chairman of the Board (Non-Executive)

2. Mr. Abdulmohsen Ibrahim Al-Touq Deputy Chairman of the Board (Independent) 

3. Mr. Obaid Abdullah Al-Rasheed Managing Director (Executive)

4. Mr. Hesham Abdullatif Al-Jabr Board Member (Non-Executive)

5. Dr. Mohammed Faraj Alkanani Al-Zahrani Board Member (Independent)

6. Mr. Thamer Mesfer Al-Wadai Board Member (Independent) 

7. Mr. Mohammed Abdulfattah Alghanamah Board Member (Non-Executive) 

8. Mr. Osama Khalid Alatiki * Board Member (Independent) 

9. Mrs. Randa Muhammad Al-Sadiq * Board Member (Non-Executive) 

10. Mr. Naim Rassem Al-Hussaini * Board Member (Non-Executive) 

*Membership started on 1 April 2023.
** Membership of the following ended at the end of the Board session on 31 March 2023:
- Mr. Ahmed Mohammed Al-Omran
- Mr. Nemeh Elias Sabbagh 
- Mr. Ziyad Anwar Akrouk
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Report of the Board of Directors of the arab national bank
For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2023

1 Naim Rassem Al-Hussaini 
Board Member 

3 Obaid Abdullah Al-Rasheed
Managing Director and Chief 

Executive Officer

5 Salah Rashed Al-Rashed
Chairman of the Board 

2 Mohammed Faraj Alkanani Al-Zahrani
Board Member 

4 Randa Muhammad Al-Sadiq  
Board Member 

6 Abdulmohsen Ibrahim Al-Touq  
Deputy Chairman of the Board
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9 Osama Khalid Alatiki  
Board Member 

7 Hesham Abdullatif Al-Jabr
Board Member 

10 Mohammed Abdulfattah Alghanamah 
Board Member 

8 Thamer Mesfer Al-Wadai 
Board Member 
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The following is a brief description of the qualifications and experience of the Board 
Members, Board Committees and Senior Executives:

a)  Brief description of the Board Members and Board Committees members’ qualifications and experience

Mr. Salah Rashed Al-Rashed Mr. Abdulmohsen Ibrahim Al-Touq Obaid Abdullah Al-Rasheed 

Position
• Chairman of the Board

• Chairman of the Executive 

Committee

• Member of the Nomination and 

Remuneration Committee 

Academic qualifications
• Bachelor’s degree in 

Engineering from Washington 

University

Practical experience
He is the Executive Manager and 
Partner at Rashid Abdulrahman  
Al-Rashid and Sons Co. He has 
wide and extensive accumulated 
experience in finance, business, 
management, commercial and 
industrial investment. He was 
a member of the Consulting 
Authority of the Supreme 
Economic Council,  Board Member 
for the Chamber of Commerce & 
Industry, a member of the Finance 
Committee and Chairman of the 
Investment Committee. He was 
also the Chairman and a member 
of many joint stock, closed and 
limited liability companies.

Position
• Deputy Chairman of the Board

• Member of the Executive 

Committee  

• Member of the Strategy 

Committee 

Academic qualifications
• Bachelor’s degree in Business 

Administration from King Saud 

University

Practical experience
He is the Chairman of the Board of 
Al Touq Company. He has extensive 
experience in management, 
real estate investment, energy, 
communication and financial 
services. He is also a member of 
the Young Presidents Organization 
(YPO) and the Youth Arab Leaders 
Organization (YAL). He is a 
Board Member at the Tourism 
Development Fund, as well as 
Chairman of the Audit Committee, 
Chairman of the Risk Committee 
and a Member of the Credit 
Committee. He serves as member 
of the Board of Directors of several 
leading companies  in the Kingdom 
of Saudi Arabia and abroad. 

Position
• Managing Director 

• Chief Executive Officer 

• Member of the Executive 

Committee

• Member of the Strategy 

Committee

Academic qualifications
• Bachelor’s degree in Business 

Administration from Saint Jose 

University in California, USA

Practical experience
He currently holds the position 
of Managing Director and CEO 
at anb. He has extensive and 
long experience in the retail 
sector, private banking, the 
public sector, medium and small 
enterprises, customer care and 
complaints handling departments. 
Furthermore, he is a member of 
the Executive Committee and 
Strategy  Committee at anb. He is 
also the Chairman of the Board of 
Arabian Heavy Equipment Leasing 
Company (a subsidiary) and Deputy 
Chairman of the Saudi Home Loan 
Company (an associate company). 
He is the Deputy Chairman of the 
Saudi Chemical Company and a 
Board Member at Doctor Sulaiman 
Al-Habib Medical Services Holding 
Group. 
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Mr. Hesham Abdullatif Al-Jabr Dr. Mohammed Faraj Alkanani 
Al-Zahrani

Mr. Thamer Mesfer Al-Wadai

Position
• Board Member 
• Chairman of the Nomination and 

Remuneration Committee
• Member of the Risk Committee
• Member of the Strategy Committee

Academic qualifications
• PHD in Financial Sciences Statistics 

from Oklahoma University in 2006  
• Master’s degree in Financial 

Sciences from Colorado University 
in Denver, USA  

• Bachelor’s degree in Financial 
Sciences from King Fahd University 
of Petroleum and Minerals 

• Chartered Financial Analyst (CFA)

Practical experience
He is the Founder and CEO of the 
Development Alliance, as well as has 
experience in various other leadership 
roles. He held several positions 
including Executive Vice President and 
General Supervisor of Endowment 
Investments for King Fahd University 
of Petroleum and Minerals. He is a 
Board Member and a member of 
auditing and investment committees of 
several listed and unlisted companies. 
He has provided consultations and 
training to Aramco, Bin Laden Group, 
Al Rajhi Endowments and the General 
Presidency of the Two Holy Mosques  
Endowments. He is also experienced 
in mergers and acquisitions for private 
companies. He serves as the Dean of 
the  College of Business Administration 
at King Fahd University of Petroleum 
and Minerals and has worked in the 
fields of executive and non-executive 
education. 

Position
• Board Member

• Member of the Nomination and 

Remuneration Committee

• Chairman of the Audit Committee 

Academic qualifications
• Master’s degree in  Business 

Administration from Yamamah 

University 

• Bachelor’s degree in Business 

Administration from Imam 

Mohammed Bin Saud University 

• Accounting Diploma from the 

Institute of Public Administration

Practical experience
He has held several positions including 
Assistant Director of Internal Control 
and Director of the Control and 
Quality Assurance Program for SAMBA 
Financial Group, Board Member at 
MetLife-AIG-ANB for Cooperative 
Insurance, Internal Audit Assistant 
Manager at Al-Inma Bank and  Alawwal 
Bank and CEO of Internal Audit for 
Alyusr Company for Ijara and Finance 
and American Express. He served as  
the General Director of the General 
Department of Internal Audit at the 
Saudi Customs Authority. Currently, 
he is the Internal Audit Executive 
Director at the Human Resources 
Development Fund.

Position
• Board Member 

• Member of the Executive 

Committee

• Member of the Strategy 

Committee  

Academic qualifications
• Management and Human 

Sciences/ (Secondary)

Practical experience
He has extensive experience in 
the fields of management, finance 
and investment. He is a Board 
Member and General Manager at 
Al-Jabr Holding Co. He previously 
served as a Board Member for 
(Natly) Company for Furniture 
and Internal Design and for KIA 
Co. Furthermore, he was a Board 
Member for the Gulf Commercial 
Bank, the United Company for 
Gas Transportation, the Advanced 
Electronic Tools Co. Ltd., the 
Saudi Chinese Business Council 
and the Saudi Chinese Friendship 
Association, amongst many 
others. He has completed many 
specialized courses in marketing, 
sales and finance, and attended 
seminars on governance. 
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Mr. Naim Rassem Al-HussainiMr. Mohammed Abdulfattah 
Alghanamah

Mrs. Randa Muhammad Al-Sadiq

Position
• Board Member

• Member of the Risk Committee

Academic qualifications
• Bachelor’s degree in Industry 

Management from King Fahd 

University of Petroleum and 

Minerals 

Practical experience
He currently holds the position of 
Deputy General Manager of Retail 
Banking and Wealth Management 
at Arab Bank PLC. He has held 
several other positions, including 
Director of Retail Banking Services 
at Arab Bank PLC, positions at 
Banque Saudi Fransi as Director of 
the  Retail Banking Group, Acting 
Director of the Retail Banking 
Group,  Director of the Retail 
Assets Sales sector, Regional 
Director of the Retail Banking 
Group in the Eastern Region, 
Director of the Business Network 
and Financial Planning Department 
- Retail Banking Group and 
General Administration and 
Director of Personnel Affairs in the 
Human Resources Department, 
as well as Director of Recruitment 
and Government Relations in  the 
Human Resources Department. He 
also served as Director of Budget 
and Financial Planning and Head 
of Bidding and Contracts at Saudi 
Telecommunications Company.

Position
• Board Member 

• Member of the Executive 

Committee

• Chairman of the Risk 

Committee

Academic qualifications
• Bachelor’s degree in 

Mathematics from King Saud 

University

• Diploma in Programming 

Practical experience
He is a Board Member of anb 
representing Arab Bank PLC, 
Jordan, and has extensive 
experience in banking. Currently 
he is Head of the Credit 
Department at Arab Bank PLC, 
Jordan. 

Position
• Board Member 

• Chairman of the Strategy 

Committee 

Academic qualifications
• Master’s degree in Banking and 

Financial Sciences from the 

American University of Beirut

• Bachelor’s degree in Business 

Administration from the 

American University of Beirut

Practical experience
She currently holds the position 
of Managing Director and Chief 
Executive Officer of Arab Bank 
PLC, Jordan. She has held several 
other positions including General 
Manager of the International 
Banking Group at the National 
Bank of Kuwait - Kuwait, Managing 
Director and Executive Director 
of the Treasury Department, 
and Director of Current Assets 
Management at the National Bank 
of Kuwait, London.
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Mr. Osama Khalid Alatiki

Position
• Board Member

• Member of the Risk Committee

Academic qualifications
• Master’s degree in 

Administration Technology  

from Wisconsin Stout in USA

• Bachelor’s degree in 

Information Systems from 

Wisconsin Stout in USA

Practical experience
He currently holds the position of 
Chief Operating Officer at Hassana 
Investment Company. He has held 
several other senior positions 
including Executive Director of 
Investor Services at JP Morgan 
Saudi Arabia and various positions 
at HSBC Saudi Arabia and the 
Saudi British Bank. 
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b) Brief description of the Audit Committee Members’ qualifications and experience

Member Academic qualifications Practical experience

Mr. Thamer Mesfer Al-Wadai • Master’s degree in Business 
Administration from Yamamah 
University  

• Bachelor’s degree in Business 
Administration from Imam 
Mohammed Bin Saud University 

• Accounting Diploma from the 
Institute of Public Administration

He held several positions including Assistant Director of 
Internal Control and Director of the Control and Quality 
Assurance Program for SAMBA Financial Group, Board 
Member at MetLife-AIG-ANB for Cooperative Insurance, 
Internal Audit Assistant Manager at Al-Inma Bank and  
Alawwal Bank, and CEO of Internal Audit for Alyusr 
Company for Ijara and Finance and American Express. 
He served as  the General Director of the General 
Department of Internal Audit at Saudi Customs Authority. 
Currently, he is the Internal Audit Executive Director at 
the Human Resources Development Fund.

Mr. Khaled Mohammed  Al-
Bawardi 

• Bachelor’s degree in Industrial 
Management from King Fahd 
University of Petroleum and 
Minerals

He has lengthy experience in the field of management, 
investment and trade. He served as Vice President of 
the Chamber of Commerce and Industry in the Eastern 
Province and served as Chairman and Board Member 
for several joint stock companies, committees and social 
events. He currently holds the position of Chairman of 
the Board for many companies including:  Al Bawardi 
Holding Group, Transports and Warehousing International 
Ltd. Co., Eastern Gate for Logistics Services Company 
Ltd., Almasadir Construction Trading Co., The Saudi 
Development and Export Services Company Ltd., Binaa 
Steel Industries Company, and is a Board Member of 
many other companies.

Mr. Abdullah Sayel Alanizi • Executive Master’s degree  in 
Business Administration from 
King Fahd University of Petroleum 
and Minerals

• Bachelor’s degree in Information 
Systems from King Saud 
University 

He has extensive experience in the fields of internal 
audit, governance, risk management, fraud examination, 
information security and technology, and he currently 
holds the position of CEO of the Group Internal Audit 
Unit for Saudi Telecom Company.

Member Position Academic qualifications Practical experience

Mr. Sultan 
Suleiman Al-
Tukheim 

•  Member 
of the Risk 
Committee 
(from outside 
the Board)

• Master’s degree in Engineering 
Management from Florida Tech, USA

• Master’s degree in Information 
Systems  from King Saud University

He held several positions including: Director 
of the Information Security Department at the 
Capital Market Authority, Head of Information 
Security at the Saudi Investment Bank, and 
currently serves as a member of the Corporate 
Risk Committee at American Express Saudi Arabia 
and is the Director General of Cybersecurity and 
Data Governance at the Communications, Space 
and Technology Commission.

c) Brief description of the qualifications and experience of the Risk Committee Member from 
outside the Board
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d) Brief description of the Senior Executives’ qualifications and experience *

Name Position Academic qualifications Practical experience

Mr. Kamal 
Khodr

•  Head of Risk 
Group

• Master’s degree in Business 
Administration (with specialization 
in Finance) from the University of 
Liverpool, UK

• Bachelor’s degree in Accounting and 
Business Administration from the 
University of Richmond in London, 
UK 

• Executive Leaders Program from 
Harvard Business School

He holds the position of Head of Risk Management, 
and has extensive and diverse experience in the 
banking sector, spanning more than 25 years in risk 
management and corporate banking.  Before joining 
anb, he held leadership positions at Banque Saudi 
Fransi and Alawwal Bank. He is a member of key 
management committees at anb (Risk Committee, 
Operation Risk Committee and Assets and Liabilities 
Committee, etc.), and participates in many other 
committees.

Mr. Louai Al 
Zaher

• Head of 
Wholesale 
Banking 
Group

• Bachelor’s degree in Accounting 
from King Fahd University of 
Petroleum and Minerals

He currently holds the position of Head of the 
Wholesale Banking Group. He has proven his 
abilities in building and maintaining effective 
business strategies. He has more than 22 years’ 
experience in banking services. He is a committed 
effective team member  who possesses excellent 
communication and interpersonal skills with proven 
results in achieving goals. He participated and 
attended several courses related to the banking 
field. 

Dr. Zeyad 
Abanmay

• Head of 
Treasury 
Group

• Ph.D. in Engineering Management 
from the University of Missouri in 
Rolla, USA

• Master’s degree in Management 
Information Systems from Sangamon 
University in Springfield, USA

• Bachelor’s degree in Computer 
Science from the University of Illinois 
at Carbondale, USA

He is currently the Head of Treasury Group at anb 
and has more than 27 years of experience in the 
investment field. He served as Head of Foreign 
Investments, member of the Advisory Group at the 
Saudi Central Bank, Senior Manager of Alternative 
Investments at Samba Financial Group, and Director 
of Alternative Investments at anb.

Mr. Aiedh Al 
Zahrani

• Chief 
Operating 
Officer (COO)

• Bachelor’s degree in Information 
Systems from King Saud University 

• Many specialized certificates 
including: 
Six Sigma Black and Green Belt, and 
TOGAF Architecture 

He holds the position of Chief Operating Officer 
(COO) at anb. Before joining the Bank, he held 
several positions at Riyad Bank including Chief 
Information Officer and Deputy Vice President 
of Banking Solutions’ Support Department. He 
has more than 22 years of experience in strategic 
solutions through technological integration. He 
is a member of a number of  committees at anb 
including the Information Technology  Committee, 
Executive Management Committee, Enterprise Risk 
Committee, etc.

Mr. Saad Al 
Dughish

• Chief Financial 
Officer

• Bachelor’s degree in Accounting from 
King Saud University

• Certified Budget Management 
Professional (CMI stage 1)

He currently holds the position of Chief Financial 
Officer at anb. He has more than 20 years of 
experience during which he held several leadership 
positions in the field of financial management at Al 
Rajhi Bank and anb. He also serves as a member of 
several different management Committees at anb. 

* Brief description of the qualifications and experience of the Chief Executive Officer is included with the qualifications and experience of the Board Members.
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An Ordinary General Assembly Meeting was held on 28 March 2023 and the following are the names of the Board Members 

who attended this meeting:

1. Mr. Salah Rashed Al-Rashed Chairman of the Board

2. Mr. Abdulmohsen Ibrahim Al-Touq Deputy Chairman of the Board 

3. Mr. Obaid Abdullah Al-Rasheed Managing Director (CEO)

4. Mr. Hesham Abdullatif Al-Jabr Board Member

5. Mr. Mohammed Abdulfattah Alghanamah Board Member (by means of modern technology)

6. Dr. Mohammed Faraj Alkanani Al-Zahrani Board Member

7. Mr. Thamer Mesfer Al-Wadai Board Member

8. Mr. Nemeh Elias Sabbagh Board Member

9. Mr. Ziyad Anwar Akrouk Board Member (by means of modern technology)

Mr. Ahmed Mohammed Al-Omran gave an apology for not attending this meeting.

The Board held four regular meetings during 2023 and they were attended as follows:

Date Attendance record No. of Attendees

28 March

Salah Rashed Al-Rashed, Obaid Abdullah Al-Rasheed, Abdulmohsen Ibrahim Al-
Touq, Hesham Abdullatif Al-Jabr, Ahmed Mohammed Al-Omran, Mohammed Faraj 
Alkanani Al-Zahrani, Thamer Mesfer Al-Wadai, Nemeh Elias Sabbagh, Mohammed 
Abdulfattah Alghanamah and Ziyad Anwar Akrouk.

10

20 June

Salah Rashed Al-Rashed, Obaid Abdullah Al-Rasheed, Abdulmohsen Ibrahim Al-
Touq, Hesham Abdullatif Al-Jabr, Osama Khalid Alatiki, Mohammed Faraj Alkanani 
Al-Zahrani, Thamer Mesfer Al-Wadai, Randa Muhammad Al-Sadiq, Mohammed 
Abdulfattah Alghanamah and Naim Rassem Al-Hussaini.

10

19 September

Salah Rashed Al-Rashed, Obaid Abdullah Al-Rasheed, Abdulmohsen Ibrahim Al 
Touq, Hesham Abdullatif Al-Jabr, Osama Khalid Alatiki, Mohammed Faraj Alkanani 
Al-Zahrani, Thamer Mesfer Al-Wadai, Randa Muhammad Al-Sadiq, Mohammed 
Abdulfattah Alghanamah and Naim Rassem Al-Hussaini.

10

19 December

Salah Rashed Al-Rashed, Obaid Abdullah Al-Rasheed, Abdulmohsen Ibrahim Al-
Touq, Hesham Abdullatif Al-Jabr, Osama Khalid Alatiki, Mohammed Faraj Alkanani 
Al-Zahrani, Thamer Mesfer Al-Wadai, Randa Muhammad Al-Sadiq, Mohammed 
Abdulfattah Alghanamah and Naim Rassem Al-Hussaini.

10
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Directors who were Board Members or Managers at other companies inside or outside the 
Kingdom as of 31 December 2023 were as follows:

Director Board Member or Manager at other companies (inside / outside the Kingdom)

Mr. Salah Rashed Al-Rashed

1. Riyadh Cement Company
2. Tech Investment Company
3. Saudi Company for Electrical Works Services  
4. Care & Science Medical Co.
5. Al-Rashid Trading & Contracting Co.
6. Al-Rashid Abetong Company 
7. Gulf Complex Co.
8. Al-Rashid & Al-Omran Co.
9. Arabian Industries Company
10. Rashed Abdulrahman Alrashed & Sons Company
11. Gulf Applications Company
12. Supply Solutions for Information Technology Co.
13. Development Company for Investment, Real Estate and Tourism 
14. Financial Union House Company
15. Malathak for Real Estate Investment and Instalment Company
16. Salah Rashid Al-Rashid and Sons Co.
17. Al Awael Investment Holding Company 
18. Rashid Development Company Ltd (Rashidco) 
19. Rashid Al Rashid and Partners Company for Business and Development
20. Sanad Company for Health Care
21. Rashid Al Rashid and Partners Company for Trade Investment
22. Balance House Holding Co.
23. Rashid Al Rashid and Partners Company for Development and Real Estate 

Investment
24. Al Rashid Company for Global Unified Investment
25. Real Estate and Ammar Ltd.
26. Abhar Construction Real Estate Co.
27. Diyari Company for Real Estate Development
28. Central Warehouses Company
29. Al Murabaa Towers Company
30. Al Yamamah Medical Company 
31. Al Yamamah Company for Real Estate Investment

Mr. Abdulmohsen Ibrahim Al-Touq

1. Al-Touq Company Ltd.
2. Dar Al-Tamleek Company
3. Saudi Networkers Services Company Ltd.
4. Steel Products Co. Ltd.
5. Bayader Countryside Communication Systems
6. Ethos Ltd. Co.
7. Dan Company
8. Al Aqair Development Co.
9. Tourism Development Fund.
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Mr. Hesham Abdullatif Al-Jabr

1. Walaa Insurance Co.
2. Al Jabr Holding Company 
3. Gulf Carton Factory Co.
4. Canned Beverages Factory Co. 
5. Haier and Al-Jabr Saudi Electronics Trading Co.
6. Nama Almostaqbal Real Estate Co.
7. Khuta Alkhair Co.
8. Einas Trading Co.

Dr. Mohammed Faraj Alkanani Al-
Zahrani

1. Leejam Sports Co.
2. Saudi Real Estate Refinancing Co.
3. Dahran Techno Valley Holding Co.
4. Dahran Valley for Business Services Co.
5. Business Oasis Co. 
6. Development Alliance Co.

Mr. Thamer Mesfer Al-Wadai
1. Human Resources Development Fund
2. Alteef Medical Co.
3. Yanbu United Co.

Mr. Obaid Abdullah Al-Rasheed

1. Saudi Home Loans (SHL) 
2. Saudi Chemical Co.
3. Doctor Sulaiman Al Habib Holding Company for Medical Services
4. anb capital

Mr. Mohammed Abdulfattah 
Alghanamah

1. Arab Bank PLC (Jordan) 
2. Arab Bank PLC (Syria)  
3. International Islamic Arab Bank (Jordan)
4. AB Invest (Jordan)
5. Arab National Leasing Company (Jordan) 
6. T- Bank (Turkey)
7. Oman Arab Bank (Sultanate of Oman)

Mr. Naim Rassem Al-Hussaini
1. Arab Bank (Tunisia)
2. Jordanian Hotels and Tourism Company (Jordan Hotel)
3. International Islamic Arab Bank

Mr. Osama Khalid Alatiki 1. Hassana Investment Company

Mrs. Randa Muhammad Al-Sadiq

1. Oman Arab Bank
2. The Jordanian Company for Payment and Clearing Systems
3. Jordan Capital and Investment Fund Company
4. Jordan Capital and Investment Fund Management Company
5. Endeavor Jordan
6. Al Hussein Fund for Creativity and Excellence 
7. Association of Banks in Jordan
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Audit Committee

Member Board Member or Manager at other companies (inside / outside the Kingdom)

Mr. Thamer Mesfer Al-Wadai
1. Human Resources Development Fund
2. Alteef Medical Co.
3. Yanbu United Co.

Mr. Khaled Mohammed Al-Bawardi

1. Mohammed and Abdulrahman Alsaad Albawadi Co.
2. Attken International Company LLC  
3. Khaled M. Albawardi Holding Group
4. International Transports & Warehousing Co. Ltd. 
5. Saudi Development & Export Services Co. Ltd.  
6. Eastern Gate Logistics Services Co. Ltd. 
7. Albawardi Holding Group 
8. Almasader Alinshaeah Altijariya Company (LLC)
9. Ishraq Development Co. 
10. Binaa for Steel Industries Co.

Mr. Abdullah Sayel Alanizi 
1. Saudi Telecommunications Company 
2. Tattima Financial Company

Risk Committee Member (from outside the Board)

Member Board Member or Manager at other companies (inside / outside the Kingdom)

Mr. Sultan Suleiman Al-Tukheim
1. Communications, Space and Technology Commission
2. American Express Saudi Arabia

Principal Board Committees 
The Board formed a number of committees, of which the 

main committees with their own specific terms of reference, 

functions and current members, are as follows:   

Executive Committee 
The Executive Committee consists of the Chairman of the 

Board (Chairman) and four other Board Members, among 

them the Managing Director. The Executive Committee 

meets to manage the Bank’s business with authority 

delegated to it by the Board. This committee is responsible 

for implementing the Bank policy, monitoring business 

performance and approving large capital expenditure. 

During 2023, the Executive Committee is comprised of the 

following Board Members:

1. Mr. Salah Rashed Al-Rashed (Committee Chairman)  

2. Mr. Obaid Abdullah Al-Rasheed

3. Mr. Abdulmohsen Ibrahim Al-Touq

4. Mr. Hesham Abdullatif Al-Jabr

5. Mr. Mohammed Abdulfattah Alghanamah 
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The Executive Committee held 14 meetings during 2023, and they were attended as follows:

# Date Attendance record No. of attendees

1. 17 January
Salah Rashed Al-Rashed, Obaid Abdullah Al-Rasheed, Abdulmohsen Ibrahim Al-Touq, 
Hesham Abdullatif Al-Jabr, Mohammed Abdulfattah Alghanamah

5

2. 21 February
Salah Rashed Al-Rashed, Obaid Abdullah Al-Rasheed, Abdulmohsen Ibrahim Al-Touq, 
Hesham Abdullatif Al-Jabr, Mohammed Abdulfattah Alghanamah

5

3. 14 March
Salah Rashed Al-Rashed, Obaid Abdullah Al-Rasheed, Abdulmohsen Ibrahim Al-Touq, 
Hesham Abdullatif Al-Jabr, Mohammed Abdulfattah Alghanamah

5

4. 28 March
Salah Rashed Al-Rashed, Obaid Abdullah Al-Rasheed, Abdulmohsen Ibrahim Al-Touq, 
Hesham Abdullatif Al-Jabr, Mohammed Abdulfattah Alghanamah

5

5. 11 April
Salah Rashed Al-Rashed, Obaid Abdullah Al-Rasheed, Abdulmohsen Ibrahim Al-Touq, 
Hesham Abdullatif Al-Jabr, Mohammed Abdulfattah Alghanamah

5

6. 16 May
Salah Rashed Al-Rashed, Obaid Abdullah Al-Rasheed, Abdulmohsen Ibrahim Al-Touq, 
Hesham Abdullatif Al-Jabr, Mohammed Abdulfattah Alghanamah

5

7. 6 June
Salah Rashed Al-Rashed, Obaid Abdullah Al-Rasheed, Abdulmohsen Ibrahim Al-Touq, 
Hesham Abdullatif Al-Jabr, Mohammed Abdulfattah Alghanamah

5

8. 20 June
Salah Rashed Al-Rashed, Obaid Abdullah Al-Rasheed, Abdulmohsen Ibrahim Al-Touq, 
Hesham Abdullatif Al-Jabr, Mohammed Abdulfattah Alghanamah

5

9. 24 July
Salah Rashed Al-Rashed, Obaid Abdullah Al-Rasheed, Abdulmohsen Ibrahim Al-Touq, 
Hesham Abdullatif Al-Jabr, Mohammed Abdulfattah Alghanamah

5

10. 14 September
Salah Rashed Al-Rashed, Obaid Abdullah Al-Rasheed, Abdulmohsen Ibrahim Al-Touq, 
Hesham Abdullatif Al-Jabr, Mohammed Abdulfattah Alghanamah

5

11. 17 October
Salah Rashed Al-Rashed, Obaid Abdullah Al-Rasheed, Abdulmohsen Ibrahim Al-Touq, 
Hesham Abdullatif Al-Jabr, Mohammed Abdulfattah Alghanamah

5

12. 14 November
Salah Rashed Al-Rashed, Obaid Abdullah Al-Rasheed, Abdulmohsen Ibrahim Al-Touq, 
Mohammed Abdulfattah Alghanamah

4

13. 5 December
Salah Rashed Al-Rashed, Obaid Abdullah Al-Rasheed, Abdulmohsen Ibrahim Al-Touq, 
Hesham Abdullatif Al-Jabr, Mohammed Abdulfattah Alghanamah

5

14. 19 December
Salah Rashed Al-Rashed, Obaid Abdullah Al-Rasheed, Abdulmohsen Ibrahim Al-Touq, 
Hesham Abdullatif Al-Jabr, Mohammed Abdulfattah Alghanamah

5

Nomination and Remuneration Committee
The Nomination and Remuneration Committee is comprised 

of the following three Non-Executive Board Members: 

1. Dr. Mohammed Faraj Alkanani Al-Zahrani (Committee 

Chairman - Independent Member) 

2. Mr. Salah Rashed Al-Rashed (Non-Executive Member)

3. Mr. Thamer Mesfer Al-Wadai (Independent Member) 

The committee has the authority to review and recommend 

to the Board, for its approval, amendments to the Bank’s 

remuneration policy and practices. The committee also 

reviews the level and composition of remuneration of 

key executives and recommends a risk adjusted bonus 

pool to the Board / Executive Committee for approval. 

Furthermore, the committee determines the skills and 

capabilities required to reinforce the Board’s performance, 

and the Board authorizes the committee to review the 

Board’s structure and to evaluate its performance whenever 

needed. The committee also ensures availability of adequate 

time to enable the member to perform his duties and 

responsibilities in addition to the individual contribution 

based on an approved mechanism to identify strengths 

and weaknesses, propose remedial actions and submit the 

appropriate recommendations to the Board to achieve 

the Bank’s objectives. The committee’s functions also 

include nominating members to the Board as well as Senior 

Executives by studying their qualifications and submitting 

related recommendations to the Board.  
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The Nomination and Remuneration Committee held 3 meetings during 2023, and they were attended as follows:

# Date Attendance record No. of attendees

1. 14 March Mohammed Faraj Alkanani Al-Zahrani, Salah Rashed Al-Rashed, Thamer Mesfer Al-Wadai 3

2. 20 June Mohammed Faraj Alkanani Al-Zahrani, Salah Rashed Al-Rashed, Thamer Mesfer Al-Wadai 3

3. 19 December Mohammed Faraj Alkanani Al-Zahrani, Salah Rashed Al-Rashed, Thamer Mesfer Al-Wadai 3

Audit Committee 
At its meeting held on 28 March 2023, the Ordinary 

General Assembly formed an Audit Committee, based on a 

recommendation from the Board, comprising of the following 

members:

1. Mr. Thamer Mesfer Al-Wadai (Committee Chairman - 

Independent Board Member) 

2. Mr. Khaled Mohammed Al-Bawardi (Independent Member 

from outside the Board) 

3. Mr. Abdullah Sayel Alanizi  (Independent Member from 

outside the Board) 

The committee meets regularly with the Managing Director, 

Chief Financial Officer, Head of Internal Audit, Head of the 

Compliance and Anti-Money Laundering Group, Head of 

the Risk Management Group, external auditors and other 

members of the management team as may be required for 

discussions and deliberations. The committee also discusses 

the Annual Report with the Board of Directors at the end of 

the year. The Audit Committee assists the Board of Directors 

in reviewing the effectiveness of the Bank’s internal control 

processes, ensuring accuracy and correctness of the Bank’s 

financial statements, and closing accounts and adherence to 

the regulatory requirements and accounting standards. The 

Audit Committee also approves the annual review plans of the 

Internal Audit Division and assesses the results of their work 

and ensures the existence of control processes for proper 

implementation of the Bank’s procedures. Furthermore, the 

committee studies the reports of the Compliance and Anti-

Money Laundering Group and the Risk Management Group and 

discusses them with the concerned officials and makes relevant 

recommendations.

The Audit Committee provides a direct channel between the 

external auditors and the Board of Directors, and it ensures 

that the external audit is conducted in a thorough and effective 

manner and that the reports by the external auditors are 

properly actioned. The committee also recommends the 

appointment of external auditors and reviews their audit plans 

and the results of the work performed. The Bank complies 

with the Rules and Guidelines for Banks in Saudi Arabia for 

Organizing Audit Committees.

The Audit Committee held 10 meetings during 2023, and they were attended as follows:

# Date Attendance record No. of attendees

1. 9 February
Thamer Mesfer Al-Wadai, Khaled Mohammed Al-Bawardi, Abdulaziz Abdulmohsen 
Bin Hassan**

3

2. 27 March Thamer Mesfer Al-Wadai, Khaled Mohammed Al-Bawardi, 2

3. 25 April Thamer Mesfer Al-Wadai, Khaled Mohammed Al-Bawardi, Abdullah Sayel Alanizi 3

4. 6 June Thamer Mesfer Al-Wadai, Khaled Mohammed Al-Bawardi, Abdullah Sayel Alanizi 3

5. 20 July Thamer Mesfer Al-Wadai, Khaled Mohammed Al-Bawardi, Abdullah Sayel Alanizi 3

6. 24 July Thamer Mesfer Al-Wadai, Khaled Mohammed Al-Bawardi, Abdullah Sayel Alanizi 3

7. 17 September Thamer Mesfer Al-Wadai, Khaled Mohammed Al-Bawardi, Abdullah Sayel Alanizi 3

8. 19 October Thamer Mesfer Al-Wadai, Khaled Mohammed Al-Bawardi, Abdullah Sayel Alanizi 3

9. 13 November Thamer Mesfer Al-Wadai, Khaled Mohammed Al-Bawardi, Abdullah Sayel Alanizi 3

10. 17 December Thamer Mesfer Al-Wadai, Khaled Mohammed Al-Bawardi, Abdullah Sayel Alanizi 3

** Abdulaziz Abdulmohsen Bin Hassan submitted his resignation from the committee on 28 February 2023.
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Strategy Committee*
The Board formed a Strategy Committee comprised of the 

following Board Members: 

1. Mrs. Randa Muhammad Al-Sadiq (Committee Chairman)  

2. Mr. Abdulmohsen Ibrahim Al-Touq

3. Mr. Obaid Abdullah Al-Rasheed 

4. Mr. Hesham Abdullatif Al-Jabr

5. Dr. Mohammed Faraj Alkanani Al-Zahrani 

* The committee was formed at the beginning of the Board of Directors’ 
session on 1 April 2023.

The Strategy Committee is responsible for  strategic 

matters in general and in particular the monitoring of the 

implementation of the Strategy Plan.

The Strategy Committee oversees the strategic planning 

process on behalf of the Board of Directors and ensures the 

development, coordination, dissemination and integration 

of the Bank’s strategic plan and its compatibility with current 

conditions, taking into consideration future expectations. 

The committee also sets forth the process of strategy 

implementation and monitoring.

The Strategy Committee, in coordination with the Managing 

Director, ensures that accountabilities, decision-making 

parameters and information channels exist for effective 

implementation of the Bank’s strategy.

The Strategy Committee held one meeting during 2023, and it was attended as follows:

** Membership of Mr. Ziyad Anwar Akrouk ended at the end of the Board’s session on 31 March 2023. 

Date Attendance record No. of attendees

21 February
Ziyad Anwar Akrouk**,  Obaid Abdullah Al-Rasheed,  Abdulmohsen Ibrahim Al-Touq ,  
Hesham Abdullatif Al-Jabr, Mohammed Faraj Alkanani Al-Zahrani

5

Risk Committee
The Board formed a Risk Committee consisting of the 

following Board Members:

1. Mr. Mohammed Abdulfattah Alghanamah (Committee 

Chairman)

2. Dr. Mohammed Faraj Alkanani Al-Zahrani

3. Mr. Naim Rassem Al-Hussaini

4. Mr. Osama Khalid Alatiki

5. Mr. Sultan Suleiman Al-Tukheim 

* Membership of Mr. Ahmed Mohammed Al-Omran and Mr. Ziyad Anwar 
Akrouk ended at the end of the Board’s session on 31 March 2023. 
** Mr. Naim Rassem Al-Hussaini and Mr. Osama Khalid Alatiki joined the Risk 
Committee at the beginning of Board’s session on 1 April 2023.
*** Mr. Abdulmohsen Ibrahim Al-Touq submitted his resignation from the Risk 
Committee on 30 June 2023.
**** Mr. Sultan Suleiman Al-Tukheim joined the Risk Committee on 1 July 
2023.

Roles and responsibilities of the committee include 

developing a comprehensive risk strategy in line with the 

Bank’s nature and size of activities highlighting the Bank’s 

risk appetite. The committee ensures the implementation 

and updating of the strategy based on internal and external 

developments for Board approval, ensuring that the Bank 

has an effective risk management framework for the 

identification, measurement, monitoring and control of the 

various risks to which the Bank is exposed, e.g. credit, market 

liquidity and operational risks. 
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The Risk Committee held 4 meetings during 2023, and they were attended as follows:

# Date Attendance record No. of attendees

1. 27 March 
Mohammed Abdulfattah Alghanamah, Abdulmohsen Ibrahim Al-Touq, Ziyad 
Anwar Akrouk, Ahmed Mohammed Al-Omran, Mohammed Faraj Alkanani Al-
Zahrani

5

2. 19 June 
Mohammed Abdulfattah Alghanamah, Abdulmohsen Ibrahim Al-Touq, Naim 
Rassem Al-Hussaini, Osama Khalid Alatiki, Mohammed Faraj Alkanani Al-Zahrani 

5

3. 19 September 
Mohammed Abdulfattah Alghanamah, Naim Rassem Al-Hussaini, Osama Khalid 
Alatiki, Mohammed Faraj Alkanani Al-Zahrani, Sultan Suleiman Al-Tukheim

5

4. 18 December 
Mohammed Abdulfattah Alghanamah, Naim Rassem Al-Hussaini, Osama 
Khalid Alatiki, Mohammed Faraj Alkanani Al-Zahrani, Sultan Suleiman Al-Tukheim

5

Interests of Board Members, Senior Executives, their wives and children

1. Major Shareholders: 

Name

At beginning of year
 1 January 2023

Change during  
the year

At end of year
31 December 2023

Number of 
shares

Ownership 
%

Number 
of shares 

Change
 %

Number of 
shares

Ownership
 %

Arab Bank PLC 600,000,000 40.00 - - 600,000,000 40.00

Rashed Abdul Rahman  
Al-Rashed and Sons Co.

149,528,145 9.97 - - 149,528,145 9.97

Al-Jabr Investment Co. 84,813,142 5.65 - - 84,813,142 5.65

Name

At beginning of year
 1 January 2023

Change during  
the year

At end of year
31 December 2023

Number of 
shares

Ownership 
%

Number 
of shares 

Change
 %

Number of 
shares

Ownership
 %

Mr. Salah Rashed Al-Rashed 6,000 0.0004 - - 6,000 0.0004

Mr. Abdulmohsen Ibrahim 
Al-Touq

300 0.00002 - - 300 0.00002

Mr. Hesham Abdullatif  
Al-Jabr

18,021 0.0012 - - 18,021 0.0012

Mr. Obaid Abdullah  
Al-Rasheed

114,750 0.0076 54,700 47.67 169,450 0.011

2. Board Members, Senior Executives, their wives and children:

Note: Board Member shares include those held by their wives and children.
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Bank’s requests for the Shareholders’ Register and the dates of such requests:

Date  of request Reason for request No. of requests

1 January 2023 File for report and control 1

1 February 2023 File for report and control 1

21 February 2023 File for report and control 1

28 February 2023 File for report and control 1

27 March 2023 File for dividend distribution 1

27 March 2023 File for General Assembly 1

30 April 2023 File for report and control 1

31 May 2023 File for report and control 1

2 July 2023 File for report and control 1

31 July 2023 File for dividend distribution 2

2 August 2023 File for report and control 1

3 September 2023 File for report and control 1

2 October 2023 File for report and control 1

1 November 2023 File for report and control 1

3 December 2023 File for report and control 1

31 December 2023 File for report and control 1

Total 17

Remunerations of  Board Members, related 
Committees and Senior Executives
The Bank adopted a remunerations policy (recommended by 

the Nomination and Remuneration Committee), approved by 

the Board, which includes effective governance principles, 

sound remuneration practices, remuneration standards, 

determining the scope of implementation, factors for 

determining the allocation and distribution at group level 

and at the individual level and weighting the allocation 

to risks. The Bank is committed to applying this policy 

upon payment of remunerations with consideration to a 

number of practical facts that meet the Bank’s interests, 

such as the Bank’s achieved financial results and extent of 

sustainable growth, the Bank’s non-financial  performance 

of the different business units, extent of achieving the 

Bank’s strategic objectives, application of a system for 

calculation of risk adjusted income, and evaluating the 

performance of management executives on the Bank’s 

long-term performance. The Bank strives to achieve the risk 

adjusted income on one hand, and to maintain competent 

staff (vulnerable for attraction) on the other hand, with 

consideration to last years’ remunerations and to the 

fact that employees’ contracts do not include any future 

guaranteed remunerations. 
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a) Board Members’ remunerations
The Board approves the level of the remunerations of the Chairman and Board Members, in accordance with a mechanism 

that takes into account the Saudi Central Bank’s instructions (which states maximum and minimum remunerations for the 

Board), considering the performance of each member during the year. As per the policy stated above, the total annual 

remunerations paid to the Board Members are detailed as follows:

Fixed remunerations - 2023 Variable remunerations -2023
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First:
Independent Members

Abdulmohsen Ibrahim Al- 
Touq

400 20 85 - - - 505 - - - - - - 500 -

Mohammed Faraj Alkanani 
Al-Zahrani

400 20 40 - - - 460 - - - - - - 460 8 

Thamer Mesfer Al-Wadai* 700 20 65 - - - 785 - - - - - - 785 -

Osama Khalid  Alatiki 300 15 15 - - - 330 - - - - - - 330 -

Second:
Non-Executive Members

Salah Rashed Al-Rashed 500 20 85 - - - 605 - - - - - - 605 -

Hesham Abdullatif Al-Jabr 400 20 70 - - - 490 - - - - - - 490 -

Ahmed Mohammed Al-Omran 100 5 5 - - - 110 - - - - - - 110 -

Mohammed Abdulfattah 
Alghanamah

400 20 90 - - - 510 - - - - - - 500 83

Nemeh Elias Sabbagh 100 5 - - - - 105 - - - - - - 105 18

Ziyad Anwar Akrouk 100 5 10 - - - 115 - - - - - - 115 60

Randa Muhammad Al-Sadiq 300 15 - - - - 315 - - - - - - 315 16

Naim Rassem Al-Hussaini 300 15 15 - - - 330 - - - - - - 330 20

Third: 
Executive Member

Obaid Abdullah Al-Rasheed 400 20 75 - - - 495 - - - - - - 495 -

Total 4,400 200 555 - - - 5,155 - - - - - - 5,140 205

* Including Audit Committee membership remuneration and meetings’ attendance allowance in total amount of SAR 350,000.
# The total amount paid to the Board Members has been reduced to the amount specified in accordance with the regulations. 
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b) Committee Members remunerations

Executive Committee members    
Attendance allowance for the year 2023 

(SAR’000s)

Salah Rashed Al-Rashed (Chairman) 70

Obaid Abdullah Al-Rasheed 70

Abdulmohsen Ibrahim Al-Touq 70

Hesham Abdullatif Al-Jabr 65

Mohammed Abdulfattah Alghanamah 70

Total 345

Audit Committee members

Fixed remunerations 
other than attendance 
allowance (SAR’000s)

Attendance 
allowance

(SAR’000s)
Total

(SAR’000s)

Thamer Mesfer Al-Wadai (Chairman) 300 50 350

Khaled Mohammed Al-Bawardi (Independent Member 
from outside the Board) 

300 50 350

Abdullah Sayel Alanizi (Independent Member from 
outside the Board) 

225 40 265

Abdul Aziz Abdulmohsen Ben Hassan (Independent 
Member from outside the Board)** 

50 5 55

Total 875 145 1,020

**Mr. Abdul Aziz Abdulmohsen Ben Hassan submitted his resignation from the Audit Committee on 28 February 2023.

Risk Committee members
Attendance allowance for the year 2023 

(SAR’000s)

Mohammed Abdulfattah Alghanamah (Chairman) 20

Abdulmohsen Ibrahim Al-Touq 10

Ahmed Mohammed Al-Omran 5

Mohammed Faraj Alkanani Al-Zahrani 20

Osama Khalid  Alatiki 15

Naim Rassem Al-Hussaini 15

Sultan Suleiman Al-Tukheim (Independent Member from outside the 
Board) ***

85

Ziyad Anwar Akrouk 5

Total 175

*** Including membership remuneration in the amount of SAR 75,000.
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Strategy Committee members 
Attendance allowance for the year 2023

(SAR’000s)

Ziyad Anwar Akrouk (Chairman) **** 5

Abdulmohsen Ibrahim Al-Touq 5

Obaid Abdullah Al-Rasheed 5

Hesham Abdullatif Al-Jabr 5

Mohammed Faraj AlkananiAl-Zahrani 5

Total 25

**** Mr. Ziyad Anwar Akrouk’s membership ended at the end of the Board session on 31 March 2023, and a new committee was formed with the 
commencement of the Board’s session on 1 April 2023 in which Mrs. Randa Muhammad Al-Sadiq was appointed as the Chairman of the Strategy Committee.

Nomination and Remuneration Committee members
Attendance allowance for the year 2023

(SAR’000s)

Mohammed Faraj Alkanani Al-Zahrani (Chairman) 15

Salah Rashed Al-Rashed 15

Thamer Mesfer Al-Wadai 15

Total 45

c)   Senior Executives’ remunerations
Based on the recommendations of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee, the Board sets the Senior Executives’ 

remunerations to be in line with the Bank’s strategic objectives and to urge Senior Executives to achieve such objectives.

The table below shows the remunerations and benefits paid to six Senior Executives including the Chief Executive Officer 

and the Chief Financial Officer:

SAR '000s

Fixed remunerations due for 2023 Variable remunerations paid in 2023
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16,551 7,251 - 23,802 21,500 - - 3,775 - 25,275 2,069 51,146
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Internal Control Framework
Senior management is responsible for establishing and 

maintaining an adequate and effective internal control 

system for risk management within the Bank’s approved risk 

acceptance framework. The internal control system includes 

the policies, procedures and processes, which are designed 

under supervision of the Board to achieve the strategic 

objectives of the Bank and safeguard its assets and ensure all 

operations are carried out pursuant to applicable legislative and 

internal guidelines.

Management has adopted an internal controls integrated 

framework as recommended by the Saudi Central Bank 

through its guidelines on Internal Controls. Such controls also 

include the corporate governance that defines the roles and 

responsibilities of the Board and its sub-committees.

The Internal Audit Division is the third line of defense, providing 

an independent appraisal to the Board’s Audit Committee and 

the management as to the effectiveness of internal controls. 

This includes conducting independent periodical reviews for 

the activities of the Compliance and Anti-Money Laundering 

Group, to ensure regulatory compliance and conformity with 

the Bank’s approved policies and procedures.  All significant 

and material findings from the Internal Audit reviews are 

reported to the Audit Committee of the Board through 

quarterly activity reports. The Audit Committee actively 

monitors the adequacy and effectiveness of the internal control 

system to ensure that identified risks are mitigated to safeguard 

the interests of the Bank and its stakeholders.

Concerted and integrated efforts are made by all functions 

of the Bank to improve the control environment at a grass 

root level through continuous reviewing and streamlining of 

procedures to prevent and rectify any control deficiencies.  

Each function, under the supervision of the Senior Executive 

management, is entrusted with the responsibility to oversee the 

rectification of control deficiencies identified by control bodies.

The Compliance and Anti-Money Laundering Group works 

closely with the Risk Management Group and other control 

bodies, in order to establish an effective control framework 

through its duties and responsibilities under the programs 

of Compliance and Anti-Money Laundering, that sets out 

its planned activities such as the implementation and 

review of specific policies and procedures, compliance risk 

assessments, and  establishing a strong compliance culture 

among employees, and submits relevant reports to the Audit 

Committee who in turn assesses those programs and sets out 

relevant recommendations.

The Bank’s internal control system has been designed 

to provide reasonable assurances to the Board, on the 

management of risks to achieve the Bank’s strategic objectives. 

Internal control systems, no matter how effectively designed, 

have inherent limitations, and may not prevent or detect all 

control deficiencies. Moreover, the projection of current 

evaluations on the effectiveness on future periods is subject 

to a limitation that controls may become inadequate due 

to changes in conditions or compliance with policies and 

procedures.

Based on the results of the ongoing evaluation of internal 

controls carried out by the management during the year, 

the management considers that the Bank’s existing internal 

control system is adequately designed, operating effectively 

and monitored consistently. Nevertheless, the management 

continuously endeavors to enhance and further strengthen the 

internal control system of the Bank.

Based on the above, the Board of Directors has duly endorsed 

management’s evaluation of the effectiveness of the Bank’s 

internal control system.

Results of the Review on the Internal Control 
Procedures’ Effectiveness
Minutes of the Audit Committee meetings and results of its 

work in 2023 submitted to the Chairman of the Board included 

the main observations and recommendations to rectify them. 

Throughout 2023, the Committee diligently monitored the 

performance of the Internal Audit Division and other relevant 

departments, staying informed about various internal control 

procedures within the Bank. This included reviewing reports 

from Internal Audit, Risk Management Group, Compliance and 

Anti-Money Laundering Group, external audit reports, as well 

as other reports required by the Committee  from time to time 

in relation to the activity of some departments to look into 

some of the work aspects and related results. The Committee, 

in its (10) meetings during the year, engaged in discussions 

with the Bank’s Chief Executive Officer, officials from relevant 

departments, external auditors and the Chief Internal Auditor. 

These discussions centered on the contents of the reports 

and the overall performance of their respective sectors. In 

light of these interactions, the Committee concluded that 

the Bank’s internal control environment effectively reflects its 

internal control procedures. Additionally, it acknowledged the 

Bank’s ongoing commitment to continuous improvements, 

aligning with evolving business needs and anticipating future 

development. Furthermore, the committee concluded that 

other than what was indicated in the committee’s minutes 

and reports, the committee is not aware of any significant 
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comments that require disclosure. The corrective procedures 

for violations (if any) are being resolved on the spot under follow 

up and close supervision by the Internal Audit Division. 

The accounting policies applied in the Bank, as well as 

implementation of all requirements and instructions of the Saudi 

Central Bank and other regulatory bodies, are discussed with 

the heads of the concerned departments in the Bank and the 

external auditors, on a periodical basis, as well as any changes to 

the policies or the International Financial Reporting Standards 

(IFRS), to ensure proper implementation; and their impact on 

the Bank’s current and future performance results and take 

precautionary measures through appropriate procedures.

Communication with Shareholders 
Communication with shareholders is given a high priority. 

Extensive information about the Bank’s activities is provided 

in the Annual Report and the Interim Condensed Financial 

Statements, which are posted on the Bank’s web-site (www.anb.

com.sa.). Investor information is also accessible on the Bank’s 

web-site. There is a regular dialogue with institutional investors  

through different communication channels. Inquiries from 

individuals on matters relating to their shareholding and the 

Bank’s business are welcomed and are handled in an informative 

and timely manner. All shareholders are encouraged to attend 

the Annual General Meeting to discuss the progress of the Bank.

Credit Ratings
During 2023, the Bank’s credit ratings granted by prominent international credit rating agencies were as follows:

Standard & Poor's A-

Moody's A2

Fitch A-

Assignment of Interests by anb Directors / 
Senior Executives / Shareholders
The Bank is not aware of any arrangements or agreements 

whereby Directors, Senior Executives or shareholders have 

assigned interests or rights to dividends or any salary or 

remuneration.

Human Resources
The total number of staff at the end of 2023 was 4,206 

compared to 4,029 at the end of 2022. The Saudization ratio 

for the Bank and its subsidiaries at the end of 2023 was 91%.

Statutory Payments
Statutory payments during the year 2023 were as follows:

anb CSR Initiatives in 2023
Driven by the Kingdom’s ambitious Vision 2030, anb is blazing 

the trail to become a driver of sustainable development. 

Embracing its role as a strategic partner, anb fuels progress 

by weaving impactful initiatives into the very fabric of society.

This unwavering commitment is anchored in a robust 

social responsibility strategy, built upon the core of 

“institutionalized” community engagement. By adopting 

the highest standards of governance and sustainability, anb 

ensures that every initiative aligns seamlessly with Vision 

2030 and the UN Sustainable Development Goals, paving the 

way for transformative change.

To amplify this, anb shapes its community programs 

and initiatives around a set of core values: sustainability, 

empowerment, innovation, partnership and meaningful 

impact.

Guided by these principles, anb has built five distinct 

pathways for its community contributions, each mirroring 

a key pillar of national development: knowledge, health and 

social wellbeing, economy, environment and volunteerism 

and charity work.

SAR in millions

Zakat attributable to Saudi shareholders 301.9

Income tax payable by non-Saudi shareholders 369.2

GOSI 127.5

Withholding tax 57.7
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Report of the Board of Directors of the arab national bank
For the fiscal year ended 31 December 2023

2023 Social Responsibility Programs

No. Initiative

1.
Partnered with the Ministry of Housing and the Mawaa Association to construct 100 housing units for underprivileged 
families in various regions of the Kingdom.

2.
Funded 93 procedures in collaboration with King Salman Hospital and the Saudi Society for Rheumatology in recognition of 
the 93rd Saudi National Day.

3.
Joined the "Wave" initiative as a supportive partner to help it accomplish its goals of maintaining a healthy environmental 
balance and accelerating ocean recovery.

4. Trained 100 productive families across the Kingdom to transform their private businesses into evolving pioneering projects.

5.
Sponsored a volunteer initiative to assist pilgrims by providing several services, including medical, first aid, translation, 
guidance and logistical support through 650 trained Saudi male and female volunteers.

6.
Assisted in settling debts of 100 detainees under the Furijat initiative during Ramadan to strengthen the values of social 
solidarity.

7.
Sponsoring youth and sports events and activities:
• Sponsored the “Baladi” league, run by the Ministry of Rural and Municipal Affairs.
• Sponsored the basketball tournament at the American School in Dhahran.

8. Collaborated with the Ministry of Human Resources and Social Development to distribute winter clothing to needy families.

9. Supporting charitable work in the Kingdom through the national platform for charitable work “Ihsan”.

10.
Supported the Saudi Society for Activating Organ Donation (Eithar) in the Eastern Region by donating three dialysis 
machines. 

11. Sponsored a Pediatrics Conference in the Eastern Region to improve preventive and curative services.

Regulatory Penalties and Restrictions
The penalties charged to the Bank during the year 2023 as a result of operational activities, are detailed as follows:

Saudi Central Bank’s Penalties:

  SAR '000s

Prior year 2022 Current year 2023

Subject of violation

Number 
of 

penalties

Total 
amount 

of 
penalties

Number 
of 

penalties

Total 
amount 

of 
penalties

Violation of Saudi Central Bank's instructions  7 335.00 9 10,773.7

Violation of Saudi Central Bank's instructions related to customer protection 1 297.15 - -

Violation of Saudi Central Bank's instructions related to exerting due 
diligence

- - - -

Violation of Saudi Central Bank's instructions related to level of ATM / POS 
performance 

- - 1 15.00

Violation of Saudi Central Bank's instructions related to exerting due 
diligence on Anti-Money Laundering (AML) and CTF 

2 428.23 - -
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  SAR '000s

Prior year 2022 Current year 2023

Subject of violation

Number 
of 

penalties

Total 
amount 

of 
penalties

Number 
of 

penalties

Total 
amount 

of 
penalties Subject of violation

Penalties from municipalities and the Ministry of 
Municipal and Rural Affairs

69 288.80 21 348.20
Violation of license 

requirements 

Civil defense penalties 2 14.00 1 4.00
Non-adherence to 

safety regulations

SADAD penalties - - 1 1.77 -

CMA penalties 1 100.00 - - -

General Organization for Social Insurance penalties 
(GOSI)

1 1.00 - - -

Protective Actions to Remedy Violations
The Bank is keen to adhere to Regulatory and Supervisory 
Authorities’ instructions and regulations. The Bank control 
bodies assigned to set forth the protective measures to 
mitigate violations and avoid its repetition in coordination 
with the concerned bodies. The Bank promptly evaluates 
the violations and studies the reasons thereof and sets 
up the necessary corrective plans and follows up with the 
concerned departments. The main methods to remedy 
violations and avoid repetition in the future include the 
following:

1. Upgrade the existing systems to introduce new 
technological tools.

2. Amend the related policies and procedures.
3. Introduce new controls to support the Bank’s related 

businesses.
4. Employee awareness on the related regulatory 

requirements.
5. Include the violations within the control programs 

of the control departments in the Bank, to ensure 
implementation of the protective measures.

Conflicts of Interests
The following is a statement of the related parties’ 
transactions as shown in the 2023 consolidated financial 
statements which includes any contract in which any 
member of the Board or any of their affiliates has or had 
any material interest, in addition to the facilities granted to 
some Board Members. All these facilities are governed by 
the Saudi Central Bank’s instructions which stipulates that 
all facilities offered to non-banking parties should be fully 
guaranteed.

It is worth noting that the related party transactions are 
performed on an arm’s length basis where no preference 
conditions or prices are granted for such transactions. 
Furthermore, the Bank did not have, nor did it enter into any 
contract in which the Managing Director and/or the Chief 
Financial Officer has or had any material interest.

Other Regulatory Penalties:
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Related Party Transactions

a)  The balances as at 31 December 2023 included in the consolidated financial statements:

SAR ‘000s

Non-Saudi major shareholders and their affiliates:

Due from banks and other financial institutions 43,491

Due to banks and other financial institutions 442,133

Commitments and contingencies 1,594,459

Directors, key management personnel, other major shareholders and their affiliates:

Loans and advances 6,237,362

Customers’ deposits 3,414,391

Commitments and contingencies  2,463,398

Bank’s mutual funds and others:

Investments 602,546

Loans and advances 1,805,822

Customers’ deposits 5,274

Associates:

Investments in associates 949,403

Loans and advances 3,365,114

Customers’ deposits 158,681

Other major shareholders represent shareholdings (excluding the non-Saudi shareholder) of more than 5% of the Bank’s 

issued share capital.

b) Income and expense transactions with related parties included in the consolidated financial 
statements for the year ended 31 December 2023 are as follows:

SAR ‘000s

Special commission income 1,009,498

Special commission expenses (128,871)

Fees and commission income 109,451

Share in earnings of associates, net 19,508

Directors’ remuneration (8,404)

Insurance contracts* (68,153)

*Walaa for Cooperative Insurance (related party: Mr. Hesham Abdullatif Al-Jabr – Board Member).
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Miscellaneous expenses for the year 2023 are detailed as follows:

Other contractual expenses SAR ‘000s

Nature of item Related party Duration 
Expense 
amount

Rent expenses of branches 

Central Warehouses Central Warehouses Co. Ltd. (related 
party: Mr. Salah Rashed Al-Rashed - 
Chairman of the Board)

10 years ending on
29 February 2032 (for 
annual rent of SAR 1.5 
million)

1,499

Dhabab branch Mrs. Maha Hmoud Obaid Al-Rasheed 
(related party: wife of Mr. Obaid Al-
Rasheed – Managing Director and Chief 
Executive Officer)

10 years ending on
30 April 2031 (for annual 
rent of SAR 700,000)

700

Total rent expenses of branches during the year 2,199

Other contractual expenses

Support services agreement for cash 
centers – supply, installation and 
maintenance of security cameras for all the 
Bank’s branches and centers

Abana Projects Company (related party: 
Mr. Salah Rashed Al-Rashed – Chairman 
of the Board)

As needed 8,977

Providing labor services Al Khaleej Training and Education Co. 
(related party: Mr. Salah Rashed Al-
Rashed - Chairman of the Board)

As needed 14,148

Providing the Bank with information on 
consumers’ wages and state of work

Saudi Credit Bureau  - SIMAH (related 
party: Mr. Kamal Khodr – one of the 
managers)

As needed 13,738

Subscription to the SANID system of the 
General Organization of Social Insurance

Saudi Financial Support Services 
Company - SANID  (related party: 
Mr. Khalid Al- Rashed – one of the 
managers)

As needed 21,021

Maintenance, cleaning and support 
services

Algossy International Co. (related party: 
Mrs. Al-Anood Abdulaziz Alazl - one of 
the managers)

3 years ending on 
30 April 2026, to be 
renewed automatically 
as needed

3,502

Documenting approvals to issue bonds to 
order electronically

Takamul Company for Business Services 
(related party: Mr. Thamer Mesfer Al-
Wadai – Board Member and Chairman of 
the Audit Committee)

As needed 2,936

Storage services company Tujory Company (related party: Mr. 
Hisham Mohammed Mahmoud Alattar – 
Board Member of Arab Bank Plc) 

10 years renewed 
automatically as needed

6,591

Providing information technology solutions Awal Net STC Solutions (related party: 
Mr. Abdullah Sayel Alanizi – Member of 
the Audit Committee)  

As needed 27,618

Providing communications and internet 
services 

Saudi Telecommunications Company 
(related party: Mr. Abdullah Sayel Alanizi 
- Member of the Audit Committee)  

As needed 26,874

Total expenses paid on other contracts during the year 125,405

Total miscellaneous  expenses during the year 127,604
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Report of the Board of Directors of the arab national bank
For the fiscal year ended 31 December 2023

c) The total amount of remunerations paid to key management personnel during the year ended 
31 December 2023  is as follows:

SAR ‘000s

Short-term employee benefits (salaries and allowances) 51,676

Post-employment benefits (end of service indemnity and social security) 5,387

Key management personnel are those persons, including the Executive directors, having direct or indirect authority and 

responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Bank.

anb Code of Conduct
The Bank is committed to conduct its business in accordance with the highest ethical standards, relevant legislation and 

regulations. The Bank fully cooperates with regulators and supervisory bodies in this respect.

The Board sets the Ethics and Banking Practice Rules and encourages management and staff to act ethically and in 

accordance with the applicable laws, rules, regulations and policies of the Bank, and in line with best practices.

The Board ensures, through senior management, that it has established through word and action the desired value-based 

culture and reinforces appropriate behavior through effective awareness programs.

The Bank sets out a Code of Ethical Behavior in order to formulate the values that guide behavior and conduct of business 

across the organization.

Accounting Standards
The Bank prepares its consolidated financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 

(IFRS) as endorsed in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and other standards and pronouncements endorsed by the Saudi 

Organization for Chartered and Professional Accountants (SOCPA). The Bank also prepares its consolidated financial 

statements to comply with the provisions of the Banking Control Law, the Regulations for Companies in the Kingdom of Saudi 

Arabia and the Bank’s by-laws. There are no significant differences to the accounting standards issued by SOCPA.

External Auditors
At its meeting held on 28 March 2023 the Ordinary General Assembly appointed Messrs. Deloitte and Touche and KPMG Al 

Fozan & Partners as the external auditors for the Bank for the year 2023.

Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities in Relation to the Consolidated Financial Statements

The Board, to the best of its knowledge, confirms that:

• anb has properly maintained its accounting records.

• The internal control system was properly prepared and effectively implemented.

• There is no doubt that anb has the resources to continue in business.

• The Bank neither have nor have they entered into any contract in which any member of the Board, the Managing Director, the 

Chief Financial Officer or any of their associates has or had any material interest except as disclosed in this report and in note 

No. 36 to the consolidated financial statements disclosing related parties. 

Board of Directors

26 February 2024
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Independent A Report  

To the Shareholders of Arab National Bank (A Saudi Joint Stock Company)  

Report on the audit of the consolidated financial statements 

Opinion 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Arab National Bank ( ) and its 

subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the Group

financial position as at 31 December 2023, and the consolidated statement of income, consolidated 

statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated 

statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, which 

includes material accounting policy information. 

 

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material 

respects, the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2023, and its consolidated 

financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 
s  that are endorsed in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia 

and other standards and pronouncements issued by the Saudi Organization for Chartered and 

Professional Accountants ( SOCPA ) s that are endorsed in the 

Kingdom of Saudi Arabia  

 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing s that are 

endorsed in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. Our responsibilities under those standards are further 

described in the Auditors Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International Code of 

Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards) that is endorsed 

in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia , that is relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial 

statements, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with that code. We 
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 

opinion. 

 

Key audit matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our 

audit of the consolidated financial statements for the current period. These matters were addressed in 

the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion 

thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.  
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Independent A Report  

To the Shareholders of Arab National Bank (A Saudi Joint Stock Company) (continued) 

Report on the audit of the consolidated financial statements (continued) 

Key audit matters (continued) 
 

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

Expected Credit Loss on loans and advances 

As at 31 December 2023, the gross loans and advances 

of the Group amounted to SAR 155.56 billion (2022: 

SAR 147.75 billion)  against which an Expected Credit 

Loss 3.33 billion (2022: 

SAR 3.92 billion) was recorded. 

The determination of ECL involves significant 

estimation and management judgement and this has a 

material impact on the consolidated financial 

statements of the Group. The key areas of judgement 

and uncertainity include: 

1. Categorisation of loans into Stages 1, 2 and 3 

based on the identification of: 

(a) exposures with a significant increase in credit 

risk  

(b) individually impaired / defaulted exposures. 
 

 In accordance with the requirements of IFRSs, the 

Group measures ECL based on the credit losses 

unless there has been a significant 

increase in credit risk since origination or default, 

in which case, the allowance is based on the ECL 

expected to arise over the life of the loans and 

 The Group has applied 

additional judgements to identify and estimate the 

likelihood of borrowers that may have experienced 

SICR. 

2.  Assumptions used in the ECL model  for 

determining the 

e, but are not limited to, assessment 

of the financial condition of the borrower, expected 

future cash flows, developing and incorporating 

forward looking assumptions, macroeconomic 

factors and the associated scenarios and expected 

probability weightages. 

  

 We update

assessment of the ECL allowance against loans 

and advances, 

rating model, accounting policy, and model 

methodology, including any key changes made 

during the year.  
 

 We assessed 

ECL allowance and the ECL methodology 

against the requirements of IFRSs  as endorsed 

in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. 
 

 We assessed the design and implementation, and 

tested the operating effectiveness of the key 

controls (including relevant General IT controls 

and specific IT application controls) over: 

 the ECL model (including governance over 

monitoring of the models and any model 

updates performed during the year, including 

approval of ECL Committee of key inputs, 

assumptions and management overlays, if 

any); 

 the classification of loans and advances  into 

stages 1,2 and 3 and timely identification of 

SICR and the determination of default / 

individually impaired exposures;  

 the IT systems and applications supporting 

the ECL model; and 

 the integrity of data inputs into the ECL 

model. 
 

 For a sample of customers, we assessed:  

 the internal ratings determined by 

rating model and considered these assigned 

ratings in light of the external market 

conditions and available industry 

information. We also assessed that these were 

consistent with the ratings used as inputs in 

the ECL model; and 
 

  via 

analyzing the reasonableness, completeness, 

accuracy and appropriateness of the inputs 

including assumptions used therein such as 

but not limited to probability of default and 

loss given default percentages.. 
 

 For selected customers, we evaluated 

sessment of recoverable cash 

flows, including the impact of collateral, and 

other sources of repayment, if any. 
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To the shareholders of Arab National Bank (A Saudi Joint Stock Company) (continued) 

Report on the audit of the consolidated financial statements (continued) 

Key audit matters (continued) 

 

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

Expected Credit Losses on loans and advances 
(continued) 

3. The need to apply overlays  

using credit judgement to reflect all relevant risk 

factors that might not have been captured by the 

ECL model. 

 

We considered this as a key audit matter as the 

application of these judgments and estimates, have 

given rise to greater estimation uncertainty and the 

associated audit risk around ECL calculation as of 31 

December 2023. 

 

Refer to note 3.6 to the consolidated financial 
statements, which describes the accounting policy 
related to the allowance for expected credit losses, 
note 2.6.1 which contains the disclosure of critical 
accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions 
relating to ECL on financial assets and the impairment 
assessment methodology used by the Group, note 7 
which contains the disclosure of impairment losses on 
loans and advances and note 32.4 for details of credit 
quality analysis and key assumptions and factors 
considered in determination of ECL. 

 

 

 We assessed the 

determination of SICR and identification of 

individually impaired  exposures. 

For a sample of exposures, we assessed the 

appropriatness of the staging classification of the 

knowledge of corresponding customers and 

analysis of related financial information.   

 

 We assessed the governance process 

implemented and the qualitative factors 

considered (in light of the prevailing facts and 

circumstances of the corresponding loans and 

advances), by the Group when applying any 

management overlays or making any adjustment 

to the output from the ECL model, due to data or 

model limitations or otherwise.   

 

 We assessed the  reasonablness of underlying  

assumptions  used by the Group in the ECL 

model, including forward looking assumptions, 

keeping in view the uncertainty and volatility of 

economic scenarios. 

  

 We tested the completeness and accuracy of data 

supporting the ECL calculations. 
 

 We involved our specialists to assist us in 

assessing model calculations, evaluating 

interrelated inputs (including EAD, PDs and 

LGDs) and assessing the reasonableness of 

assumptions used in the ECL model, particularly 

around the macroeconomic variables, forecasted 

macroeconomic scenarios and probability 

weights and assumptions used in  any manual 

adjustments made to the output from the ECL 

model. 
 

 We assessed the adequacy of disclosures in the 

consolidated financial statements relating to this 

matter against the requirements of IFRSs that are 

endorsed in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia.   
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To the shareholders of Arab National Bank (A Saudi Joint Stock Company) (continued) 

Report on the audit of the consolidated financial statements (continued) 
 

Key audit matters (continued) 
 

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

Valuation of derivative financial instruments  

As at 31 December 2023, the positive and negative fair 

values of derivatives held by the Group amounted to 

SAR 1.80 billion (2022: SAR 2.96 billion) and SAR 

1.40 billion (2022: SAR 2.16 billion), respectively. 

 

The Group has entered into various derivative 

transactions, including commission rate and cross 

currency swaps, forward foreign exchange and 

commodity contracts, commission rate futures and 

options and currency and commodity options. Swaps, 

forwards and options derivative contracts are over the 

counter (OTC) derivatives that are not traded in active 

markets and hence, the valuation of these contracts is 

subjective as it takes into account a number of 

assumptions which often involves the exercise of 

judgement by management and  model calibrations 

including adjustments to the counterparty's own credit 

risk. 

The majority of these derivatives are held for trading 

purposes. Certain commission rate swaps are 

categorized as fair value hedges or cash flow hedges in 

the consolidated financial statements. 

 

An inappropriate valuation of derivatives could have a 

material impact on the consolidated financial statements 

and a hedge accounting impact in the case of hedge 

ineffectiveness. 

 

We considered this as a key audit matter as there is 

complexity and subjectivity involved in determining the 

valuation in general and, in certain cases, due to the use 

of complex modelling techniques. 

 

Refer to note 3.13 of the consolidated financial 
statements which describes the accounting policy 
relating to derivatives financial instruments and hedge 
accounting, note 2.6.2 which contains the disclosure of 
critical accounting judgements, estimates and 
assumptions relating to fair value financial instruments 
and note 11 which explains the derivative positions and 
valuation methodology used by the Group.  

 

We assessed whether the controls over the valuation 

of derivatives had been appropriately designed and 

implemented.We selected a sample of derivative 

financial intruments and: 

 Involved our specialists to assist us in 

performing an independent valuation of the 

derivatives and compared the result with  

management's valuation;  

 

 Tested the accuracy of the particulars of 

derivatives by comparing the terms and 

conditions with relevant agreements and deal 

confirmations; 

 

 Assessed the key inputs to the derivative 

valuation models; 

 

 Evaluated the hedge effectiveness assessment 

performed by the Group and the appropriateness 

of related hedge accounting; and 

 

 Assessed the adequacy of disclosures in the 

consolidated financial statements relating to this 

matter against the requirements of IFRSs that 

are endorsed in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. 
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To the shareholders of Arab National Bank (A Saudi Joint Stock Company) (continued) 

Report on the audit of the consolidated financial statements (continued) 

 

Other information 3 Annual Report 

Other information consists of the information included in the Group 2023 annual report, other than the 

consolidated  Management is responsible for the 

other information in the annual report. The annual report is expected to be made available to us after the 

date .  
 

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we will 
not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 
 

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the 

other information identified above, when it becomes available, and, in doing so, consider whether the 
other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge 

obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  
 

When we read the other information, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, we are 

required to communicate the matter to those charged with governance. 
 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated 

Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial 

statements in accordance with IFRSs that are endorsed in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, the applicable 

requirements of the Regulations for Companies, the Banking Control Law in the Kingdom of Saudi 

Arabia and the Bylaws, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to 
enable the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 

whether due to fraud or error.  
 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the 

ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and 

using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or 

to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 

Those charged with governance, i.e. the Board of Directors, are responsible for overseeing the 

financial reporting process.  

  

Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements 

report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 

that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs that are endorsed in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia will 

always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and 

are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 

influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements. 
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To the shareholders of Arab National Bank (A Saudi Joint Stock Company) (continued) 

Report on the audit of the consolidated financial statements (continued) 

 

Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs that are endorsed in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, we 

exercise professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 
 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 

whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 

obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of 
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, 

as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 

internal control. 
 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 

that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 

effectiveness of the internal control. 
 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates and related disclosures made by management. 
 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of the use of the going concern basis of accounting 

and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the ability to continue as a going concern. If 

we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor  

report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are 

inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 

the date of our auditor  report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease 
to continue as a going concern. 

 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, 

including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying 

transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 
 

 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 

business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. 

We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain 

solely responsible for our audit opinion. 
 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 

scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that we identify during our audit. 
 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant 

ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other 

matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken 

to eliminate threats or safeguards applied. 
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To the shareholders of Arab National Bank (A Saudi Joint Stock Company) (continued)

Report on the audit of the consolidated financial statements (continued)

Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that 
were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and 

are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditors report unless law or 

regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we 

determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of 
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

Based on the information that has been made available to us, nothing has come to our attention that 

causes us to believe that the Bank was not in compliance, in all material respects, with the applicable 

requirements of the Regulations for Companies, the Banking Control Law in the Kingdom of Saudi 

Arabia and the Bylaws in so far as they affect the preparation and presentation of the consolidated 

financial statements.

KPMG Professional Services Deloitte and Touche & Co. 

P O Box 92876 Chartered Accountants

Riyadh 11663

Kingdom of Saudi Arabia

P.O. Box 213

Riyadh 11411

Kingdom of Saudi Arabia

Saleh Mohammed S. Mostafa Mazen A. Al-Omari

Certified Public Accountant Certified Public Accountant

License No. 524 License No. 480

4 1445H

(14 February 2024)

112



Overview  Strategic Review  Directors’ Report  Financial Statements

113Annual Report 2023



arab national bank – Saudi Joint Stock Company

Consolidated statement of financial position 
As at December 31, 2023 and 2022

All amounts in thousands of Saudi Riyals unless stated otherwise

Note 2023 2022

Assets

Cash and balances with Saudi Central Bank 4 10,892,182 12,434,197

Due from banks and other financial institutions, net 5 2,477,949 6,048,035

Positive fair value of derivatives 11 1,801,891 2,959,669

Investments, net 6 46,675,830 41,017,758

Loans and advances, net 7 152,235,109 143,828,819

Investments in associates 8 949,403 978,683

Other real estate owned, net 1,028,220 1,318,150

Property, equipment and right of use assets, net 9 2,497,677 2,231,227

Other assets 10 2,125,049 1,811,555

Total assets 220,683,310 212,628,093

Liabilities and equity

Liabilities

Due to banks, Saudi Central Bank and other financial institutions 12 8,429,750 13,511,268

Negative fair value of derivatives 11 1,403,360 2,164,241

Customers’ deposits 13 165,861,338 154,871,266

Issued Sukuk 15 2,828,863 2,829,092

Other liabilities 14 7,062,100 6,894,569

Total liabilities 185,585,411 180,270,436

Equity

Share capital 16 15,000,000 15,000,000

Statutory reserve 17 10,648,000 9,630,000

Other reserves 436,656 58,504

Retained earnings 8,984,821 6,819,244

Proposed dividends 27 - 826,616

Total equity attributable to equity holders of the Bank 35,069,477 32,334,364

Non-controlling interest 28,422 23,293

Total equity 35,097,899 32,357,657

Total liabilities and equity 220,683,310 212,628,093

The notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.
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arab national bank – Saudi Joint Stock Company

Consolidated statement of income 
For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022

All amounts in thousands of Saudi Riyals unless stated otherwise

The notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.

Note 2023 2022

Special commission income 19 12,477,349 7,656,670 

Special commission expense 19 5,340,355 2,020,218 

Special commission income, net 7,136,994 5,636,452 

Fee and commission income 20 1,694,719 1,443,582 

Fee and commission expense 20 1,058,185 897,670 

Fee and commission income, net 636,534 545,912 

Exchange income, net 330,885 353,960 

Gains on FVSI financial instruments, net 30,735 52,755 

Trading income, net 21 26,939 39,365 

Dividend income 22 143,139 159,619 

Gain on sale of non-trading instruments, net 23 156,313 -

Other operating income 24 105,570 74,177

Total operating income 8,567,109 6,862,240

Salaries and employee related expenses 29 1,547,002 1,379,617 

Premises related expenses 55,501 53,707 

Depreciation and amortisation 9 228,287 213,608 

Other general and administrative expenses 1,016,912 810,766 

Total operating expenses before impairment charges 2,847,702 2,457,698

Expected credit losses (ECL) and other impairment charges, net 25 670,165 879,837

Impairment charge on other real estate owned 25 322,000 -

Total operating expenses 3,839,867 3,337,535

Net operating income 4,727,242 3,524,705 

Share in earnings of associates, net 8 19,508 72,081

Gain on disposal of investment in an associate 8 - 36,050

Net income before Zakat and income tax 4,746,750 3,632,836

Zakat 27.5 301,896 275,393 

Income tax 27.5 369,215 290,388

Net income 4,075,639 3,067,055

Attributable to:

Equity holders of the Bank 4,070,510 3,070,405

Non-controlling interest 5,129 (3,350)

Net income 4,075,639 3,067,055

Basic and diluted earnings per share (expressed in SAR) 26 2.71 2.05
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arab national bank – Saudi Joint Stock Company

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income 
For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022

All amounts in thousands of Saudi Riyals unless stated otherwise

The notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.

Note 2023 2022

Net income 4,075,639 3,067,055

Other comprehensive income/ (loss):

Items that will not be reclassified to consolidated statement of income in 
subsequent periods

Equity instruments at FVOCI:

Net changes in fair value 162,564  (292,892)

Actuarial gain/ (loss) on defined benefit plans 30 42,674  (27,867)

Items that may be reclassified to the consolidated statement of income in 
subsequent periods

Debt instruments at FVOCI:

Net changes in fair value  156,342  (34,754)

Net amounts transferred to consolidated statement of income (467) -

Cash flow hedges:

Effective portion of change in the fair value 30,465  (115,716)

Total other comprehensive income/ (loss) 391,578  (471,229)

Total comprehensive income 4,467,217 2,595,826 

Attributable to:

Equity holders of the Bank 4,462,088 2,599,176 

Non-controlling interest 5,129  (3,350)

Total comprehensive income 4,467,217 2,595,826
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arab national bank – Saudi Joint Stock Company

Consolidated statement of changes in equity 
For the year ended December 31, 2023

All amounts in thousands of Saudi Riyals unless stated otherwise

The notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.

2023 Note

Attributable to equity holders of the Bank

Non-
controlling 

interests Total
Share

capital
Statutory 

reserve

Other reserves

Retained 
earnings

Proposed 
dividends TotalFVOCI

Cash 
flow 

hedge 
reserve

Actuarial
gain on 
defined 
benefit 

plan

Balance as at 
December 31, 2022

15,000,000 9,630,000 303,579 (116,139) (128,936) 6,819,244 826,616 32,334,364 23,293 32,357,657

Net income - - - - - 4,070,510 - 4,070,510 5,129 4,075,639

Changes in equity 
for the year:

Net changes in fair 
values of FVOCI 
equity investments

- - 162,564 - - - - 162,564 - 162,564

Net changes in fair 
values of FVOCI debt 
instruments

- - 156,342 - - - - 156,342 - 156,342

Net changes in fair 
value of cash flow 
hedges

- - - 30,465 - - - 30,465 - 30,465

Net transfers 
to consolidated 
statement of income

- - (467) - - - - (467) - (467)

Actuarial gain 30 - - - - 42,674 - - 42,674 - 42,674

Total 
comprehensive 
income

- - 318,439 30,465 42,674 4,070,510 - 4,462,088 5,129 4,467,217

Net gain on 
derecognition 
of FVOCI equity 
investments

- - (13,426) - - 13,426 - - - -

Transfer to statutory 
reserve

17 - 1,018,000 - - - (1,018,000) - - - -

2022 final dividends 27.3 - - - - - - (826,616) (826,616) - (826,616)

2023 interim 
dividends

27.4 - - - - - (900,359) - (900,359) - (900,359)

Balance as at 
December 31, 2023

15,000,000 10,648,000 608,592 (85,674) (86,262) 8,984,821 - 35,069,477 28,422 35,097,899
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arab national bank – Saudi Joint Stock Company

Consolidated statement of changes in equity 
For the year ended December 31, 2022

All amounts in thousands of Saudi Riyals unless stated otherwise

The notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.

2022 Note

Attributable to equity holders of the Bank

Non-
controlling 

interests Total
Share

capital
Statutory 

reserve

Other reserves

Retained 
earnings

Proposed 
dividends TotalFVOCI

Cash 
flow 

hedge 
reserve

Actuarial
loss on 

defined 
benefit 

plan

Balance as at 
December 31, 2021

15,000,000 8,862,000 644,360 (423) (101,069) 6,046,534 649,692   31,101,094 26,643  31,127,737

Net income  -    -    -    -    -   3,070,405  -   3,070,405  (3,350)  3,067,055

Changes in equity 
for the year:

Net changes in fair 
values of FVOCI 
equity investments

 -    -   (292,892) -  -    -    -   (292,892)  -    (292,892)

Net changes in fair 
values of FVOCI debt 
instruments

 -    -   (34,754) -  -    -  -   (34,754) - (34,754)

Net changes in fair 
value of cash flow 
hedges

- - - (115,716) - - - (115,716) - (115,716)

Actuarial loss 30  -    -    -    -    (27,867)  -    -    (27,867)  -   (27,867)

Total 
comprehensive 
income

 -    -   (327,646) (115,716) (27,867) 3,070,405  -   2,599,176 (3,350) 2,595,826

Net gain on 
derecognition 
of FVOCI equity 
investments

 -   -  (13,135)  -    -   13,135  -    -    -    -   

Transfer to statutory 
reserve

768,000 - - - (768,000) - - - -

2021 final dividends 17  -    -    -    -    -   - (649,692) (649,692)  - (649,692)

2022 interim 
dividends

27.3  -    -    -    -    -    (716,214)  -   (716,214)  - (716,214)

2022 proposed 
dividends

27.3  -    -    -    -    -    (826,616) 826,616  -    -    -   

Balance as at 
December 31, 2022

15,000,000 9,630,000 303,579 (116,139) (128,936) 6,819,244 826,616 32,334,364   23,293 32,357,657
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arab national bank – Saudi Joint Stock Company

Consolidated statement of cash flow 
For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022

All amounts in thousands of Saudi Riyals unless stated otherwise

Note 2023 2022

Operating activities

Net income before zakat and income tax  4,746,750 3,632,836

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash from operating activities:

Accretion/ amortisation relating to debt instruments  (101,600)  (4,764)

Special commission expense on issued Sukuk 19  93,284  93,543 

Gains on FVSI financial instruments, net  (30,735)  (52,755)

Dividend income 22  (143,139) (159,619)

Gain on sale of non-trading investments, net 23  (156,313) -

Depreciation and amortisation 9  228,287  213,608 

Gains on disposal of property and equipment, net 24  (20,796)  (2,654)

ECL and other provisions charges, net 25  670,165  879,837 

Impairment charges on other real estate owned 25  322,000 -

Share in earnings of associates, net 8  (19,508)  (72,081)

Gain on disposal of investment in an associate 8  -    (36,050)

Gains on sale of other real estate owned  -    (555)

Net (increase)/ decrease in operating assets:

Statutory deposit with Saudi Central Bank  (746,753)  (897,272)

Investments held at FVSI  799  47,673 

Positive fair value of derivatives  1,157,778  (1,992,184) 

Loans and advances  (9,074,879) (19,025,747)

Other real estate owned  (32,070)  16,468 

Other assets  (273,923) 1,591,426

Net increase/ (decrease) in operating liabilities:

Due to banks, Saudi Central Bank and other financial institutions  (5,081,518)  (695,840)

Negative fair value of derivatives  (760,881) 3,083,288

Customers’ deposits  10,990,071  19,157,381 

Other liabilities  138,718 438

Zakat and income tax paid  (756,398)  (629,870)

Net cash from operating activities  1,149,339 5,147,107

Investing activities

Proceeds from sale and maturities of investments not held as FVSI 1,530,581  2,506,400 

Purchase of investments not held as FVSI (6,554,929) (2,486,980)

Dividend received  143,139 159,619

Dividend received from/ disposal of investment in associates  48,788 176,972

Proceeds from sale of property and equipment  34,516  3,796 

Purchase of property and equipment  (391,253)  (210,196)

Net cash (used in)/ from investing activities  (5,189,158) 149,611

Financing activities

Dividends paid  (1,726,975) (1,365,906)

Special commission paid on issued Sukuk  (93,513)  (93,551)

Net cash used in financing activities  (1,820,488) (1,459,457)

Net (decrease)/ increase in cash and cash equivalents  (5,860,307)  3,837,261 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year  10,409,597  6,572,336 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 28  4,549,290  10,409,597 

Special commission received  11,406,997 7,242,727

Special commission paid  (4,967,208) (1,463,301)

The notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.
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arab national bank – Saudi Joint Stock Company

Note to consolidated financial statements 

As at and for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022

1.  General
Arab National Bank (a Saudi Joint Stock Company, the “Bank”) was formed pursuant to Royal Decree No. M/38 dated Rajab 

18,1399H (corresponding to June 13, 1979). The Bank commenced business on February 2, 1980 by taking over the operations 

of Arab Bank Limited in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. The Bank operates under Commercial Registration No. 1010027912 dated 

Rabi Awal 1, 1400H (corresponding to January 19, 1980) through its 127 branches (2022: 127 branches), 59 remittance centres 

(2022: 75 remittance centres) in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and one branch in the United Kingdom. The address of the Bank’s 

head office is as follows:

Arab National Bank

P.O. Box 56921

Riyadh 11564

Kingdom of Saudi Arabia

The objective of the Bank is to provide a full range of banking services. The Bank also provides its customers non-commission 

based banking products which are approved and supervised by an independent Shariah Board established by the Bank.

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Bank and the following subsidiaries (collectively 

referred to as “the Group”):

1.1  ANB Capital
In accordance with the Capital Market Authority (CMA) directives, a wholly owned subsidiary and a Saudi closed joint 

stock company registered in the Kingdom under Commercial Registration No. 1010239908 issued on Shawwal 26, 1428H 

(corresponding to November 7, 2007), to takeover and manage the Bank’s investment services and asset management activities 

consisting of dealing, managing, arranging, advising and custody of securities regulated by the CMA. The subsidiary commenced 

its operations effective Muharram 3, 1429H (corresponding to January 12, 2008). On Muharram 19, 1436H (corresponding to 

November 12, 2014), the subsidiary changed its legal structure from a limited liability company to a closed joint stock company.

The objective of the subsidiary was amended and approved by CMA Board of Commissioners on Muharram 28, 1437H 

(corresponding to November 10, 2015) through a resolution number S/1/6/14832/15 to include dealing as a principal activity.

The objective of the subsidiary was further amended on Sha’ban 26, 1437H (corresponding to June 2, 2016) to provide loans to 

the subsidiary’s customers to trade in shares as per the Saudi Central Bank (SAMA) circular No. 371000014867 dated Safar 5, 

1437H, and the CMA’s circular No. S/6/16287/15 dated Rabih Al-Awal 10, 1437H. 

1.2  Arabian Heavy Equipment Leasing Company (AHEL)
An 87.5% owned subsidiary incorporated in the Kingdom, as a Saudi closed joint stock company, under Commercial Registration 

no 1010267489 issued in Riyadh dated Jumada I 15, 1430H (corresponding to May 10, 2009). The Company is engaged in the 

leasing of heavy equipment and operates in compliance with Shari’ah principles.

The Bank started consolidating the subsidiary’s financial statements effective May 10, 2009, the date the subsidiary started its 

operations. On May 6, 2014 the Bank increased its ownership percentage in this subsidiary from 62.5% to reach 87.5%.

1.3  Al-Manzil Al-Mubarak Real Estate Financing Ltd.
A wholly owned Saudi limited liability company, registered in the Kingdom under the commercial registration no. 1010199647 

issued in Riyadh dated Jumada I 18, 1425H (corresponding to July 6, 2004). The subsidiary is engaged in the purchase of lands 

and real estates and invest them through sale or rent in favor of the company, maintenance and management of owners and 

others’ assets as guarantee, sale and purchase of real estates for financing purposes as per SAMA approval No. 361000109161 

dated 10/8/1436H.
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arab national bank – Saudi Joint Stock Company

Note to consolidated financial statements 

As at and for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022

1.4  ANB Global Markets Limited
The Bank established on Jumada I 3, 1438H (corresponding to January 31, 2017) ANB Global Markets Limited, as a limited liability 

company registered in the Cayman Islands. The Bank has 100% ownership in the investee. The objective of ANB Global Markets 

Limited is trading in derivatives and Repo activities on behalf of the Bank.

1.5 ANB Insurance Agency
A Saudi limited liability company established during 2013 as a wholly owned subsidiary, registered in the Kingdom under 

Commercial Registration no. 1010396423 issued in Riyadh dated Muharram 28, 1435H (corresponding to December 1, 2013). The 

subsidiary obtained its license from SAMA to start its activities in insurance agency and related business on Jumada I 5, 1435H 

(corresponding to March 6, 2014). In reference to the Article No (75) of the Insurance Companies Control Law, the company 

requested to discontinue its operation on July 19, 2020 (corresponding to Dhul Qadah 28, 1441H). The request was approved 

by SAMA on November 19, 2020 (corresponding to Rabih Al-Thani 4, 1442H). The same was communicated to the Ministry 

of Commerce. In July 17, 2023 (corresponding to Dhul Hijjah 29, 1444H), the company has completed the process of closure 

procedures with the relevant regulatory bodies.

2.  Basis of preparation

2.1  Statement of compliance
The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared;

2.1.1  in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as endorsed in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia; other 

standards and pronouncements endorsed by the Saudi Organisation for Chartered and Professional Accountants (“SOCPA”) 

referred to as “IFRS as endorsed in KSA”; and

2.1.2  in compliance with the provisions of Banking Control Law, the Regulations for Companies in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia 

and By-laws of the Bank.

2.2  Basis of measurement and presentation
The consolidated financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis under the historical cost convention except 

for the measurement at fair value of derivatives, financial instruments held at Fair Value through Statement of Income (FVSI), 

financial instruments held at Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income (FVOCI), and employee defined benefit 

obligations which are stated at present value of their obligation using the projected unit credit method. In addition, financial 

assets or liabilities that are hedged in a fair value hedging relationship and otherwise adjusted to record changes in fair value 

attributable to the risks that are being hedged. The statement of financial position is stated in order of liquidity.

The new Regulations for Companies issued through Royal Decree M/132 on Dhul Hijjah 1, 1443H (corresponding to June 30, 

2022) (hereinafter referred as “the Law”) came into force on Jumada II 26, 1444H (corresponding to January 19, 2023). For 

certain provisions of the Law, full compliance is expected not later than two years from Jumada II 26, 1444H (corresponding to 

January 19, 2023). The management is in process of assessing the impact of the new Regulations and will amend its By-Laws for 

any changes to align the By-laws to the provisions of the Regulations. Consequently, the Group shall present the amended By-

Laws to the shareholders in their General Assembly meeting for their ratification.

2.3  Going concern
In making the going concern assessment, the Group has considered a wide range of information relating to present and 

future projections of profitability, cash flows and other capital resources etc. The management is not aware of any material 

uncertainties that may cast significant doubt upon the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. Therefore, the 

consolidated financial statements continue to be prepared on the going concern basis.
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arab national bank – Saudi Joint Stock Company

Note to consolidated financial statements 

As at and for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022

2.4  Basis of consolidation
The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting year as that of the Bank, using consistent 

accounting policies. Adjustments have been made to the financial statements of the subsidiaries where necessary to align them 

with the Bank’s financial statements.

Subsidiaries are investees controlled by the Group. The Group controls an investee when it is exposed to, or has rights to, 

variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the 

investee. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date that 

control commences until the date that control ceases.

Specifically, the Group controls an investee if and only if it has:

• Power over the investee i.e. existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee;

• Exposure or rights to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and

• The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns.

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and 

circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

• The contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee;

• Rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

• The Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights granted by equity instruments such as shares.

The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to 

one or more of the three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the 

subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control over the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a subsidiary 

acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income from the date 

the Group gains control until the date the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it:

• Derecognises the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary;

• Derecognises the carrying amount of any non-controlling interests;

• Derecognises the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity;

• Recognises the fair value of the consideration received;

• Recognises the fair value of any investment retained;

• Recognises any surplus or deficit in the consolidated statement of income; and

• Reclassifies the Group’s share of components previously recognised in other comprehensive income to the consolidated 

statement of income or retained earnings, as appropriate, as would be required if the Group had directly disposed of the 

related assets or liabilities.

Non-controlling interests represent the portion of net income or loss and net assets not owned, directly or indirectly, by the 

Group and are presented separately in the consolidated statement of income and separately from equity holders of the Bank 

within equity in the consolidated statement of financial position. Any Losses applicable to the non-controlling interests in a 

subsidiary are allocated to the non-controlling interests even if doing so causes the non-controlling interests to have a deficit 

balance.

2.  Basis of preparation (continued)
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arab national bank – Saudi Joint Stock Company

Note to consolidated financial statements 

As at and for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022

Acquisitions of non-controlling interests are accounted for using the purchase method of accounting, whereby, the difference 

between the cost of acquisition and the fair value of the share of the net assets acquired is recognised as goodwill.

Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions - that is, 

as transactions with the owners in their capacity as owners. The difference between fair value of any consideration paid and the 

relevant share acquired of the carrying value of net assets of the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or losses on disposals to 

non-controlling interests are also recorded in equity.

Non-controlling interest is subsequently adjusted for the Group’s share of changes in the equity of the consolidated subsidiary 

after the date of acquisition.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income and expenses relating to transactions between members of the Group are 

eliminated in full on consolidation.

2.5  Functional and presentation currency
These consolidated financial statements are presented in Saudi Arabian Riyals (SAR), which is the Bank’s functional currency. 

Except as otherwise indicated, the financial information presented in SAR has been rounded off to the nearest thousand.

2.6  Critical accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS as endorsed in the KSA, requires the use of 

certain critical accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities. 

It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. Such 

judgements, estimates and assumptions are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, 

including obtaining professional advice and setting expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the 

current circumstances.

The significant accounting estimates impacted by these forecasts and associated uncertainties are predominantly related to 

expected credit losses, fair value measurement, and the assessment of the recoverable amount of non-financial assets.

Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised, if the revision affects only that 

period, or in the period of revision and in future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. Significant areas 

where management has used estimates, assumptions or exercised judgements are as follows:

2.6.1  Expected credit losses (ECL) on financial assets:
The measurement of ECL under IFRS 9 across all categories of financial assets requires judgement, in particular, the estimation 

of the amount and timing of future cash flows and collateral values when determining losses and the assessment of a significant 

increase in credit risk. These estimates are driven by a number of factors, changes in which can result in different levels of 

allowances.

The Group’s Expected Credit Loss (ECL) calculations are outputs of complex models with a number of underlying assumptions 

regarding the choice of variable inputs and their interdependencies. Elements of the ECL models that are considered 

accounting judgements and estimates include:
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The selection of an estimation technique or modelling methodology, covering below key judgements and assumptions:

• The Group’s internal credit grading model, which assigns Probabilities of Defaults (PDs) to the individual grades;

• The Group’s criteria for assessing if there has been a significant increase in credit risk and so allowances for financial 

assets should be measured on a Lifetime ECL basis and the qualitative assessment;

• The segmentation of financial assets when their ECL is assessed on a collective basis;

• Development of ECL models, including the various formulae and the choice of inputs; and

• Selection of forward-looking macroeconomic scenarios and their probability weightings, to derive the economic inputs 

into the ECL models.

• Overlays to ECL model’s output uses credit judgement to reflect all relevant risk factors that might not have been 

captured by the ECL model.

2.6.2  Fair value of financial instruments:
The fair value of financial instruments is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in 

an orderly transaction in the principal (or most advantageous) market at the measurement date under current market 

conditions (i.e., an exit price) regardless of whether that price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation 

technique.

When the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the statement of financial position cannot be 

derived from active markets, they are determined using a variety of valuation techniques that include the use of valuation 

models. The inputs to these models are taken from observable markets where possible, but where this is not feasible, 

estimation is required in establishing fair values. Assumptions and estimates include considerations of liquidity and model 

inputs related to items such as credit risk (both own and counterparty), funding value adjustments, correlation and volatility.

The selection of inputs for those models, and the interdependencies between those inputs such as macroeconomic 

scenarios and economic inputs:

2.6.3  Define benefit plans (note 30); and

2.6.4  Fair value of other real estate owned.

3.  Summary of material accounting policies
The material accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are set out below:

3.1  Changes in accounting policies

3.1.1  New standards, interpretations and amendments adopted by the Group
The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are consistent with those 

followed in the preparation of the Group’s annual consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2022, 

except for the adoption of new standards effective as of January 1, 2023.

The Group has not early adopted any standard, interpretation or amendment that has been issued but is not yet effective. 

Several amendments apply for the first time in 2023, but do not have an impact on the consolidated financial statements of 

the Group.

• Narrow scope amendments to IAS 1, Practice statement 2 and IAS 8: The amendments aim to improve accounting policy 

disclosures and to help users of the financial statements to distinguish between changes in accounting estimates and 

changes in accounting policies. Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023.
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• Amendment to IAS 12 - deferred tax related to assets and liabilities arising from a single transaction: These amendments 

require companies to recognise deferred tax on transactions that, on initial recognition give rise to equal amounts of 

taxable and deductible temporary differences. Effective annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023.

• Amendment to IAS 12 - International tax reform - pillar two model rules - These amendments give companies temporary 

relief from accounting for deferred taxes arising from the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development’s 

(OECD) international tax reform. The amendments also introduce targeted disclosure requirements for affected 

companies.

• IFRS 17, ‘Insurance contracts’, as amended in December 2021: This standard replaces IFRS 4, which currently permits a 

wide variety of practices in accounting for insurance contracts. IFRS 17 will fundamentally change the accounting by all 

entities that issue insurance contracts and investment contracts with discretionary participation features. Effective for 

annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023.

3.1.2  Accounting standards issued but not yet effective

• Amendment to IFRS 16 - Leases on sale and leaseback: These amendments include requirements for sale and leaseback 

transactions in IFRS 16 to explain how an entity accounts for a sale and leaseback after the date of the transaction. Sale 

and leaseback transactions where some or all the lease payments are variable lease payments that do not depend on an 

index or rate are most likely to be impacted. Effective date is deferred until accounting periods starting not earlier than 

January 1, 2024.

• Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7 on Supplier finance arrangements: These amendments require disclosures to enhance 

the transparency of supplier finance arrangements and their effects on a company’s liabilities, cash flows and exposure to 

liquidity risk. The disclosure requirements are the IASB’s response to investors’ concerns that some companies’ supplier 

finance arrangements are not sufficiently visible, hindering investors’ analysis. Effective date is January 1, 2024.

• Amendment to IAS 1 - Non-current liabilities with covenants: These amendments clarify how conditions with which an 

entity must comply within twelve months after the reporting period affect the classification of a liability. The amendments 

also aim to improve information an entity provides related to liabilities subject to these conditions. Effective date is 

January 1, 2024.

• IFRS S1, ‘General requirements for disclosure of sustainability-related financial information: This standard includes the 

core framework for the disclosure of material information about sustainability-related risks and opportunities across an 

entity’s value chain. Effective date is January 1, 2024 subject to the endorsement by SOCPA.

• IFRS S2, ‘Climate-related disclosures’: This is the first thematic standard issued that sets out requirements for entities 

to disclose information about climate-related risks and opportunities. Effective date is January 1, 2024 subject to the 

endorsement by SOCPA.

3.2  Classification of financial assets
On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at amortised cost, FVOCI or FVSI.

3.2.1  Financial asset at amortised cost (AC)
A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated as at FVSI:

• the asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows; and

• the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates of cash flows that are solely payments of principal 

and interest on the principal amount outstanding.
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3.2.2  Financial asset at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI)

3.2.2.1  Debt instrument 

Debt instrument is measured at FVOCI only if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated as at FVSI:

• the asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and 

selling financial assets; and

• the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal 

and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

FVOCI debt instruments are subsequently measured at fair value with gains and losses arising due to changes in fair value 

recognised in Other Comprehensive Income (OCI). Interest income and foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in 

the consolidated statement of income.

3.2.2.2  Equity Instruments

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the Group may irrevocably elect to present 

subsequent changes in fair value in OCI. This election is made on an instrument-by- instrument basis.

3.2.2.3  Financial Asset at fair value through statement of income (FVSI)

All financial assets not classified as measured at amortised cost or FVOCI as described above are measured at FVSI.

In addition, on initial recognition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset that otherwise meets the 

requirements to be measured at amortised cost or at FVOCI at FVSI if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an 

accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise.

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition, except in the period after the Group changes its 

business model for managing financial assets.

3.2.3  Business model assessment
The Group assesses the objective of a business model in which an asset is held at a portfolio level because this best reflects 

the way the business is managed and information is provided to management.  The information considered includes:

• the stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of those policies in practice. In particular, whether 

management’s strategy focuses on earning contractual interest revenue, maintaining a particular interest rate profile, 

matching the duration of the financial assets to the duration of the liabilities that are funding those assets or realising 

cash flows through the sale of the assets;

• how the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the Group’s management;

• the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within that business model) and 

how those risks are managed;

• how managers of the business are compensated- e.g. whether compensation is based on the fair value of the assets 

managed or the contractual cash flows collected; and

• the frequency, volume and timing of sales in prior periods, the reasons for such sales and its expectations about future 

sales activity. However, information about sales activity is not considered in isolation, but as part of an overall assessment 

of how the Group’s stated objective for managing the financial assets is achieved and how cash flows are realised.

The business model assessment is based on reasonably expected scenarios without taking ‘worst case’ or ‘stress case’ 

scenarios into account. If cash flows after initial recognition are realised in a way that is different from the Group’s original 

expectations, the Group does not change the classification of the remaining financial assets held in that business model, but 

incorporates such information when assessing newly originated or newly purchased financial assets going forward.
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Financial assets that are held for trading and whose performance is evaluated on a fair value basis are measured at FVSI 

because they are neither held to collect contractual cash flows nor held both to collect contractual cash flows and to sell 

financial assets.

3.2.4  Assessments whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest
For the purposes of this assessment, ‘principal’ is the fair value of the financial asset on initial recognition. ‘Interest’ is the 

consideration for the time value of money, the credit and other basic lending risks associated with the principal amount 

outstanding during a particular period and other basic lending costs (e.g. liquidity risk and administrative costs), along with 

profit margin.

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest, the Group considers the 

contractual terms of the instrument. This includes assessing whether the financial asset contains a contractual term that 

could change the timing or amount of contractual cash flows such that it would not meet this condition. In making the 

assessment, the Group considers:

• Contingent events that would change the amount and timing of cash flows;

• leverage features;

• prepayment and extension terms;

• terms that limit the Group’s claim to cash flows from specified assets (e.g. non-recourse asset arrangements); and

• features that modify consideration of the time value of money (e.g. periodical reset of interest rates).

3.2.5  Designation at FVSI
At initial recognition, the Group may designate certain financial assets at FVSI. The designated financial assets (if any) are 

required to be managed, evaluated and reported internally on a fair value.

3.3  Classification of financial liabilities
The Group classifies its financial liabilities, other than financial guarantees and loan commitments, as measured at amortised 

cost. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium and costs that are an integral part of the 

Effective Interest Rate (“EIR”).

3.4  Derecognition

3.4.1  Financial assets
The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, or it 

transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which substantially all of the risks and rewards 

of ownership of the financial asset are transferred or in which the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the 

risks and rewards of ownership and it does not retain control of the financial asset.

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying amount of the asset (or the carrying amount 

allocated to the portion of the asset derecognised) and the sum of (i) the consideration received (including any new asset 

obtained less any new liability assumed) and (ii) any cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in OCI is recognised in 

the consolidated statement of income.

When assets are sold to a third party with a concurrent total rate of return swap on the transferred assets, the transaction 

is accounted for as a secured financing transaction similar to sale-and  repurchase transactions, as the Group retains all or 

substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of such assets.
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In transactions in which the Group neither retains nor transfers substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of a 

financial asset and it retains control over the asset, the Group continues to recognise the asset to the extent of its continuing 

involvement, determined by the extent to which it is exposed to changes in the value of the transferred asset.

In certain transactions, the Group retains the obligation to service the transferred financial asset for a fee. The transferred 

asset is derecognised if it meets the derecognition criteria. An asset or liability is recognised for the servicing contract if the 

servicing fee is more than adequate (asset) or is less than adequate (liability) for performing the servicing.

Any cumulative gain/loss recognised in OCI in respect of equity investment securities designated as at FVOCI is not 

recognised in statement of income on derecognition of such securities. Any interest in transferred financial assets that 

qualify for derecognition that is created or retained by the Group is recognised as a separate asset or liability.

3.4.2  Financial liabilities
The Group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled, or expired.

3.5  Modifications of financial assets and financial liabilities

3.5.1 Financial assets
If the terms of a financial asset are modified, the Group evaluates whether the cash flows of the modified asset are 

substantially different. If the cash flows are substantially different, then the contractual rights to cash flows from the original 

financial asset are deemed to have expired. In this case, the original financial asset is derecognised with the difference 

recognised as a de-recognition gain or loss and a new financial asset is recognised at fair value.

If the cash flows of the modified asset carried at amortised cost are not substantially different, then the modification does 

not result in derecognition of the financial asset. In this case, the Group recalculates the gross carrying amount of the 

financial asset and recognises the amount arising from adjusting the gross carrying amount as a modification gain or loss in 

the consolidated statement of income. If such a modification is carried out because of financial difficulties of the borrower, 

then the gain or loss is presented together with allowance for expected credit losses.

3.5.2  Financial liabilities
The Group derecognises a financial liability when its terms are modified and the cash flows of the modified liability are 

substantially different. In this case, a new financial liability based on the modified terms is recognised at fair value. The 

difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability extinguished and the new financial liability with modified 

terms is recognised in statement of income.

If the modification of a financial liability is not accounted for as derecognition, then the amortised cost of the liability is 

recalculated by discounting the modified cash flows at the original effective interest rate and the resulting gain or loss is 

recognised in consolidated statement of income. For financial liabilities, the Group considers a modification to be substantial 

based on qualitative factors and if it results in a difference between the adjusted discounted present value and the original 

carrying amount of the financial liability of, or greater than ten percent.

3.6  Allowance for expected credit losses
The Group recognises loss allowances for ECL on the following financial instruments that are not measured at FVSI:

• Due from banks and other financial institutions;

• Debt instruments;

• Loans and advances;

• Financial guarantee contracts issued; and

• Loan commitments issued.
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No allowance for expected credit losses is recognised on FVOCI equity investments.

The Group measures allowances for credit losses at an amount equal to lifetime ECL, except for the following, for which they 

are measured as 12-month ECL:

• debt investment securities that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date; and

• other financial instruments on which credit risk has not increased significantly since their initial recognition.

The Group considers a debt security to have low credit risk when their credit risk rating is equivalent to the globally 

understood definition of ‘investment grade’.

12-month ECL are the portion of ECL that result from default events on a financial instrument that are possible within the 

12 months after the reporting date. Financial instruments for which 12-month ECL are recognised are referred to as ‘Stage1’ 

financial instruments. Financial instruments allocated to Stage 1 have not undergone a significant increase in credit risk since 

initial recognition and are not credit-impaired.

Lifetime ECL are the ECL that result from all possible default events over the expected life of the financial instrument or 

the maximum contractual period of exposure. Financial instruments for which lifetime ECL are recognised but that are not 

credit-impaired are referred to as ‘Stage 2 financial instruments’. Financial instruments allocated to stage 2 are those that 

have experienced a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition but are nor credit-impaired.

Financial instruments for which the lifetime ECL are recognised and that are credit-impaired are referred to as ‘Stage 3 

financial instruments’.

3.6.1  Measurement of ECL
ECL is a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. It is measured as follows:

• financial assets that are not credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the present value of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the 

difference between the cash flows due to the entity in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Group 

expects to receive);

• financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the difference between the gross carrying amount and 

the present value of estimated future cash flows;

• undrawn loan commitments: as the present value of the difference between the contractual cash flows that are due to 

the Group if the commitment is drawn down and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive; and

• financial guarantee contracts: the expected payments to reimburse the holder less any amounts that the Group expects 

to recover.

When discounting future cash flows, the following discount rates are used:

• financial assets other than purchased or originated credit-impaired (POCI) financial assets and lease receivables: the 

original effective interest rate or an approximation thereof;

• POCI assets: a credit-adjusted effective interest rate;

• Lease receivables: the discount rate used in measuring lease receivables;

• Undrawn loan commitments: the effective interest rate, or an approximation thereof, that will be applied to the financial 

asset resulting from the loan commitment; and

• Financial Guarantee contracts issued: the rate that reflects the current market assessment of the time value of money 

and the risks that are specific to the cash flows.
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3.6.2  Restructured financial assets
If the terms of a financial asset are renegotiated or modified or an existing financial asset is replaced with a new one due to 

financial difficulties of the borrower, then an assessment is made of whether the financial asset should be derecognised and 

ECL are measured as follows:

If the expected restructuring will not result in derecognition of the existing asset, then the expected cash flows arising from 

the modified financial asset are included in calculating the cash shortfalls from the existing asset.

If the expected restructuring will result in derecognition of the existing asset, then the expected fair value of the new asset 

is treated as the final cash flow from the existing financial asset at the time of its derecognition. This amount is included in 

calculating the cash shortfalls from the existing financial asset that are discounted from the expected date of derecognition 

to the reporting date using the original EIR of the existing financial asset.

3.6.3  Credit-impaired financial assets
At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost and debt financial assets 

carried at FVOCI are credit-impaired. A financial asset is ‘credit-impaired’ when one or more events that have a detrimental 

impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable data:

• significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer;

• a breach of contract such as a default or past due event;

• the restructuring of a loan or advance by the Group on terms that the Group would not consider otherwise;

• it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

• the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties.

A loan that has been renegotiated due to deterioration in the borrower’s condition is usually considered to be credit-

impaired unless there is evidence that the risk of not receiving contractual cash flows has reduced significantly and there 

are no other indicators of allowance for expected credit losses. In addition, a loan that is overdue for 90 days or more is 

considered impaired.

In assessing of whether an investment in sovereign debt is credit-impaired, the Group considers the following factors:

• The market’s assessment of creditworthiness as reflected in the bond yields;

• The rating agencies’ assessments of creditworthiness;

• The country’s ability to access the capital markets for new debt issuance;

• The probability of debt being restructured, resulting in holders suffering losses through voluntary or mandatory debt 

forgiveness; and

• The international support mechanisms in place to provide the necessary support as ‘lender of last resort’ to that 

country, as well as the intention, reflected in public statements, of governments and agencies to use those mechanisms. 

This includes an assessment of the depth of those mechanisms and, irrespective of the political intent, whether there is 

the capacity to fulfil the required criteria.

3.6.4  Presentation of allowance for ECL in the consolidated statement of financial position
Loss allowances for ECL are presented in the consolidated statement of financial position as follows:

• financial assets measured at amortised cost: as a deduction from the gross carrying amount of the assets;

• loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts: generally, as a provision classified under other liabilities; 
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• where a financial instrument includes both a drawn and an undrawn component, and the Group cannot identify the ECL 

on the loan commitment component separately from those on the drawn component: the Group presents a combined 

loss allowance for both components. The combined amount is presented as a deduction from the gross carrying amount 

of the drawn component. Any excess of the loss allowance over the gross amount of the drawn component is presented 

as a provision under other liabilities; and

• debt instruments measured at FVOCI: no ECL allowance is recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position 

because the carrying amount of these assets is their fair value. However, the ECL allowance is disclosed and is recognised 

in the fair value reserve. Allowances charge for expected credit losses are recognised in the consolidated statement of 

income and changes between the amortised cost of the assets and their fair value are recognised in OCI.

3.6.5  Write-off
Loans and debt securities are written off (either partially or in full) when there is no realistic prospect of recovery. However, 

financial assets that are written off could still be subject to enforcement activities in order to comply with the Group’s 

procedures for recovery of amounts due. If the amount to be written off is greater than the accumulated loss allowance, 

the difference is first treated as an addition to the allowance that is then applied against the gross carrying amount. Any 

subsequent recoveries are credited to allowance charges for expected credit losses and other provisions.

3.6.6  Collateral valuation
To mitigate its credit risks on financial assets, the Group seeks to use collateral, where possible. The collateral comes in 

various forms, such as cash, securities, letters of credit/guarantees, real estate, receivables, inventories, other non-financial 

assets and credit enhancements such as netting agreements. Collateral, unless repossessed, is not recorded on the Group’s 

consolidated statement of financial position. However, the fair value of collateral affects the calculation of ECLs. It is generally 

assessed, at a minimum, at inception and re-assessed on a periodic basis. However, some collateral, for example, cash or 

securities relating to margining requirements, is valued daily. 

To the extent possible, the Group uses active market data for valuing financial assets held as collateral. Other financial assets 

which do not have readily determinable market values are valued using models. Non-financial collateral, such as real estate, 

is valued based on data provided by third parties such as mortgage brokers, or based on housing price indices.

3.6.7  Collateral repossessed
The Group’s policy is to determine whether a repossessed asset can be best used for its internal operations or should be 

sold. Assets determined to be useful for its internal operations are transferred to their relevant asset category, in line with 

the Group’s policy.

In its normal course of business, the Group does not physically repossess properties or other assets in its retail portfolio to 

settle outstanding debt, but engages external agents to recover funds generally at auction. Any surplus funds are returned to 

the customers/ obligors. As a result of this practice, the residential properties under legal repossession processes are not 

recorded on the consolidated statement of financial position.

3.7  Financial guarantees and loan commitments
Financial guarantees are contracts that require the Group to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss that 

it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when it is due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. 

‘Loan commitments’ are firm commitments to provide credit under pre-specified terms and conditions.

Financial guarantees issued and commitments to provide a loan at a below-market interest rate are initially measured at 

fair value and the initial fair value is amortised over the life of the guarantee or the commitment. Subsequently, they are 

measured at the higher of this amortised amount and the amount of loss allowance. 
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The Group has not issued loan commitments that are measured at FVSI. It recognises an expected credit loss allowance for 

all other loan commitments.

3.8  Government grant
The Group recognizes a government grant related to income, if there is a reasonable assurance that it will be received, 

and the Group will comply with the conditions associated with the grant. The benefit of a government deposit at a below-

market rate of interest is treated as a government grant related to income. The below-market rate deposit is recognised and 

measured in accordance with IFRS 9 Financial Instruments. The benefit of the below-market rate of interest is measured 

as the difference between the initial carrying value of the deposit determined in accordance with IFRS 9 and the proceeds 

received.

The benefit is accounted for in accordance with IAS 20. Government grant is recognised in statement of consolidated 

income on a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses the related costs for which the 

grant is intended to compensate. The grant income is only recognised when the ultimate beneficiary is the Group.

Where the customer is the ultimate beneficiary, the Group only records the respective receivable and payable amounts.

3.9  Revenue/ expenses recognition

3.9.1  Special commission income and expenses
Special commission income and expense are recognised in the consolidated statement of income using the effective interest 

method. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts of the 

financial instrument or the amortised cost of the financial instrument.

When calculating the effective interest rate for financial instruments other than credit-impaired assets, the Group estimates 

future cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial instrument, excluding expected credit losses. For credit-

impaired financial assets, a credit-adjusted effective interest rate is calculated using estimated future cash flows including 

expected credit losses.

The calculation of the effective interest rate includes transaction costs and fees and points paid or received that are an 

integral part of the effective interest rate. Transaction costs include incremental costs that are directly attributable to the 

acquisition or issue of a financial asset or financial liability.

3.9.2  Measurement of amortised cost and special commission income
The amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability is the amount at which the financial asset or financial liability 

is measured on initial recognition minus the principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortisation using the 

effective interest method of any difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount and, for financial assets, 

adjusted for any expected credit loss allowance.

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is the amortised cost of a financial asset before adjusting for any expected 

credit loss allowance.

In calculating interest income and expense, the effective interest rate is applied to the gross carrying amount of the asset 

(when the asset is not credit-impaired) or to the amortised cost of the liability.

However, for financial assets that have become credit-impaired subsequent to initial recognition, interest income is 

calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset. If the asset is no longer credit-

impaired, then the calculation of interest income reverts to the gross basis.
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For financial assets that were credit-impaired on initial recognition, interest income is calculated by applying the credit-

adjusted effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the asset. The calculation of interest income does not revert to a 

gross basis, even if the credit risk of the asset improves.

3.9.3  Exchange income/ (loss)
Exchange income/ (loss) is recognised when earned/ incurred.

3.9.4  Fee and commission income
Fee and commission income and expense that are integral to the effective interest rate on a financial asset or financial 

liability are included in the special commission income/ expense as applicable.

Income from asset management and brokerage are recognised at a point-in-time when the performance obligation of the 

Group is satisfied. 

Investment banking and corporate finance fee revenues are recognised over the period of time that the performance 

obligations are met in accordance with the applicable terms of the contract.

Other fee and commission income, including account servicing fees, sales commission, placement fees and syndication fees, 

is recognised as the related services are performed and performance obligations are achieved as point-in-time. If a loan 

commitment is not expected to result in the draw-down of a loan, then the related loan commitment fee is recognised on a 

straight-line basis over the commitment period.

Other fee and commission expenses relate mainly to transaction and service fees, which are expensed as the services are 

received.

3.10  Rendering of services
The Group provides various services to its customer. These services are either rendered separately or bundled together with 

rendering of other services.

The Group has concluded that revenue from rendering of various services related to share trading and fund management, 

trade finance, corporate finance, and advisory and other banking services, should be recognized at the point when services 

are rendered i.e., when performance obligation is satisfied. Whereas for free services related to credit card, the Group 

recognizes revenue over the period of time. 

3.10.1  Brokerage income
Brokerage income is recognised when the related transactions are executed on behalf of the customers at the price agreed 

in the contract with the customers, net of discounts and rebates. The performance obligation of the Group is satisfied when 

the Group carries out the transaction, which is considered as a performance obligation satisfied at a point in time, which 

triggers immediate recognition of the revenue, as the Group will have no further commitments.

3.10.2  Asset management fees
Asset management fees are recognised based on a fixed percentage of net assets under management (“asset-based”), or a 

percentage of returns from net assets (“returns-based”), or % of capital deployed/raised subject to applicable terms and 

conditions and service contracts with customers and funds. The Group attributes the revenue from management fees to 

the services provided during the period, because the fee relates specifically to the Group’s efforts to transfer the services 

for that period. As asset management fees are not subject to clawbacks, the management does not expect any significant 

reversal of revenue previously recognised.
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This fee compensates and contributes to single performance obligation, the Group’s obligation will generally be satisfied 

upon the provision of non-restrictive legal custodial structure and therefore recognized over time as the overall services are 

performed.

3.10.3  Advisory and investment banking services revenue
Advisory and investment banking services revenue is recognised when services are determined as complete in accordance 

with the underlying agreement based on performance obligations being met, agreed with the customer and invoiced, as 

generally set forth under the terms of the engagement.

Revenue recognition of retainer fees is recognized over a period of time and it is generally linked to the timing of 

performance obligation (i.e., monthly, quarterly, etc.).

Success fees are recognized upon the fulfilment of performance obligations. For example, either on the satisfaction of 

financial advisory services or completion of underwriting agreement.

3.11  Investments in associates
Investments in associates are initially recognised at cost and subsequently equity accounted. An associate is an entity 

in which the Group has significant influence (but not control) over financial and operating policies and which is neither 

a subsidiary nor a joint venture. Investments in associates are carried in the statement of financial position at cost, plus 

post-acquisition changes in the Group share of net assets of the associate, less any impairment in the value of individual 

investments. The Group share of its associates’ post-acquisition profits or losses are recognised in the statement of income, 

and its share of post-acquisition movements in other comprehensive income is recognised in reserves.

The cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted against the carrying amount of the investment. When the Group 

share of losses in an associate equal or exceeds its interest in the associate, including any other unsecured receivables (if 

applicable), the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of 

the associate.

Under the equity method, the investment in the associate is carried on the statement of financial position at cost plus post 

acquisition changes in the Group’s share of net assets of the associate. Goodwill relating to the associate is included in the 

carrying amount of the investment and is neither amortised nor individually tested for impairment.

The statement of income reflects the Group’s share of the results of operations of the associate. When there has been a 

change recognised directly in the equity of the associate, the Group recognises its share of any changes and discloses this, 

when applicable, in the statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains on transactions are eliminated to the extent of the 

Group’s interest in the investee. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of impairment 

in the asset transferred.

The Group’s share of profit of an associate is shown on the face of the statement of income. This is the profit attributable 

to equity holders of the associate and, therefore, is profit after tax and non-controlling interests in any subsidiaries of 

the associate. The financial statements of the associate are prepared for the same reporting period as the Group. When 

necessary, adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies in line with those of the Group.

After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise an additional impairment 

loss on its investment in its associate. The Group determines at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence 

that the investment in the associate is impaired. If this is the case, the Group calculates the amount of impairment as the 

difference between the recoverable amount of the associate and its carrying value and recognises the amount in the ‘share 

of profit of an associate’ in the statement of income.
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3.12  Settlement date accounting
All regular-way purchases and sales of financial assets are accounted for on settlement date. Regular-way purchases or 

sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the timeframe generally established by 

regulation or market convention. For financial instruments held at fair value, the Group accounts for any change in fair values 

between the trade date and the settlement date. 

A contract that requires or permits net settlement of the change in the value of the contract is not a regular way contract. 

Instead, such a contract is accounted for as a derivative in the period between the trade date and the settlement date.

3.13  Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting
Derivative financial instruments, including forward foreign exchange contracts, commission rate futures, forward rate 

agreements, currency and commission rate swaps and currency and commission rate options are measured at fair value. 

All derivatives are carried at their fair value as assets where the fair value is positive and as liabilities where the fair value is 

negative. Fair values are obtained by reference to quoted market prices, discounted cash flow models and pricing models, as 

appropriate.

The treatment of changes in fair values depends on classifying derivatives into the following categories:

3.13.1  Derivatives held for trading
Changes in the fair value of derivatives held for trading are taken directly to the consolidated statement of income and 

disclosed under trading income, net. Derivatives held for trading do not qualify for hedge accounting and embedded 

derivatives.

3.13.2  Embedded derivatives 
Derivatives may be embedded in another contractual arrangement (a host contract). The Group accounts for an embedded 

derivative separately from the host contract when:

• the host contract is not an asset in the scope of IFRS 9;

• the terms of the embedded derivative would meet the definition of a derivative if they were contained in a separate 

contract; and

• the economic characteristics and risks of the embedded derivative are not closely related to the economic 

characteristics and risks of the host contract.

Separated embedded derivatives are measured at fair value. with all changes in fair value recognised in statement of income 

unless they form part of a qualifying cash flow or net investment hedging relationship.

3.13.3  Hedge accounting 
The Group elected, as a policy choice permitted under IFRS 9, to continue to apply hedge accounting in accordance with 

IAS 39.

The Group designates certain derivatives as hedging instruments in qualifying hedging relationships to manage exposures 

to interest rate, foreign currency, and credit risks, including exposures arising from highly probable forecast transactions 

and firm commitments. In order to manage particular risks, the Group applies hedge accounting for transactions that meet 

specific criteria. 

For the purpose of hedge accounting, hedges are classified into two categories: (a) fair value hedges which hedge the 

exposure to changes in the fair value of a recognised asset or liability and (b) cash flow hedges which hedge exposure to 

variability in cash flows that are either attributable to a particular risk associated with a recognised asset or liability or to a 

highly probable forecasted transaction that will affect the reported net gain or loss. 
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In order to qualify for hedge accounting, the hedge should be expected to be highly effective, i.e. the changes in fair value 

or cash flows of the hedging instrument should effectively offset corresponding changes in the hedged item and should be 

reliably measurable. At inception of the hedge, the risk management objective and strategy are documented including the 

identification of the hedging instrument, the related hedged item, the nature of risk being hedged, and how the Group will 

assess the effectiveness of the hedging relationship. 

Subsequently, the hedge is required to be assessed and determined to be an effective hedge on an ongoing basis.

3.13.3.1  Fair Value Hedges 

When a derivative is designated as the hedging instrument in a hedge of the change in fair value of a recognised asset 

or liability or a firm commitment that could affect statement of income, any gain or loss from re-measuring the hedging 

instruments to fair value is recognised immediately in the consolidated statement of income together with change in the fair 

value of the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk under non-trading gains / losses in the statement of income. 

For hedged items measured at amortised cost, where the fair value hedge of a commission bearing financial instrument 

ceases to meet the criteria for hedge accounting or is sold, exercised or terminated, the difference between the carrying 

value of the hedged item on termination and the face value is amortised over the remaining term of the original hedge 

using the effective commission rate method. If the hedged item is derecognised, the unamortised fair value adjustment is 

recognised immediately in the consolidated statement of income.

3.13.3.2  Micro fair value hedges 

A fair value hedge relationship is a ’Micro fair value hedge’ when the hedged item (or group of items) is a distinctively 

identifiable asset or liability hedged by one or a few hedging instruments. The financial instruments hedged for interest rate 

risk in a micro fair value hedge relationship include fixed rate corporate and small business loans, fixed rate debt instruments 

at FVOCI and fixed rate issued long-term deposits. These hedge relationships are assessed for prospective and retrospective 

hedge effectiveness on a monthly basis. If the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised, or when the 

hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, or the Group decides to voluntarily discontinue the hedging 

relationship, the hedge relationship is discontinued prospectively.

If the relationship does not meet the hedge effectiveness criteria, the Group discontinues hedge accounting from the last 

date on which compliance with hedge effectiveness was demonstrated. If the hedge accounting relationship is terminated 

for an item recorded at amortised cost, the accumulated fair value hedge adjustment to the carrying amount of the hedged 

item is amortised over the remaining term of the original hedge by recalculating the EIR. If the hedged item is derecognised, 

the unamortised fair value adjustment is recognised immediately in the income statement.  For fair value hedge relationships 

where the hedged item is not measured at amortised cost, such as debt instruments at FVOCI, changes in fair value that 

were recorded in the income statement whilst hedge accounting was in place are amortised in a similar way to amortised 

cost instruments using the EIR method. However, as these instruments are measured at their fair values in the statement of 

financial position, the fair value hedge adjustments are transferred from the income statement to OCI. There were no such 

instances in either the current year or in the comparative year. 

3.13.3.3  Portfolio macro fair value hedges 

The Group applies macro fair value hedging to its fixed rate mortgages. The Group determines hedged items by identifying 

portfolios of homogenous loans based on their contractual interest rates, maturity and other risk characteristics. Loans 

within the Identified portfolios are allocated to repricing time buckets based on expected, rather than contractual, repricing 

dates. The hedging instruments (pay fix/receive floating rate interest rate swaps) are designated appropriately to those 

repricing time buckets. Hedge effectiveness is measured on a monthly basis, by comparing fair value movements of the 

designated proportion of the bucketed loans due to the hedged risk, against the fair value movements of the derivatives, to 

ensure that they are within an 80% to 125% range.  The aggregated fair value changes in the hedged loans are recognised as 

an asset in the Fair value hedge accounting adjustment on the face of the statement of financial position.
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Should hedge effectiveness testing highlight that movements for a particular bucket fall outside the 80-125% range (i.e., 

the hedge relationship was ineffective for the period), no fair value hedge accounting adjustment is recorded for that 

month for that particular bucket. Regardless of the results of the retrospective hedge effectiveness testing, at the end of 

every month, in order to minimise the ineffectiveness from early repayments and accommodate new exposures, the Group 

voluntarily de-designates the hedge relationships and re-designates them as new hedges. At de-designation, the fair value 

hedge accounting adjustments are amortised on a straight-line basis over the original hedged life. The Group has elected to 

commence amortisation at the date of de-designation.

IBOR reform Phase 2 provide relief for items within a designated group of items such as those forming part of the Group’s 

macro fair value hedging strategy, that are amended as a result of IBOR reform. The reliefs allow the Group’s hedging strategy 

to remain and not be discontinued. As items within the hedged group transition at different times from IBORs to RFRs, the 

Group transfers them to sub-groups of instruments that reference RFRs as the hedged risk.

3.13.3.4  Cash flow hedges

For designated and qualifying cash flow hedging, derivatives instruments in a hedge of a variability in cash flows attributable 

to a particular risk  associated with  recognised asset or a liability or a highly probable forecast transaction that could affect 

the statement of income, the portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument that is determined to be an effective 

portion is recognised directly in other comprehensive income and the ineffective portion, if any, is recognised in the 

consolidated statement of income. For cash flow hedges affecting future transactions, the gains or losses recognised in other 

reserves, are transferred to the consolidated statement of income in the same period in which the hedged item affects the 

consolidated statement of income. 

However, if the Group expects that all or a portion of a loss recognised in other comprehensive income will not be 

recovered in one or more future periods, it shall reclassify into the statement of income as a reclassification adjustment the 

amount that is not to be recognised.  

Where the hedged forecasted transaction results in the recognition of a non- financial asset or a non-financial liability, then 

at the time such asset or liability is recognised the associated gains or losses that had previously been recognised directly 

in other comprehensive income are included in the initial measurement of the acquisition cost or other carrying amount 

of such asset or liability. When the hedging instrument is expired or sold, terminated, or exercised, or no longer qualifies for 

hedge accounting, or the forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, or the Group revokes the designation then 

hedge accounting is discontinued prospectively.

At that point of time, any cumulative gain or loss on the cash flow hedging instrument that was recognised in other 

comprehensive income from the period when the hedge was effective is transferred from equity to statement of income 

when the forecasted transaction occurs. Where the hedged forecasted transaction is no longer expected to occur and 

affects the statement of income, the net cumulative gain or loss recognised in “other comprehensive income” is transferred 

immediately to the consolidated statement of income for the period.

3.14  Foreign currencies
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange 

rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated 

using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value is determined.   

The gain or loss arising on translation of non-monetary items measured at fair value is treated in line with the recognition 

of the gain or loss on the change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation differences on items whose fair value gain or loss is 

recognised in OCI or profit or loss are also recognised in OCI or profit or loss, respectively).   
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In determining the spot exchange rate to use on initial recognition of the related asset, expense or income (or part of it) 

on the derecognition of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to advance consideration, the date of the 

transaction is the date on which the Group initially recognises the non- monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from 

the advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the Group determines the transaction 

date for each payment or receipt of advance consideration.  

The Group’s consolidated financial statements are presented in Saudi Arabian Riyals, which is also the parent company’s 

functional currency. Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and items included in the financial 

statements of each entity are measured using that functional currency. 

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into Saudi Arabian Riyals at the spot rates prevailing at transaction dates. 

Monetary assets and liabilities at year-end (other than monetary items that form part of the net investment in a foreign 

operation), denominated in foreign currencies, are translated into Saudi Arabian Riyals at rates of exchange prevailing at 

the reporting date. The foreign currency gain or loss on monetary items is the difference between amortised cost in the 

functional currency at the beginning of the year adjusted for the effective interest rate and payments during the year, and 

the amortised cost in foreign currency translated at the exchange rate at the end of the year. All differences arising on non-

trading activities are taken to other non-operating income in the statement of income, with the exception of differences on 

foreign currency borrowings that provide an effective hedge against a net investment in foreign entity.

Foreign currency differences arising from the translation of the following items are recognized in OCI:

• FVOCI equity instruments in respect of which an election has been made to present subsequent changes in fair value in 

OCI;

• a financial liability designated as a hedge of the net investment in a foreign operation to the extent that the hedge is 

effective; and

• qualifying cash flow hedges to the extent that the hedge is effective.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange 

rates as at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are 

translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value is determined.

As at the reporting date, the assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into Saudi Arabian Riyals at the rate 

of exchange as at the statement of financial position date, and their statement of incomes are translated at the weighted 

average exchange rates for the year. Exchange differences arising on translation are recognized in other comprehensive 

income. Goodwill and fair value adjustments, arising on the acquisition of foreign subsidiaries are maintained in the 

functional currency of the foreign operation are translated at the closing rate and included in hedges of net investments 

where appropriate. 

If the operation is a non-wholly owned subsidiary, then the relevant proportionate share of the translation difference is 

allocated to the non-controlling interest.

When a foreign operation is disposed of such that control, significant influence or joint control is lost, the cumulative amount 

in the translation reserve related to that foreign operation is reclassified to the statement of income as part of the gain or 

loss on disposal. When the Group disposes of only part of its interest in a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation while 

retaining control, the relevant proportion of the cumulative amount is reattributed to non-controlling interests. When the 

Group disposes of only part of its investment in an associate or joint venture that includes a foreign operation while retaining 

significant influence or joint control, the relevant proportion of the cumulative amount is reclassified to the statement of 

income.
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3.15  Sale and repurchase agreements  
Assets sold with a simultaneous commitment to repurchase at a specified future date (repos) continue to be recognised 

on the consolidated statement of financial position and are measured in accordance with relevant accounting policies 

for trading, FVSI, FVOCI and at amortised cost securities. The counterparty liability for amounts received under these 

agreements is included in due to banks, SAMA and other financial institutions or customers’ deposits, as appropriate. The 

difference between the sale and repurchase price is treated as special commission expense and accrued over the life of 

the repo agreement on an effective yield basis. Assets purchased with a corresponding commitment to resell at a specified 

future date (reverse repo) are not recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position of the Group. Amounts paid 

under these agreements are included in cash and balances with SAMA, due from banks, SAMA and other financial institutions 

or loans and advances, as appropriate. The difference between the purchase and resale price is treated as special 

commission income and accrued over the life of the reverse repo agreement on an effective yield basis.

3.16  Deposits, debt securities issued and subordinated liabilities
When the Group designates a financial liability as at FVSI, the amount of change in the fair value of the liability that is 

attributable to changes in its credit risk is presented in OCI as a liability credit reserve. On initial recognition of the financial 

liability, the Group assesses whether presenting the amount of change in the fair value of the liability that is attributable to 

credit risk in OCI would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in statement of income.

This assessment is made by using a regression analysis to compare:

• the expected changes in the fair value of the liability related to changes in the credit risk; with

• the impact on statement of income of expected changes in fair value of the related instruments.

3.17  Other real estate owned
The Group, in the ordinary course of business, acquires certain real estate against settlement of loans and advances. Such 

real estate is considered as assets held for sale and are initially stated at the carrying amount of the defaulted loans and 

advances. No depreciation is charged on such real estate.

Subsequent to initial recognition, write downs to fair value, less costs to sell, is charged to the consolidated statement of 

income. Similarly, subsequent gains in fair value less costs to sell are recognised as income to the extent that it does not 

exceed the cumulative write down. Gains or losses on disposal are recognised in the consolidated statement of income.

3.18  Property and equipment
Property and equipment are stated at cost and presented net of accumulated depreciation and accumulated allowance for 

expected credit losses. Freehold land is not depreciated.

Changes in the expected useful life are accounted for by changing the period or method, as appropriate, and treating it as a 

change in accounting estimates.

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it is probable that the future economic benefits of the expenditure will flow 

to the group. On-going repairs and maintenance are expensed as incurred.

The cost of property and equipment is depreciated on a straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of assets as 

follows:

• Buildings: 33 years;

• leasehold improvements: The shorter of lease term or useful life; and

• furniture, equipment, vehicles, computer and software: 3 to 10 years.
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The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed and adjusted if appropriate, at reporting date. Gains and losses 

on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount. These are included in the consolidated 

statement of income.

All assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may 

not be recoverable. An asset’s carrying amount is written down to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is 

greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

3.19  Provisions  
Provisions other than allowance charges for expected credit losses are recognised when a reliable estimate can be made 

of a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events that is more likely than not to lead to an outflow of 

resources to settle the obligation.

3.19.1  Provisions for liabilities and charges
The Group receives legal claims against it in the normal course of business. Management has made judgements as to the 

likelihood of any claim succeeding in making provisions. The time of concluding legal claims is uncertain, as is the amount of 

possible outflow of economic benefits. Timing and cost ultimately depend on the due process being followed as per law.

3.20  Accounting for leases

3.20.1  Right of Use Assets / Lease Liabilities
On initial recognition, at inception of the contract, the Group assesses whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. A 

contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time 

in exchange for consideration. Control is identified if most of the benefits are flowing to the group and the group can direct 

the usage of such assets.

At inception or on reassessment of a contract that contains a lease component, the Group allocates the consideration in 

the contract to each lease component on the basis of their relative stand-alone prices. However, for the leases of land and 

buildings in which it is a lessee, the Group has elected not to separate non-lease components and account for the lease and 

non-lease components as a single lease component.

3.20.2 Right of Use Asset
The Group applies a cost model, and measures the right of use of an asset at cost;

• less any accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses; and 

• adjusted for any re-measurement of the lease liability for lease modifications.

3.20.3  Lease liability   
On initial recognition, the lease liability is the present value of all remaining payments to the lessor, discounted using the 

interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, the Group’s incremental borrowing rate. 

Generally, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate.

After the commencement date, the Group measures the lease liability by:

• Increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability;

• reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made; and

• re-measuring the carrying amount to reflect any re-assessment or lease modification. 
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The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. It is remeasured when there is a change 

in future lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, if there is a change in the Group’s estimate of the amount 

expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee, or if the Group changes its assessment of whether it will exercise a 

purchase, extension or termination option.

When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the right-

of-use asset, or is recorded in consolidated statement of income if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been 

reduced to zero.

3.20.4  Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
The Group has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for short-term leases that have a lease 

term of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets, including IT equipment. The Group recognises the lease payments 

associated with these leases as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

3.21  Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents are defined as those amounts 

included in cash, cash with others, balances with SAMA (excluding statutory deposit) and due from banks and other financial 

institutions maturing within 90 days.

3.22  Employee defined benefit obligation
The provision for employee defined benefit obligation is made based on actuarial valuation in accordance with Saudi Arabian 

Labour Laws. Net obligation, with respect to end of service benefits, to the Group is reviewed by using a projected unit 

credit method. Actuarial gains and losses (Re-measurements) are recognized in full in the period in which they occur in other 

comprehensive income. Re-measurements are not reclassified to consolidated statement of income in subsequent periods.

Interest expense is calculated by applying the discount rate to the net defined benefit liability. The Group recognizes the 

following changes in the net defined benefit obligation under ‘salaries and employee related expenses’ in the consolidated 

statement of income.

• Service costs comprising current service costs, past-service costs, gains and losses on curtailments and non-routine 

settlements; and

• net interest expense or income.

The assumptions used to calculate the scheme obligations include assumptions such as expected future salaries growth, 

expected employee resignation rates, and discount rate to discount the future cash flows.

3.23  Zakat and income tax

3.23.1  Zakat
The Group is subject to Zakat in accordance with the regulations of the Zakat, Tax and Customs Authority (ZATCA). The Zakat 

expense is charged to the consolidated statement of income. Zakat principles are not the same basis as income tax and as 

such no deferred tax is required to be calculated.

3.23.2  Income tax
The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable income, based on the 

applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction, adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to 

temporary differences and to unused tax losses.
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The current income tax charge is calculated based on the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the 

reporting period in the countries where the Bank and its subsidiaries and associates operate and generate taxable income. 

Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation 

is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions, where appropriate, on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the 

tax authorities.

Adjustments arising from the final income tax assessments are recorded in the period in which such assessments are made.

3.23.3  Value added tax (“VAT”)
The Group collects VAT from its customers for qualifying services and makes VAT payments to its vendors for qualifying 

payments. On a monthly basis, net VAT remittances are made to ZATCA representing VAT collected from its customers, net 

of any recoverable VAT on payments. Unrecoverable VAT is borne by the Group and is either expensed or in the case of 

property, equipment, and intangibles payments, is capitalised and either depreciated or amortised as part of the capital 

cost.

3.23.4 Deferred income tax
Deferred income tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences arising between the carrying amounts 

of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and amounts used for the taxation purposes. The amount of deferred 

tax provided is based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 

using the tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the 

extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available and the credits can be utilised. A deferred tax asset is 

reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefits will be realised.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for temporary differences between the carrying amount and tax 

bases of investments in foreign operations where the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary 

differences and it is probable that the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and liabilities 

and where the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation authority. Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset 

where the entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and 

settle the liability simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in the consolidated statement of income, except to the extent that it relates to items 

recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised.

3.24  Investment management services
The Group offers investment services to its customers, through its subsidiary, ANBC, which include management of certain 

investment funds. The Group’s share of these funds is included in the FVSI investments and fees earned are disclosed 

under related party transactions. Assets held in trust or in a fiduciary capacity are not treated as assets of the Group and 

accordingly are not included in the consolidated financial statements.

3.25  Shari’ah compliant banking products
In addition to conventional banking, the Group offers its customers the following non-special commission based banking 

products, which are approved by its Shari’ah Board:

3.  Summary of material accounting policies (continued)
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3.25.1 Murabaha is an agreement whereby the Group sells to a customer a commodity or an asset, which the Group has  

 purchased and acquired based on a promise received from the customer to buy. The selling price comprises the  

 cost plus an agreed profit margin.

3.25.2 Ijarah is an agreement whereby the Group, acting as a lessor, purchases or constructs an asset for lease according  

 to the customer request (lessee), based on its promise to lease the asset for an agreed rent and specific period   

 that would transfer the ownership of the leased asset to the lessee by the end of the lease term.

3.25.3 Tawarruq is a form of Murabaha transactions where the Group purchases a commodity and sells it to the customer.  

 The customer sells the underlying commodity at spot and uses the proceeds for his financing requirements.

These non-commission based banking products are included in “loans and advances” in conformity with the related 

accounting policies described in these consolidated financial statements.

4.  Cash and balances with Saudi Central Bank

In accordance with the Banking Control Law and regulations issued by SAMA, the Bank is required to maintain a statutory 

deposit with SAMA at stipulated percentages of its deposit liabilities calculated on monthly averages at the end of reporting 

period. The statutory deposit with SAMA is not available to finance the Bank’s day-to-day operations and is therefore not 

part of cash and cash equivalents (note 28). Reverse repo with SAMA represents money market placements. 

5.  Due from banks and other financial institutions, net

2023 2022

Cash in hand  1,042,122 1,200,580

Cash held in custody with others  667,541 421,275

Statutory deposit  8,823,150 8,076,397

Reverse repo with SAMA  358,000 2,722,000

Current account  1,369 13,945

Total  10,892,182 12,434,197

2023 2022

Current accounts  488,831  911,515 

Money market placements  1,991,427  5,140,282 

ECL allowance  (2,309)  (3,762)

Total  2,477,949  6,048,035 
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5.1  The following table further explains changes in gross carrying amount of the due from banks 
and other financial institutions:

5.2  An analysis of changes of the ECL allowance for due from banks and other financial 
institutions are as follows:

Due from banks and other financial institutions

2023

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Opening balance as at January 1  6,051,797 - -  6,051,797 

Transfers to stage 1  -   - -  -   

Transfers to stage 2  -   - -  -   

Transfers to stage 3  -   - -  -   

Net change for the year  (3,571,539) - - (3,571,539)

Write-offs  -   - -  -   

Closing balance as at December 31  2,480,258 - -  2,480,258 

Due from banks and other financial institutions

2022

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Opening balance as at January 1 2,287,130 - 750 2,287,880

Transfers to stage 1  -    -    -    -   

Transfers to stage 2  -    -    -    -   

Transfers to stage 3  -    -    -    -   

Net change for the year  3,764,667  -    (750)  3,763,917 

Write-offs  -    -    -    -   

Closing balance as at December 31  6,051,797  -    -    6,051,797 

Due from banks and other financial institutions

2023

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Opening balance as at January 1  3,762 - -  3,762 

Transfers to stage 1  -   - -  -   

Transfers to stage 2  -   - -  -   

Transfers to stage 3  -   - -  -   

Net charge for the year  (1,453) - -  (1,453)

Write-offs  -   - -  -   

Closing balance as at December 31  2,309 - -  2,309 

5.  Due from banks and other financial institutions, net (continued) 

144



arab national bank – Saudi Joint Stock Company

Note to consolidated financial statements 
As at and for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022

All amounts in thousands of Saudi Riyals unless stated otherwise

6.  Investments, net

6.1  Investment securities are classified as follows:

Certain equity investments designated at FVOCI were disposed off during the year and a cumulative net gain was transferred 

within the equity amounted to SAR 13,426 thousands for the year ended December 31, 2023 (2022: 13,135 thousands).

Investments include items which have been utlised as pledged collateral under repurchase agreement and securities 

available under other arrangements. The market value of such investments held as a collateral against active repurchase 

agreements at December 31, 2023 is SAR 86 million (2022: SAR 4,252 million).

6.2  Investments by type of securities:

Due from banks and other financial institutions

2022

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Opening balance as at January 1 3,930 - 750 4,680

Transfers to stage 1  -    -    -    -   

Transfers to stage 2  -    -    -    -   

Transfers to stage 3  -    -    -    -   

Net charge for the year  (168)  -    (750)  (918)

Write-offs  -    -    -    -   

Closing balance as at December 31  3,762  -    -    3,762 

2023 2022

Investments at amortised cost 36,946,218 36,758,208

Equity investments at FVOCI 2,611,581 2,335,427

Debt investments at FVOCI 6,481,654 1,327,381

Investments at FVSI 648,747 618,811

ECL allowance (12,370) (22,069)

Total 46,675,830 41,017,758

Domestic International Total

2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

Fixed rate debt securities 26,579,230 25,020,873 4,074,350  622,326 30,653,580  25,643,199 

Floating rate debt securities 12,774,292 12,442,390 -  -   12,774,292  12,442,390 

Equities and funds 2,693,436 2,465,111 566,892 489,127 3,260,328 2,954,238

ECL allowance (11,482)  (22,069) (888)  -   (12,370)  (22,069)

Total 42,035,476 39,906,305 4,640,354  1,111,453 46,675,830  41,017,758 
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6.3  Staging details by class of investments:

6.3.1  The following table further explains changes in gross carrying amount of debt investments at 
amortised cost:

6.3.2  The following table further explains changes in gross carrying amount of debt investments at FVOCI:

Debt instruments carried at amortised cost

2023

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Opening balance as at January 1  36,758,208 - -  36,758,208 

Transfers to stage 1  -   - -  -   

Transfers to stage 2  -   - -  -   

Transfers to stage 3  -   - -  -   

Net change for the year  188,010 - -  188,010 

Write-offs  -   - -  -   

Closing balance as at December 31 36,946,218 - - 36,946,218 

Debt instruments carried at amortised cost

2022

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Opening balance as at January 1 40,169,517 - - 40,169,517

Transfers to stage 1  -    -    -    -   

Transfers to stage 2  -    -    -    -   

Transfers to stage 3  -    -    -    -   

Net change for the year (3,411,309)  -    -   (3,411,309)

Write-offs  -    -    -    -   

Closing balance as at December 31 36,758,208  -    -   36,758,208 

Debt instruments carried at FVOCI

2023

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Opening balance as at January 1  1,327,381 - -  1,327,381 

Transfers to stage 1  -    -    -    -   

Transfers to stage 2  -    -    -    -   

Transfers to stage 3  -    -    -    -   

Net change for the year  5,154,273  -    -    5,154,273 

Write-offs  -    -    -    -   

Closing balance as at December 31  6,481,654  -    -   6,481,654 

6.  Investments, net (continued)
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6.3.3  The analysis of changes in ECL allowance for debt instruments carried at amortised cost:

Debt instruments carried at FVOCI

2022

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Opening balance as at January 1 981,225 7,625 - 988,850

Transfers to stage 1  -    -    -    -   

Transfers to stage 2  -    -    -    -   

Transfers to stage 3  -    -    -    -   

Net change for the year  346,156  (7,625)  -    338,531 

Write-offs  -    -    -    -   

Closing balance as at December 31  1,327,381  -    -    1,327,381 

Debt instruments carried at amortised cost

2023

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Opening balance as at January 1  22,069 - -  22,069 

Transfers to stage 1  -    -    -    -   

Transfers to stage 2  -    -    -    -   

Transfers to stage 3  -    -    -    -   

Net charge for the year  (9,699)  -    -    (9,699)

Write-offs  -    -    -    -   

Closing balance as at December 31  12,370  -    -    12,370 

Debt instruments carried at amortised cost

2022

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Opening balance as at January 1 19,810 - - 19,810

Transfers to stage 1  -    -    -    -   

Transfers to stage 2  -    -    -    -   

Transfers to stage 3  -    -    -    -   

Net charge for the year  2,259  -    -    2,259 

Write-offs  -    -    -    -   

Closing balance as at December 31  22,069  -    -    22,069 
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6.3.4  The analysis of changes in ECL allowance for debt instruments carried at FVOCI:

6.4  The analysis of the composition of investments is as follows:

Debt instruments carried at FVOCI

2023

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Opening balance as at January 1  14,005 - -  14,005 

Transfers to stage 1  -    -    -    -   

Transfers to stage 2  -    -    -    -   

Transfers to stage 3  -    -    -    -   

Net charge for the year  12,728  -    -    12,728 

Write-offs  -    -    -    -   

Closing balance as at December 31  26,733  -    -    26,733 

Debt instruments carried at FVOCI

2022

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Opening balance as at January 1 4,822 188 - 5,010

Transfers to stage 1  -    -    -    -   

Transfers to stage 2  -    -    -    -   

Transfers to stage 3  -    -    -    -   

Net charge for the year  9,183  (188)  -    8,995 

Write-offs  -    -    -    -   

Closing balance as at December 31  14,005  -    -    14,005 

2023 2022

Quoted Unquoted Total Quoted Unquoted Total

Fixed rate debt securities 30,089,184 564,396 30,653,580 25,078,762  564,437  25,643,199 

Floating rate debt securities 10,197,286 2,577,006 12,774,292  9,833,270  2,609,120  12,442,390 

Equities and funds 2,778,726 481,602 3,260,328 2,464,289 489,949 2,954,238

ECL allowance  (5,469)  (6,901)  (12,370)  (22,069)  -    (22,069)

Investments, net  43,059,727  3,616,103  46,675,830 37,354,252  3,663,506  41,017,758 

6.  Investments, net (continued)
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6.5  The analysis of unrealised gains and losses and fair values of investments held at 
amortised cost is as follows:

6.6  The analysis of investments by counter-party is as follows:

6.7  Investments include Shariah based investments as follows:

2023 2022

Carrying
value

Gross 
unrealised 

gains

Gross
unrealised 

losses
Fair

value
Carrying

value

Gross 
unrealised 

gains

Gross
Unrealized

 losses
Fair

value

Fixed rate 
debt securities

24,869,900  79,527 (2,800,308) 22,149,119 24,701,976 226,013 (2,483,549) 22,444,440 

Floating rate 
debt securities

12,076,318 104,125  (1,474) 12,178,969 12,056,232  263,571  (5,030) 12,314,773 

ECL allowance (12,370)  -    -    (12,370)  (22,069)  -    -   (22,069)

Total 36,933,848 183,652 (2,801,782) 34,315,718 36,736,139 489,584 (2,488,579) 34,737,144 

2023 2022

Government and quasi government  35,810,430  35,854,439 

Banks and other financial institutions  3,711,237  1,854,325 

Corporate  6,970,238  3,147,922 

Other  183,925  161,072 

Total  46,675,830  41,017,758 

2023 2022

Investments at amortised cost 26,563,633  27,809,166 

Equity investments at FVOCI 2,279,213  2,087,784 

Debt investments at FVOCI 1,075,489  569,894 

Investments at FVSI 627,911  481,568 

ECL allowance (9,661)  (18,162)

Total 30,536,585  30,930,250 
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7.  Loans and advances, net

7.1  Loans and advances held at amortised cost comprise of the following:

7.2  Loans and advances include Shariah based products as follow:

7.3 The following table further explains changes in gross carrying amount:

2023 Overdrafts Credit cards
Consumer

loans
Commercial 

loans and others Total

Performing loans and advances  3,696,654  988,993  39,790,378  108,786,407  153,262,432 

Non-performing loans and 
advances

 15,221  23,365  93,505  2,169,747  2,301,838 

Total loans and advances  3,711,875  1,012,358  39,883,883  110,956,154  155,564,270 

ECL allowance  (121,528)  (89,313)  (478,570)  (2,639,750)  (3,329,161)

Loans and advances, net  3,590,347  923,045  39,405,313  108,316,404 152,235,109 

2022 Overdrafts
Credit
cards

Consumer
loans

Commercial 
loans and others Total

Performing loans and advances  3,018,285  726,303  36,202,582  105,154,502  145,101,672 

Non-performing loans and 
advances

 26,729  12,076  70,894  2,537,256  2,646,955 

Total loans and advances  3,045,014  738,379  36,273,476  107,691,758 147,748,627 

ECL allowance  (183,314)  (63,458)  (366,072)  (3,306,964)  (3,919,808)

Loans and advances, net  2,861,700  674,921  35,907,404  104,384,794 143,828,819 

2023 2022

Murabaha  20,199,827  19,422,102 

Tawarruq  98,265,965  78,307,804 

Others  1,520,799  2,064,604 

ECL allowance  (2,881,617)  (1,193,164)

Total  117,104,974  98,601,346 

Total loans and advances

2023

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Opening balance as at January 1  133,134,295  11,885,608  2,728,724 147,748,627 

Transfers to stage 1  3,025,099  (2,971,344)  (53,755)  -   

Transfers to stage 2  (4,599,398)  4,861,586  (262,188)  -   

Transfers to stage 3  (185,714)  (482,745)  668,459  -   

Net change for the year  7,286,400  1,238,299  763,437  9,288,136 

Write-offs  -    -    (1,472,493)  (1,472,493)

Closing balance as at December 31  138,660,682  14,531,404  2,372,184 155,564,270 
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Total loans and advances

2022

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Opening balance as at January 1  114,858,544  12,711,783  2,217,235  129,787,562 

Transfers to stage 1  2,109,972  (2,097,200)  (12,772) -

Transfers to stage 2  (2,740,753)  2,755,855  (15,102) -

Transfers to stage 3  (178,175)  (737,535)  915,710 -

Net change for the year  19,084,707  (747,295)  (106,305)  18,231,107 

Write-offs - - (270,042) (270,042)

Closing balance as at December 31 133,134,295  11,885,608  2,728,724 147,748,627

Overdrafts

2023

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Opening balance as at January 1  2,837,495  178,865  28,654  3,045,014 

Transfers to stage 1  39,025  (38,035)  (990)  -   

Transfers to stage 2  (283,657)  283,657  -    -   

Transfers to stage 3  (10)  (970)  980  -   

Net change for the year  642,929  37,355  113,713  793,997 

Write-offs  -    -    (127,136)  (127,136)

Closing balance as at December 31  3,235,782  460,872  15,221  3,711,875 

Overdrafts

2022

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Opening balance as at January 1  2,785,749  163,479  13,444  2,962,672 

Transfers to stage 1  8,390  (8,390)  -   -

Transfers to stage 2  (39,390)  39,390  -   -

Transfers to stage 3  (4,837)  (36,595)  41,432 -

Net change for the year  87,583  20,981  (26,222)  82,342 

Write-offs - - - -

Closing balance as at December 31  2,837,495  178,865  28,654 3,045,014

Credit cards

2023

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Opening balance as at January 1  558,127  167,082  13,170  738,379 

Transfers to stage 1  83,519  (82,941)  (578)  -   

Transfers to stage 2  (102,695)  103,085  (390)  -   

Transfers to stage 3  (6,476)  (3,826)  10,302  -   

Net change for the year  257,851  12,115  57,075  327,041 

Write-offs  -    -    (53,062)  (53,062)

Closing balance as at December 31  790,326  195,515  26,517  1,012,358 
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Credit cards

2022

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Opening balance as at January 1  388,485  127,316  8,141  523,942 

Transfers to stage 1  48,819  (48,433)  (386) -

Transfers to stage 2  (84,435)  84,646  (211) -

Transfers to stage 3  (2,895)  (2,098)  4,993 -

Net change for the year  208,153  5,651  20,927 234,731

Write-offs - - (20,294) (20,294)

Closing balance as at December 31  558,127  167,082  13,170 738,379

Consumer loans

2023

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Opening balance as at January 1  33,137,873  3,033,377  102,226  36,273,476 

Transfers to stage 1  953,055  (930,108)  (22,947)  -   

Transfers to stage 2  (2,217,956)  2,230,571  (12,615)  -   

Transfers to stage 3  (56,052)  (52,291)  108,343  -   

Net change for the year  4,121,609  (489,975)  257,423  3,889,057 

Write-offs  -    -    (278,650)  (278,650)

Closing balance as at December 31  35,938,529  3,791,574  153,780  39,883,883 

Consumer loans

2022

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Opening balance as at January 1  30,716,088  2,226,179  81,673  33,023,940 

Transfers to stage 1  709,369  (696,983)  (12,386) -

Transfers to stage 2  (1,984,827)  1,994,478  (9,651) -

Transfers to stage 3  (49,432)  (44,900)  94,332 -

Net change for the year  3,746,675  (445,397)  157,610 3,458,888

Write-offs - - (209,352) (209,352)

Closing balance as at December 31  33,137,873  3,033,377  102,226 36,273,476

Commercial loans and others

2023

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Opening balance as at January 1 96,600,800  8,506,284  2,584,674 107,691,758 

Transfers to stage 1  1,949,500  (1,920,260)  (29,240)  -   

Transfers to stage 2 (1,995,090)  2,244,273  (249,183)  -   

Transfers to stage 3  (123,176)  (425,658)  548,834  -   

Net change for the year  2,264,011  1,678,804  335,226  4,278,041 

Write-offs  -    -   (1,013,645)  (1,013,645)

Closing balance as at December 31 98,696,045  10,083,443  2,176,666 110,956,154 

7.  Loans and advances, net (continued)
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Commercial loans and others

2022

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Opening balance as at January 1  80,968,222  10,194,809  2,113,977  93,277,008 

Transfers to stage 1  1,343,394  (1,343,394)  -   -

Transfers to stage 2  (632,101)  637,341  (5,240) -

Transfers to stage 3  (121,011)  (653,942)  774,953 -

Net change for the year  15,042,296  (328,530)  (258,620)  14,455,146 

Write-offs - - (40,396) (40,396)

Closing balance as at December 31  96,600,800  8,506,284  2,584,674 107,691,758

7.4  ECL allowance for expected credit losses:

7.4.1  Movement in ECL allowance balance is as follows:

ECL allowance for loans and advances, net for the year ended December 31, 2023 amounted to SAR 721,405 thousands 

(2022: SAR 896,672 thousands) (note 25.1), including bad debts directly written-off to consolidated statement of income 

amounting to SAR 19,372 thousands (2022: SAR 39,575 thousands), and net of recoveries amounting to SAR 260,928 

thousands (2022: SAR 219,296 thousands). Financial assets of SAR 540,591 thousnads, were subject to nonsubstantial 

modification during the year, with a resulting net loss of SAR 81,115 thousands.

2023 Overdrafts Credit cards
Consumer 

loans
Commercial 

loans and others Total

Opening balance as at January 1  183,314  63,458  366,072  3,306,964  3,919,808 

Net charge for the year  65,350  78,917  391,148  346,431  881,846 

Written-off against allowance  (127,136)  (53,062)  (278,650)  (1,013,645)  (1,472,493)

Closing balance as at December 31  121,528  89,313  478,570  2,639,750  3,329,161 

2022 Overdrafts Credit cards
Consumer 

loans
Commercial 

loans and others Total

Opening balance as at January 1  110,072  56,746  370,582  2,576,057  3,113,457 

Net charge for the year  73,242  27,006  204,842  771,303  1,076,393 

Written-off against allowance  -    (20,294)  (209,352)  (40,396)  (270,042)

Closing balance as at December 31  183,314  63,458  366,072  3,306,964  3,919,808 
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7.4.2  An analysis of changes in the ECL allowance by product is as follows:

Total loans and advances

2023

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Opening balance as at January 1  1,012,772  1,348,817  1,558,219  3,919,808 

Transfers to stage 1  191,950  (175,377)  (16,573)  -   

Transfers to stage 2  (48,657)  121,470  (72,813)  -   

Transfers to stage 3  (3,047)  (25,764)  28,811  -   

Net charge for the year  (292,262)  (367,542)  1,541,650  881,846 

Write-offs  -    -    (1,472,493)  (1,472,493)

Closing balance as at December 31  860,756  901,604  1,566,801  3,329,161 

Total loans and advances

2022

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Opening balance as at January 1  1,014,039  948,641  1,150,777  3,113,457 

Transfers to stage 1  45,939  (35,328)  (10,611)  -   

Transfers to stage 2  (48,059)  56,614  (8,555)  -   

Transfers to stage 3  (2,126)  (42,442)  44,568  -   

Net charge for the year  2,979  421,332  652,082  1,076,393 

Write-offs  -    -    (270,042)  (270,042)

Closing balance as at December 31  1,012,772  1,348,817  1,558,219  3,919,808 

Overdrafts

2023

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Opening balance as at January 1  44,430  4,011  134,873  183,314 

Transfers to stage 1  336  (331)  (5)  -   

Transfers to stage 2  (7,386)  7,386  -    -   

Transfers to stage 3  (9)  (31)  40  -   

Net charge for the year  (4,416)  7,701  62,065  65,350 

Write-offs  -    -    (127,136)  (127,136)

Closing balance as at December 31  32,955  18,736  69,837  121,528 

Overdrafts

2022

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Opening balance as at January 1  22,749  5,272  82,051  110,072 

Transfers to stage 1  2,534  (2,534)  -    -   

Transfers to stage 2  (1,215)  1,215  -    -   

Transfers to stage 3  (105)  (891)  996  -   

Net charge for the year  20,467  949  51,826  73,242 

Write-offs  -    -    -    -   

Closing balance as at December 31  44,430  4,011  134,873  183,314 
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Credit cards

2023

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Opening balance as at January 1  39,882  16,270  7,306  63,458 

Transfers to stage 1  8,314  (7,715)  (599)  -   

Transfers to stage 2  (4,664)  4,968  (304)  -   

Transfers to stage 3  (659)  (629)  1,288  -   

Net charge for the year  3,084  15,479  60,354  78,917 

Write-offs  -    -    (53,062)  (53,062)

Closing balance as at December 31  45,957  28,373  14,983  89,313 

Credit cards

2022

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Opening balance as at January 1  40,593  10,928  5,225  56,746 

Transfers to stage 1  5,123  (4,639)  (484)  -   

Transfers to stage 2  (6,753)  6,991  (238)  -   

Transfers to stage 3  (261)  (173)  434  -   

Net charge for the year  1,180  3,163  22,663  27,006 

Write-offs  -    -    (20,294)  (20,294)

Closing balance as at December 31  39,882  16,270  7,306  63,458 

Consumer loans

2023

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Opening balance as at January 1  205,040  70,345  90,687  366,072 

Transfers to stage 1  41,892  (26,141)  (15,751)  -   

Transfers to stage 2  (18,784)  27,864  (9,080)  -   

Transfers to stage 3  (845)  (3,731)  4,576  -   

Net charge for the year  (558)  52,527  339,179  391,148 

Write-offs  -    -    (278,650)  (278,650)

Closing balance as at December 31  226,745  120,864  130,961  478,570 

Consumer loans

2022

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Opening balance as at January 1  244,680  53,510  72,392  370,582 

Transfers to stage 1  25,465  (15,338)  (10,127)  -   

Transfers to stage 2  (28,932)  36,279  (7,347)  -   

Transfers to stage 3  (709)  (2,946)  3,655  -   

Net charge for the year  (35,464)  (1,160)  241,466  204,842 

Write-offs  -    -    (209,352)  (209,352)

Closing balance as at December 31  205,040  70,345  90,687  366,072 
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Commercial loans and others

2023

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Opening balance as at January 1  723,420  1,258,191  1,325,353  3,306,964 

Transfers to stage 1  141,408  (141,190)  (218)  -   

Transfers to stage 2  (17,823)  81,252  (63,429)  -   

Transfers to stage 3  (1,534)  (21,373)  22,907  -   

Net charge for the year  (290,372)  (443,249)  1,080,052  346,431 

Write-offs  -    -    (1,013,645)  (1,013,645)

Closing balance as at December 31  555,099  733,631  1,351,020  2,639,750 

Commercial loans and others

2022

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Opening balance as at January 1  706,017  878,931  991,109  2,576,057 

Transfers to stage 1  12,817  (12,817)  -    -   

Transfers to stage 2  (11,159)  12,129  (970)  -   

Transfers to stage 3  (1,051)  (38,432)  39,483  -   

Net charge for the year  16,796  418,380  336,127  771,303 

Write-offs  -    -    (40,396)  (40,396)

Closing balance as at December 31  723,420  1,258,191  1,325,353  3,306,964 

7.5  Economic sector risk concentration for loans and advances, net is as follows:

2023 Performing
Non-

performing
ECL 

allowance
Loans and 

advances, net

Banks and other financial institutions  6,750,725  518  (38,314)  6,712,929 

Agriculture and fishing  1,447,997  228  (11,030)  1,437,195 

Manufacturing  11,661,611  963,062  (614,325)  12,010,348 

Mining and quarrying  1,104,433  523  (11,992)  1,092,964 

Electricity, water, gas and health services  8,017,023  984  (55,717)  7,962,290 

Building and construction  6,474,180  515,197  (686,520)  6,302,857 

Commerce  11,955,727  328,114  (322,208)  11,961,633 

Real estate activities  18,909,006  41,279  (134,077)  18,816,208 

Transportation and communication  7,662,065  7,564  (120,239)  7,549,390 

Services  4,826,347  22,939  (64,963)  4,784,323 

Consumer loans and credit cards  40,779,371  116,870  (567,883)  40,328,358 

Other  33,673,947  304,560  (701,893)  33,276,614 

Total  153,262,432  2,301,838  (3,329,161) 152,235,109 
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8.  Investments in associates

8.1  Saudi Home Loans Company
The Group participated in the setting up of Saudi Home Loans Company (SHL). The associate’s authorised capital was SAR 

1 billion and its issued and paid-up capital was SAR 1 billion. The Group’s share of the paid-up capital amounted to SAR 400 

million, (40 million shares at SAR 10 per share), representing 40% of the issued share capital of the associate. 

The associate is a specialised Islamic home and real estate finance company with all its products and services being fully 

Shariah compliant. The associate was launched at the end of the fourth quarter of 2007 and is accounted for under the 

equity method.

During Q1 2022, the Group offered 30% of its shareholding (12 million shares) as part of the company’s initial public offering 

(IPO) for a gain of SAR 36.05 million, which was recognised as a realised gain on partial disposal of an investment in an 

associate in the consolidated statement of income.

In Q2 2022, the Group purchased 1.4 million shares for an amount of SAR 28 million (SAR 20 per share), representing 1.4% of 

the issued share capital of SHL. 

The Group continues to classify its remaining interest of 29.4% in the company (29.4 million shares) as an associate as the 

Group still exercises significant influence over SHL.

2022 Performing
Non-

performing
ECL 

allowance
Loans and 

advances, net

Banks and other financial institutions  5,206,374  2,283  (39,330)  5,169,327 

Agriculture and fishing  1,265,801  13,759  (17,561)  1,261,999 

Manufacturing  12,148,807  700,942  (569,386)  12,280,363 

Mining and quarrying  858,210  -    (8,558)  849,652 

Electricity, water, gas and health services  8,344,815  3,602  (68,747)  8,279,670 

Building and construction  6,293,969  691,519  (1,314,569)  5,670,919 

Commerce  11,759,906  339,368  (382,485)  11,716,789 

Real estate activities  19,104,802  465,764  (301,313)  19,269,253 

Transportation and communication  7,694,678  5,561  (270,311)  7,429,928 

Services  6,408,744  13,976  (101,046)  6,321,674 

Consumer loans and credit cards  36,928,885  82,970  (429,530)  36,582,325 

Other  29,086,681  327,211  (416,972)  28,996,920 

Total  145,101,672  2,646,955  (3,919,808) 143,828,819 

2023 2022

Balance at beginning of the year 978,683  1,155,655 

Investment made during the year -  28,000 

Dividends during the year (48,788)  (80,791)

Share in earnings, net 19,508 108,131

Sale of investment of an associate -  (232,312)

Balance at end of the year 949,403  978,683 
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Below is the latest available financial information of the company:

8.2  ANBC Business Gate Fund 
The Group owns 12.75% (2022: 12.75%) of ANBC Business Gate Fund (the Fund), which is a closed-ended private placement 

real estate investment fund launched on August 25, 2014 for a period of 5 years starting from the date of closure of the first 

offering on January 11, 2015. Since its launch the fund was extended a number of times. The last being December 14, 2020 

when the unitholders approved an extension to December 31, 2025.

The Group continues to be:

• Represented by two directors on the Board of Directors;

• Participate in policy making decisions, including a veto right over the sale of assets;

• Provide the majority of the funding; and

• Manages the fund through its subsidiary ANB Capital.

Accordingly, the Group continues to classify its investment in the fund as an associate.

Below is the latest available financial information of the fund:

Saudi Home Loans Company 2023 2022

Total assets  4,385,453  4,328,829 

Total liabilities  2,717,203  2,620,111 

Total equity  1,668,250  1,708,718 

Total income  128,702  299,133 

Total expenses  (115,487)  (203,244)

ANBC Business Gate Fund 2023 2022

Total assets  1,505,802  1,519,689 

Total liabilities  1,227,268  1,198,226 

Total equity  278,534  321,463 

Total income  219,392  215,486 

Total expenses  (205,254)  (163,618)

8.  Investments in associates (continued)
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8.3  Sara Second Real Estate Investment Fund (Sara Second Fund)
The Group invested in the Sara Second Real Estate Investment Fund, a private, CMA regulated and closed ended fund. It was 

formed to acquire an income generating residential compound in Khobar. The Fund commenced operations in May 2020 

and the Group’s interest in the Fund is 31.9%.

Below is the latest available financial information of the fund:

Sara Second Fund 2023 2022

Total assets  1,815,132  1,967,907 

Total liabilities  563,143  658,673 

Total equity  1,251,989  1,309,234 

Total income  189,796  209,938 

Total expenses  (180,217)  (86,114)
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9.  Property, equipment and right of use assets, net

Land and
buildings

Leasehold
improvements

Equipment,
furniture and 

vehicles

Computer 
and 

Software
Work in-
progress

Right of 
Use Assets 

(ROU) Total

Cost:

Balance at beginning of the year 1,378,266  668,964  806,221 1,303,781  153,840 1,092,406 5,403,478 

Additions/ (transfers)  4,000  57,798  54,606  126,595  148,254  264,953  656,206 

Disposals  -    (34,978) (174,686) (118,132)  -   (188,380)  (516,176)

Balance as at 
December 31, 2023

1,382,266  691,784  686,141 1,312,244 302,094 1,168,979 5,543,508 

Balance at beginning of the year 1,378,266  632,150  771,834 1,260,029  80,608 1,091,687 5,214,574 

Additions/ (transfers)  -    40,002  44,843  52,113  73,232  137,920  348,110 

Disposals  -    (3,188)  (10,456)  (8,361)  -   (137,201) (159,206)

Balance as at 
December 31, 2022

1,378,266  668,964  806,221 1,303,781  153,840 1,092,406 5,403,478 

Accumulated depreciation:

Balance at beginning of the year  528,675  559,508  621,112 1,186,291  -    276,665 3,172,251 

Charge for the year  28,102  30,868  44,719  49,127  -    75,471  228,287 

Disposals/ adjustments  -    (30,868) (165,080) (118,128)  -    (40,631)  (354,707)

Balance as at 
December 31, 2023

 556,777  559,508  500,751 1,117,290  -    311,505 3,045,831 

Net book value as at  
December 31, 2023

 825,489  132,276  185,390  194,954 302,094  857,474 2,497,677 

Balance at beginning of the year  499,796  532,821  591,850 1,154,048  -    228,648 3,007,163 

Charge for the year  28,879  29,732  38,732  40,596  -    75,669  213,608 

Disposals/ adjustments  -    (3,045)  (9,470)  (8,353)  -    (27,652)  (48,520)

Balance as at 
December 31, 2022

 528,675  559,508  621,112 1,186,291  -    276,665 3,172,251 

Net book value
as at December 31, 2022

 849,591  109,456  185,109  117,490  153,840  815,741 2,231,227 
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10.  Other assets

11.  Derivative financial instruments
In the ordinary course of business, the Group utilises the following derivative financial instruments for both trading and 

hedging purposes:

Swaps
Swaps are commitments to exchange one set of cash flows for another. For commission rate swaps, counterparties generally 

exchange fixed and floating rate commission payments in a single currency without exchanging principal. For currency swaps, 

fixed commission payments and principal are exchanged in different currencies. For cross-currency commission rate swaps, 

principal, fixed and floating commission payments are exchanged in different currencies.

Forwards and futures
Forwards and futures are contractual agreements to either buy or sell a specified currency, commodity or financial 

instrument at a specified price on a date in the future. Forwards are customised contracts transacted in the over the counter 

market. 

Foreign currency and commission rate futures are transacted in standardised amounts on regulated exchanges with changes 

in fair values settled daily. 

Forward rate agreements
Forward rate agreements are individually negotiated commission rate contracts that call for the cash settlement, on a 

specified future date or series of dates, of the difference between the contracted commission rate and the market rate 

calculated on a notional principal.

Options
Options are contractual agreements under which the seller (writer) grants the purchaser (holder) the right, but not the 

obligation, to either buy or sell, on a fixed future date or at any time during a specified period, a specified amount of a 

currency, commodity or financial instrument at a pre-determined price.

2023 2022

Paid derivatives collateral margins  673,272 603,443

Accrued commission  276,147 240,496

Prepaid expenses  149,419 156,157

Accrued income  71,874 72,938

Other  954,337 738,521

Total  2,125,049 1,811,555

Overview  Strategic Review  Directors’ Report  Financial Statements

161Annual Report 2023



arab national bank – Saudi Joint Stock Company

Note to consolidated financial statements 
As at and for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022

All amounts in thousands of Saudi Riyals unless stated otherwise

Held for trading purposes
Most of the Group’s derivative trading activities relate to sales, positioning and arbitrage. Sales activities involve offering 

products to customers and banks in order to, inter alia, enable them to transfer, modify or reduce current and future risks. 

Positioning involves managing market risk positions with the expectation of profiting from favorable movements in prices, 

rates or indices. Arbitrage involves identifying, with the expectation of profiting from price differentials between markets or 

products.

Held for hedging purposes
The Group has adopted a comprehensive system for the measurement and management of risk. Part of the risk management 

process involves managing the Group’s exposure to fluctuations in foreign exchange and commission rates to reduce its 

exposure to currency and commission rate risks to acceptable levels as determined by the Board of Directors (the Board) 

within the guidelines issued by SAMA.

The Board of Directors has established levels of currency risk by setting limits on counterparty and currency position 

exposures. Positions are monitored on a daily basis and hedging strategies are used to ensure positions are maintained within 

the set limits. The Board of Directors has established the level of commission rate risk by setting limits on commission rate 

gaps for stipulated periods. Asset and liability commission rate gaps are reviewed on a periodic basis and hedging strategies 

are used to reduce commission rate gap to be within the set limits.

As part of its asset and liability management, the Group uses derivatives for hedging purposes in order to adjust its exposure 

to currency and commission rate risks to acceptable levels. This is generally achieved by hedging specific transactions as well 

as strategic hedging against overall statement of financial position exposures. Strategic hedging, other than portfolio hedges 

for commission rate risk, do not qualify for hedge accounting and related derivatives are accounted for as held for trading.

The Group uses forward foreign exchange contracts and currency swaps to hedge against specifically identified currency 

risks. In addition, the Group uses commission rate swaps and commission rate futures to hedge against commission rate risk 

arising from specifically identified fixed commission rate exposures.

The Group also uses commission rate swaps to hedge against the cash flow risk arising on certain floating rate exposures. 

In all such cases, the hedging relationship and objective, including details of the hedged items and hedging instrument are 

formally documented and the transactions are accounted for as either fair value or cash flow hedges.

11.1  Cash flow hedges
The Group is exposed to variability in future commission cash flows on non-trading assets which bear commission income 

at a variable rate. The Group uses commission rate swaps as cash flow hedges to hedge these commission rate risks. The 

below table indicating, the periods when the hedged cash flows are expected to occur and when they are expected to affect 

statement of income:

2023 Within 1 year 1-3 years 3-5 years Over 5 years

Cash inflows (assets)  46,586  58,218 - -

Cash out flows (liabilities)  (101,793)  (94,893) - -

Net cash flow  (55,207)  (36,675) - -

2022 Within 1 year 1-3 years 3-5 years Over 5 years

Cash inflows (assets)  46,947  93,300  11,504 -

Cash out flows (liabilities)  (98,048)  (158,576)  (21,859) -

Net cash flow  (51,101)  (65,276)  (10,355) -

11.  Derivative financial instruments (continued)
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11.2  The tables below show the notional amounts and the positive and negative fair values of derivative financial instruments 

analysed by the term to maturity and monthly average. The notional amounts, which provide an indication of the volumes 

of the transactions outstanding at the year-end, do not necessarily reflect the amounts of future cash flows involved. These 

notional amounts, therefore, are neither indicative of the Group’s exposure to credit risk, which is generally limited to the 

positive fair value of the derivatives, nor market risk.

2023
Positive 

fair value
Negative 
fair value

Notional 
amount 

total

Notional amounts by term to maturity

Monthly
average

Within 3 
months

3-12
months

1-5
years

Over 5
years

Held for trading:

Commission rate and 
cross currency swaps

1,337,280  1,271,818 35,159,175  976,249 2,599,181 14,820,152 16,763,593 33,925,482 

Commission rate futures 
and options

 18,693  17,261  1,149,841  38,250 100,000  732,390  279,201  4,994,625 

Forward foreign exchange 
and commodity contracts

 38,558  17,691  2,337,030 1,567,890  769,140  -    -    4,365,485 

Currency and commodity 
options

 20  95  88,696  88,696  -    -    -    125,465 

Held as fair value hedges:

Commission rate swaps 407,340 10,821 8,137,552 - - 2,165,471 5,972,081 8,489,894

Held as cash flow hedges:

Commission rate swaps - 85,674 1,800,000 - - 1,800,000 - 1,800,000

Total 1,801,891 1,403,360 48,672,294 2,671,085 3,468,321 19,518,013 23,014,875 53,700,951 

2022
Positive 

fair value
Negative 
fair value

Notional 
amount 

total

Notional amounts by term to maturity

Monthly
average

Within 3 
months

3-12
months

1-5
years

Over 5
years

Held for trading:

Commission rate and 
cross currency swaps

880,647 842,540 27,343,969 494,976 832,383 13,117,492 12,899,118 31,326,449

Commission rate futures 
and options

1,172,982 1,170,846 14,855,479 11,250 125,714 2,207,370 12,511,145 14,915,951

Forward foreign exchange 
and commodity contracts

58,254 34,502 3,756,307 2,999,036 757,271 - - 6,982,213

Currency and commodity 
options

30 142 51,937 51,937 - - - 281,677

Held as fair value hedges:

Commission rate swaps 847,756 72 9,033,594 - 70,642 1,820,774 7,142,178 15,638,838

Held as cash flow hedges:

Commission rate swaps - 116,139 1,800,000 - - 1,800,000 - 1,750,000

Total 2,959,669 2,164,241 56,841,286 3,557,199 1,786,010 18,945,636 32,552,441 70,895,128
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11.3  The previous table includes Shariah approved derivatives products as follows:

11.4  The table below shows a summary of hedged items and portfolios, the nature of the risk 
being hedged, the hedging instrument and its fair value:

The Group is exposed to variability in future special commission cash flows on non-trading assets and liabilities which bear 

special commission at variable rates. The Group generally uses special commission rate swaps as hedging instruments to 

hedge against these special commission rate risks.

2023
Positive 

fair value
Negative 
fair value

Notional
amount 

total
Within 3 
months

3-12 
months

1-5
years

Over 5
years

Monthly
average

Held for trading:

Commission rate and 
cross currency swaps

492,990  360,340 8,446,097 - - 3,332,934  5,113,163  8,461,412 

Commission rate 
futures and options

 -   6,434  209,601 - -  75,000  134,601  1,141,460 

Total 492,990 366,774  8,655,698 - - 3,407,934  5,247,764 9,602,872 

2022
Positive 

fair value
Negative 
fair value

Notional 
amount 

total
Within 3 
months

3-12 
months

1-5
years

Over 5
years

Monthly
Average

Held for trading:

Commission rate and 
cross currency swaps

 12,337  502,117  5,703,596  12,500  342,409 3,819,256  1,529,431  6,108,827 

Commission rate 
futures and options

 874,032  273,298  6,360,652 1,462,500  -   4,798,152  100,000  6,320,989 

Total 886,369 775,415 12,064,248 1,475,000 342,409 8,617,408 1,629,431 12,429,816 

2023 Fair value

Hedge
inception 

value Risk
Hedging 

instrument
Positive 

fair value
Negative 
fair value

Fixed commission rate investments 2,246,578 2,585,618 Fair value Commission rate swap  339,050  10 

Floating commission rate investments 1,885,674 1,800,000 Cash flow Commission rate swap  -    85,674 

Fixed commission rate loans 6,207,004 6,264,483 Fair value Commission rate swap  68,290  10,811 

2022 Fair value

Hedge 
inception 

value Risk
Hedging

instrument
Positive 

fair value
Negative 
fair value

Fixed commission rate investments  2,187,757 2,585,591 Fair value Commission rate swap  397,834  -   

Floating commission rate investments  1,916,139 1,800,000 Cash flow Commission rate swap  -    116,139 

Fixed commission rate loans  7,156,225 7,606,147 Fair value Commission rate swap  449,922  -   

Fixed commission rate deposits  6,132 6,060 Fair value Commission rate swap  -    72 

11.  Derivative financial instruments (continued)
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In the case of discontinued fair value hedges, the remaining unamortised accumulated fair value hedge adjustment to the 

carrying amount of hedged items held at amortised cost is SAR 808 million (2022: SAR 1,187 million). This amount will continue 

to be amortised over the remaining term of the original hedge.

Approximately 39.9% (2022: 37.4%) of the positive fair value of the Group’s derivatives are entered into with financial 

institutions and approximately 60.1% (2022: 62.6%) of the positive fair value contracts are with non-financial institutions at 

the reporting date. Derivative activities are mainly carried out by the Group’s treasury segment.

11.5  The amounts relating items designated as hedging instruments and hedge ineffectiveness as 
follows:

Time deposits do not include any deposits against sale of securities with agreements to repurchase the same at fixed future 

dates. Other customers’ deposits include SAR 1,891 million (2022: SAR 2,000 million) of margins held against irrevocable 

commitments. 

12.  Due to banks, Saudi Central Bank and other financial institutions

13.  Customers’ deposits

2023
Positive fair 

value
Negative 
fair value

Notional 
amount 

Total

Change in fair value 
used to calculate 

hedge ineffectiveness

Ineffectiveness 
recognised in 

statement of income

Held as fair value hedges:

Commission rate swaps  407,340  10,821  8,137,552  3,890  (10,338)

2022
Positive fair 

value
Negative 
fair value

Notional 
amount 

Total

Change in fair value 
used to calculate 

hedge ineffectiveness

Ineffectiveness 
recognised in 

statement of income

Held as fair value hedges:

Commission rate swaps 847,756 72 9,033,594 6,660 (14,228)

2023 2022

Current accounts  175,963  264,253 

Money market deposits  1,539,024  1,565,181 

Repo with SAMA  96,000  3,699,076 

Deposits from SAMA  6,618,763  7,982,758 

Total  8,429,750 13,511,268 

2023 2022

Demand  82,453,283  75,063,732 

Time  77,569,880  73,200,002 

Saving  367,976  311,438 

Other  5,470,199  6,296,094 

Total  165,861,338  154,871,266 
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14.  Other liabilities

13.1  The above include Shariah approved customer deposits as below:

13.2  Customers’ deposits include foreign currency deposits as follows:

14.1  Movement in ECL allowance for credit related commitments and contingencies:

2023 2022

Demand  54,438,258 47,441,170

Time  46,583,505 43,620,348

Other  1,120,571 722,622

Total  102,142,334 91,784,140

2023 2022

Demand  2,515,464  2,603,194 

Time  13,210,773  11,917,365 

Saving  4,151  3,616 

Other  191,240  123,365 

Total  15,921,628  14,647,540 

2023 2022

Employee defined benefit obligation (note 30)  552,161  567,427 

ECL allowance on loan commitment and financial guarantee contracts  432,837 488,232 

Accrued expenses  758,125 622,643

Zakat and income tax accrual/ provision payable  449,719  495,436 

Lease liability  918,524  873,768 

Received derivatives collateral margins 660,987 1,011,495

Others 3,289,747 2,835,568

Total  7,062,100 6,894,569

2023 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Opening balance as at January 1  49,512  31,891  406,829  488,232 

Transfer to stage 1  2,956  (2,956)  -    -   

Transfer to stage 2  (1,340)  1,340  -    -   

Transfer to stage 3  -    (28)  28  -   

Net charge for the year  (6,991)  4,709  (50,534)  (52,816)

Write-off  -    -    (2,579)  (2,579)

Closing balance as at December 31  44,137  34,956  353,744  432,837 

13.  Customers’ deposits (continued)
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14.2  Movement in gross carrying amounts for credit related commitments and contingencies:

15.  Issued Sukuk
On October 21, 2020 the Group issued a USD 750 million 10 year subordinated Tier II capital (Sukuk) callable in 5 years and 

carrying a special commission rate of 3.326%.

16.  Share capital 
As at December 31, 2023, the authorised, issued and fully paid share capital of the Bank consists of 1,500 million shares of 

SAR 10 each (2022: 1,500 million shares of SAR 10 each). The ownership of the Bank’s share capital is as follows: 

2023 2022

Saudi and non-strategic foreign shareholders 60% 60%

Strategic shareholder - Arab Bank PLC - Jordan 40% 40%

2023 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Opening balance as at January 1 23,561,218 2,041,893 855,600 26,458,711

Transfer to stage 1 209,527 (209,527) - -

Transfer to stage 2 (158,296) 158,296 - -

Transfer to stage 3 (87) (933) 1,020 -

Net change for the year 12,158,327 (518,855) (103,949) 11,535,523

Closing balance as at December 31 35,770,689 1,470,874 752,671 37,994,234

2022 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Opening balance as at January 1  57,393  19,336  438,673 515,402 

Transfer to stage 1  5,500  (5,500)  -    -   

Transfer to stage 2  (1,834)  1,834  -    -   

Transfer to stage 3  (2)  (19)  21  -   

Net charge for the year (11,545)  16,240  (31,865) (27,170)

Write-off - - - -

Closing balance as at December 31  49,512  31,891  406,829 488,232 

2022 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Opening balance as at January 1  22,738,483  2,041,891  944,888  25,725,262 

Transfer to stage 1  393,121  (393,121)  -    -   

Transfer to stage 2  (442,571)  442,571  -    -   

Transfer to stage 3  (2,342)  (4,905)  7,247  -   

Net change for the year  874,527  (44,543)  (96,535)  733,449 

Closing balance as at December 31  23,561,218  2,041,893  855,600  26,458,711 
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17.  Statutory reserve
In accordance with the Saudi Arabian Banking Control Law and the By Laws of the Bank, a minimum of 25% of the annual 

net income is required to be transferred to a statutory reserve until this reserve equals the paid up share capital of the 

Bank. Accordingly, SAR 1,018 million was transferred from 2023 net income to statutory reserve (2022: SAR 768 million). The 

statutory reserve is not currently available for distribution.

18.  Commitments and contingencies

18.1  Legal proceedings
As at December 31, 2023 and 2022 there were legal proceedings of a routine nature outstanding against the Group. No 

material provision has been made as professional legal advice indicates that the possibility of any adverse outcome is remote.

18.2  Capital commitments
As at December 31, 2023 the Group had capital commitments of SAR 1,298 million (2022: SAR 1,493 million) in respect of 

capital projects.

18.3  Credit related commitments and contingencies
The primary purpose of these instruments is to ensure that funds are available to customers as required.

Guarantees and standby letters of credit, which represent irrevocable assurances that the Group will make payments in the 

event that a customer cannot meet its obligations to third parties, carry the same credit risk as loans and advances. Cash 

requirements under guarantees and standby letters of credit are considerably less than the amount of the commitment 

because the Group does not generally expect the third party to draw funds under the agreement.

Documentary letters of credit, which are written undertakings by the Group on behalf of a customer authorising a third party 

to draw drafts on the Group up to a stipulated amount under specific terms and conditions, are generally collateralised by 

the underlying shipments of goods to which they relate, and therefore have significantly less risk.

Acceptances comprise undertakings by the Group to pay bills of exchange drawn on customers. The Group expects most 

acceptances to be presented before being reimbursed by the customers.

Commitments to extend credit represent the unused portion of authorisations to extend credit, principally in the form 

of loans and advances, guarantees and letters of credit. With respect to credit risk on commitments to extend credit, the 

Group is potentially exposed to a loss in an amount equal to the total unused commitments. However, the likely amount of 

loss, which cannot readily be quantified, is expected to be considerably less than the total unused commitment as most 

commitments to extend credit are contingent upon customers maintaining specific credit standards. The below mentioned 

commitments and contingences are callable on demand of the counter-party. Furthermore, the total outstanding 

commitments to extend credit do not necessarily represent future cash requirements, as many of these commitments could 

expire or terminate without being funded.
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The unutilised portion of non-firm commitments for commercial and corporate loans as at December 31, 2023, which can be 

revoked unilaterally at any time by the Group, amounts to SAR 32,756 million (2022: SAR 24,516 million).

18.3.2  The analysis of commitments and contingencies by counter-party is as follows:

18.3.3  Assets pledged
Securities utilized as pledged collateral under repurchase agreements with other financial institutions. The market value of 

assets pledged as collateral with other financial institutions as security is as follows:

18.3.1  The Group’s commitments and contingencies is as follows:

2023 2022

Letters of credit  5,532,713  4,482,890 

Letters of guarantee 25,049,118 18,893,151 

Acceptances  1,567,174  1,142,586 

Irrevocable commitments to extend credit  5,835,479  1,926,584 

Other  9,750  13,500 

Total 37,994,234 26,458,711 

2023 2022

Corporate 33,334,540  24,223,395 

Banks and other financial institutions  2,935,082 2,221,816 

Other  1,724,612 13,500

Total 37,994,234 26,458,711

2023 2022

Assets Related liabilities Assets Related liabilities

Held at amortised cost (notes 6.1, 12 and 13)  86,438  96,000 4,252,065 3,699,076
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Net special commission income for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 include income from shariah transactions 

amounting to SAR 4,428 million and SAR 3,921 million, respectively.

20.  Fee and commission income, net

The above mentioned net fees and commission income are primarily originated from Saudi Arabia.

2023 2022

Special commission income:

Investments at FVOCI 216,308  48,204 

Investments at amortised cost 1,840,010  1,209,204 

Due from banks and other financial institutions 311,769  136,497 

Loans and advances 10,109,262  6,262,765 

Total 12,477,349  7,656,670 

Special commission expense:

Due to banks, SAMA and other financial institutions  548,845  271,849 

Customers’ deposits  4,667,718  1,630,200 

Issued Sukuk  93,284  93,543 

Other  30,508  24,626 

Total 5,340,355  2,020,218 

Special commission income, net 7,136,994 5,636,452

2023 2022

Fee and commission income:

Share trading and fund management  127,338  165,647 

Trade finance  201,662  159,215 

Credit cards  384,773  273,114 

Credit facilities  462,103  308,741 

Other banking services  518,843  536,865 

Total  1,694,719  1,443,582 

Fee and commission expense:

Credit cards  412,494  286,257 

Credit facilities  177,253  160,417 

Other banking services  468,438  450,996 

Total  1,058,185  897,670 

Fee and commission income, net  636,534  545,912 

19.  Special commission income, net
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21.  Trading income, net

22.  Dividend income

23.  Gain on sale of non-trading investments, net

24.  Other operating income

25.  Impairment charges, net

25.1  Expected credit losses (ECL) and other impairment charges, net

2023 2022

Derivatives  25,979  39,926 

Trading securities  960  (561)

Total  26,939  39,365 

2023 2022

FVSI investments  31,500  70,788 

FVOCI investments  111,639  88,831 

Total  143,139  159,619 

2023 2022

Debt investments at FVOCI  467 -

Investments at amortised cost  155,846 -

Total  156,313 -

2023 2022

Rental income, net  73,696  61,595 

Gains on disposal of property and equipment, net  20,796  2,654 

Others  11,078  9,928 

Total  105,570  74,177 

2023 2022

ECL allowance for loans and advances, net (note 7)  721,405  896,672 

ECL allowance for other financial assets  1,576  10,335 

Reversal of ECL allowance for credit-related commitments and contingencies (note 14.1)  (52,816)  (27,170)

Total  670,165  879,837 
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25.2  Impairment charge on other real estate owned
In ordinary course of business, the Group acquires real estate assets against settlement of loans and advances classified as 

other real estate owned in the consolidated statement of financial position. During the year, independent licensed valuers 

conducted valuation, and as a result, an impairment loss was recognised amounting to SAR 322 million (2022: Nil) to reflect 

the fair value as at December 31, 2023.

26.  Basic and diluted earnings per share
Basic and diluted earnings per share for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 is calculated by dividing the net 

income for the year attributable to the equity holders of the Bank by 1,500 million shares. The diluted earnings per share is 

the same as the basic earnings per share.

27.  Dividends, Zakat and income tax

27.1  In December 12, 2021 the Board of Directors recommended to pay cash dividends of SAR 675 million from net income 

after deducting zakat for the second half of 2021. This proposed final dividend resulted in a net payment of SAR 0.45 per 

share to Saudi shareholders. Upon distribution, the income tax liability of the non-Saudi strategic shareholder for the related 

period was deducted from their share of the dividend. This cash dividend distribution was approved in the Extraordinary 

General Assembly meeting dated April 12, 2022.

27.2  On June 26, 2022 the Board of Directors approved to pay cash dividends of SAR 750 million for the first half of 2022 

after deducting zakat. This interim dividend resulted in a net payment of SAR 0.50 per share to Saudi shareholders. Upon 

distribution, the income tax liability of the non-Saudi strategic shareholder for the related period was deducted from their 

share of the dividend. This interim dividend was distributed on July 18, 2022.

27.3  In December 20, 2022 the Board of Directors recommended to pay cash dividends of SAR 900 million from net 

income after deducting zakat for the second half of 2022. This proposed final dividend resulted in a net payment of SAR 0.60 

per share to Saudi shareholders. Upon distribution, the income tax liability of the non-Saudi strategic shareholder for the 

related period was deducted from their share of the dividend. This cash dividend distribution was approved by the Ordinary 

General Assembly in the meeting held on March 28, 2023.

27.4  On July 23, 2023 the Board of Directors approved to pay cash dividends of SAR 975 million for the first half of 2023 

after deducting zakat. This interim dividend resulted in a net payment of SAR 0.65 per share to Saudi shareholders. Upon 

distribution, the income tax liability of the non-Saudi strategic shareholder for the related period was deducted from their 

share of the dividend. This interim dividend was distributed on August 8, 2023.

The dividends are paid to Saudi and the non-Saudi strategic shareholder after deduction of Zakat and income tax 

respectively.

27.5  Zakat and income tax

27.5.1  Zakat
Zakat for the year attributable to Group on Saudi shareholders amounted to SAR 302 million (2022: SAR 275 million).

27.5.2  Income tax
Income tax attributable to Group on the current year’s share of net income for the non-Saudi strategic shareholder is SAR 

369 million (2022: SAR 290 million).

25.  Impairment charges, net (continued)
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27.5.3  Deferred tax
The components and movements of deferred tax is as follows:

28.  Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents included in the consolidated statement of cash flows comprise the following:

2023
Opening 

deferred tax

Recognised in 
statement of 

income
Closing

deferred tax

Accelerated depreciation for accounting purposes  15,494  18,038  33,532 

Provision for employee benefit obligation  47,380  (5,622)  41,758 

Provision for losses  15,559  27,153  42,712 

Total  78,433  39,569  118,002 

2022
Opening 

deferred tax

Recognised in 
statement of 

income
Closing

deferred tax

Accelerated depreciation for accounting purposes  12,114  3,380  15,494 

Provision for employee benefit obligation  45,543  1,837  47,380 

Provision for losses  15,109  450  15,559 

Total  72,766  5,667  78,433 

2023 2022

Cash and balances with SAMA excluding statutory deposit (note 4) 2,069,032  4,357,800 

Due from banks and other financial institutions maturing within ninety days of acquisition 2,480,258  6,051,797 

Total 4,549,290 10,409,597 
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29.  Salaries and employee related expenses
The Group has implemented a “Risk-Based Compensation Policy” in compliance with the rules issued by SAMA, which 

are consistent with the principles and standards of the Financial Stability Board (FSB). The policy was approved by the 

Board of Directors and gives highest consideration to the alignment of compensation with risk and provides a competitive 

and balanced package of fixed and variable compensation. The policy ensures that compensation takes into account 

the likelihood and timelines of earnings and its impact on the Group’s capital. It also focuses on promoting effective risk 

management, achieving financial stability and dealing with risks posed by the Group’s compensation practices. The Group 

takes into account all types of existing and potential material risks and ensures a balance between general industry practices 

and Group-specific factors such as business model, financial condition, operating performance, market perception, business 

prospects and appropriate managerial judgement, etc.

The Board of Directors, while determining and approving the bonus pool of the Group, considers performance in absolute 

and relative terms, consistency of earnings, long term performance, historical bonus pool, market conditions, etc. 

Similarly, while allocating the Group-wide bonus pool to business units, due consideration is given to the type of business 

transacted, level of risk assumed, relative importance of earnings, distinctive business drivers, historical bonus pool, current 

performance and the business unit’s consistency of performance. 

The Board of Directors has ultimate responsibility for promoting effective governance and sound compensation practices. 

In order to assist it in overseeing the Compensation policies design and its operation, the Board of Directors has appointed 

a Nomination & Compensation Committee. The Nomination & Compensation Committee comprises three non-executives 

members of the Board of Directors and is chaired by an independent member of the Board of Directors. The Committee 

has full authority on behalf of the Board of Directors to review and where considered appropriate propose changes to the 

Group’s compensation policy and practices and recommend the same to the Board of Directors, for its approval and to 

ensure adequacy and effectiveness of the policy in meeting its intended objectives. The Committee also reviews the level 

and composition of remuneration of key executives of the Group and recommends a risk-adjusted bonus pool to the Board 

of Directors, for approval.

The governance process ensures that the Compensation Policy is consistently applied and operates as intended. The Group 

has established an oversight mechanism to regularly evaluate the design characteristics of compensation practices and their 

implementation.

2023
Number of 
employees

Fixed 
compensation

Variable cost 
paid (cash basis)

Senior executive requiring SAMA no objections  20  46,885  39,005 

Employees engaged in risk taking activities  236  129,046  39,200 

Employees engaged in control functions  506  156,390  26,406 

Other employees  3,444  694,886  115,580 

Total  4,206  1,027,207  220,191 

Variable compensation accrued  219,509 

Other employee related costs*  300,286 

Total salaries and employee related expenses  1,547,002 
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30.  Employee benefit obligation

30.1  General description
The Group operates a defined benefit obligation plan for its employees based on the prevailing Saudi Labor Laws. Accruals 

are made in accordance with the actuarial valuation under projected unit credit method while the benefit payments 

obligation is discharged as and when it falls due.

30.2  The movement of the defined benefit obligation plan balance during the year based on its 
present value is as follows:

30.3  Charge for the year:

* Other employee related costs include defined benefit obligation plan, GOSI, business travel, training and development, and other employees’ benefits.

2022
Number of 
employees

Fixed 
compensation

Variable cost 
paid (cash basis)

Senior executive requiring SAMA no objections  23  45,802  38,900 

Employees engaged in risk taking activities  238  118,415  32,505 

Employees engaged in control functions  460  143,211  20,377 

Other employees  3,308  667,265  87,038 

Total  4,029  974,693  178,820 

Variable compensation accrued  176,624 

Other employee related costs*  228,300 

Total salaries and employee related expenses 1,379,617

2023 2022

Employee defined benefit obligation at the beginning of the year  567,427  541,206 

Past service cost  145  2,139 

Current service cost                                                            53,279  58,324 

Special commission cost  27,036  14,436 

Benefits paid  (53,052)  (76,545)

Remeasurements due to actuarial (gain)/ loss  (42,674)  27,867 

Employee defined benefit obligation at the end of the year  552,161  567,427 

2023 2022

Current service cost                                                            53,279  58,324 

Special commission cost  27,036  14,436 

Past service cost  145  2,139 

 80,460  74,899 
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30.4  Re-measurement recognised in other comprehensive income:

30.5  Principal defined benefit obligation plan actuarial assumptions in respect of the employee 
benefit scheme:

30.6  Sensitivity of actuarial assumptions:
The table below illustrates the sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation valuation as at December 31, 2023 and 2022 based 

on the principal actuarial assumptions disclosed in note (30.5) above:

The above sensitivity analyses are based on a change in an assumption holding all other assumptions constant.

2023 2022

Loss/ (gain) from change in experience assumptions  24,089  (16,877)

(Gain)/ loss from change in financial assumptions  (66,763)  44,744 

 (42,674)  27,867 

2023 2022

Discount rate 5.75% 5.1%

Expected rate of salary increase 4.50% 5.0%

Normal retirement age 65 years 65 years

2023
Base Scenario

Impact on defined benefit obligation – Increase / (Decrease)

Change in 
assumption

Increase in 
assumption

Decrease in 
assumption

Discount rate +1% (48,838) -

-1% - 57,296

Expected rate of salary increase +1% 57,443 -

-1% - (49,818)

Withdrawal rate +20% 1,969 -

-20% - (3,062)

2022
Base Scenario

Impact on defined benefit obligation – Increase / (Decrease)

Change in 
assumption

Increase in 
assumption

Decrease in 
assumption

Discount rate +1% (53,403) -

-1% - 63,053

Expected rate of salary increase +1% 62,471 -

-1% - (53,923)

Withdrawal rate +20% (5,091) -

-20% - 5,191

30.  Employee benefit obligation (continued)
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31.  Operating segments
IFRS 8 requires operating segments to be identified on the basis of internal reports about components of the Group 

that are regularly reviewed by the chief executive officer in order to allocate resources to the segments and to assess its 

performance. 

For management purposes, the Group is organised into the following major operating segments:

Retail banking
Deposit, credit and investment products for individuals.

Corporate banking
Loans and advances, deposits and other credit products for corporate and institutional customers, small to medium sized 

businesses.

Treasury
Manages the Bank’s trading and investment portfolios and the Bank’s funding, liquidity, currency and commission rate risks.

Investment and brokerage services
Investment management services, asset management activities related to dealing, managing, arranging, advising and custody 

of securities.

Other
Includes income on capital and unallocated costs and assets and liabilities of Head Office and other supporting departments.

Transactions between operating segments are reported as recorded in the Group’s transfer pricing system. The basis for 

determining intersegment operating income/ (expense) for the current year are consistent with the basis used for December 

31, 2022. Segment assets and liabilities comprise mainly operating assets and liabilities.

The Group’s primary business is conducted in the Kingdom with one international branch in London. The total assets, 

liabilities, commitments and results of operations of this branch are, however, not material to the Group’s overall 

consolidated financial statements.
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31.1  The Group’s total assets and liabilities as at December 31, 2023 and 2022 and its total 
operating income, expenses and net income for the years then ended, by operating segments, 
are as follows:

2023
Retail 

banking
Corporate 

banking Treasury

Investment 
and brokerage 

services Other Total

Total assets 63,288,965 93,894,239 60,246,063  591,689 2,662,354 220,683,310 

Investments in associates  -    -    -    328,489  620,914  949,403 

Total liabilities 89,551,969 80,433,353 13,422,936  129,727 2,047,426 185,585,411 

Operating income/ (expense) from 
external customers

 2,077,731  6,164,298  68,985  384,898 (128,803)  8,567,109 

Intersegment operating income/ 
(expense)

 2,067,323 (2,990,452)  508,807  -    414,322  -   

Total operating income  4,145,054  3,173,846  577,792  384,898  285,519  8,567,109 

Of which:

Net special commission income  3,998,029  2,690,763  (69,342)  172,699  344,845  7,136,994 

ECL allowance charges and other 
provisions, net

 411,135  257,454  1,576  -    -    670,165 

Impairment charge on other real 
estate owned

- 322,000 - - - 322,000

Depreciation and amortisation  189,659  9,432  498  5,307  23,391  228,287 

Total operating expenses  2,356,993  1,251,299  165,312  128,503  (62,240)  3,839,867 

Share in earnings of associates  -    -    -    11,991  7,517  19,508 

Net income before Zakat and 
income tax

 1,788,061  1,922,547  412,480  268,386  355,276  4,746,750 

2022
Retail 

banking
Corporate 

banking Treasury

Investment 
and brokerage 

services Other Total

Total assets 54,906,322  94,194,082  61,038,440  551,411 1,937,838 212,628,093

Investments in associates  -    -    -    345,152  633,531  978,683 

Total liabilities 72,862,044 85,898,001  19,694,474  120,875 1,695,042 180,270,436

Operating income/ (expense) from 
external customers

 2,185,203  4,192,805  325,861  324,158  (165,787)  6,862,240 

Intersegment operating income/ 
(expense)

 109,136  (1,559,696)  1,017,376  -    433,184  -   

Total operating income  2,294,339  2,633,109  1,343,237  324,158  267,397  6,862,240 

Of which:

Net special commission income  2,265,318  2,071,162  846,309  103,307  350,356  5,636,452 

ECL allowance charges and other 
provisions, net

 137,309  732,192  10,336  -    -    879,837 

Impairment charge on other real 
estate owned

- - - - - -

Depreciation and amortisation  155,526  29,900  685  3,835  23,662  213,608 

Total operating expenses  1,563,715  1,542,895  126,869  101,105  2,951  3,337,535 

Share in earnings of associates  -    -    -    34,189  73,942  108,131 

Net income before Zakat and 
income tax

 730,624  1,090,214  1,216,368  257,242  338,388  3,632,836 
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Credit exposure comprises the carrying value of consolidated statement of financial position assets, excluding cash, property, 

equipment and right of use assets, other real estate owned, and other assets. The credit equivalent value of commitments, 

contingencies and derivatives are included in credit exposure (note 32.4.15).

32.  Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that a customer or counter-party may not settle an obligation for full value, either when due or at 

any time thereafter. This risk arises from the potential that a customer or counter-party is either unwilling to perform an 

obligation or its ability to perform such an obligation is impaired, resulting in an economic loss to the Group. The Group is 

exposed to credit risk when its business units extend credit to counterparties. The Group’s Executive Committee (ExCom)/ 

Board of Directors provides oversight of Credit Risk through the documented Credit Policy.

The enterprise-wide requirements for identification, assessment, monitoring and reporting of credit risk is set by the Risk 

Management Group, while business/support units are accountable for the credit risks within their respective areas, aligning 

business strategies with Group’s risk appetite.

Credit Risk policies and procedures are established to provide control of credit portfolios through periodic assessment of 

the credit standing of borrowers and quantifying maximum permissible exposures to specific borrowers. Such individuals 

and/or groups exposures are monitored periodically on a portfolio basis. The Group’s Credit Policy provides detailed 

guidelines to manage credit risk effectively; it is reviewed and updated from time to time based on experience, emerging 

issues, best market practices and directives from regulatory authorities. The Credit Policy is designed to ensure clear 

recognition of credit risk management strategies and objectives, which, inter-alia, include:

• Strengthening and enhancing Group’s ability to measure and mitigate credit risks on pre-emptive basis to minimise credit 

losses.

• Strengthening and enhancing credit portfolio management process.

• Strengthening and enhancing Group’s systems and procedures for early problem recognition.

• Compliance with local regulatory requirement and industry’s best practices for credit risk management.

31.2  The Group’s credit exposure by operating segments is as follows:

2023
Retail

Banking
Corporate

banking Treasury

Investment 
and 

brokerage 
services Other Total

Total assets 60,476,722 92,800,568 59,278,565 492,392 274,455 213,322,702 

Credit-related commitment 
and contingencies

 506,574 22,274,065  -    -    -   22,780,639

Derivatives  -    899,748  2,063,223  -    -    2,962,971 

2022
Retail

Banking
Corporate

banking Treasury

Investment 
and 

brokerage 
services Other Total

Total assets  52,030,018 92,505,597 60,341,364  480,259 288,069 205,645,307 

Credit-related commitment 
and contingencies

 538,543  16,987,164  -    -    -    17,525,707 

Derivatives  -    580,987  2,498,765  -    -    3,079,752 
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The Credit Policy addresses all functions and activities related to the credit process including the underwriting criteria. It 

stipulates Group’s appetite for risk, which, inter-alia, provides guidance on the target markets (Corporate, Commercial/ 

Small and Medium Enterprises (SMEs), Consumer and High Net-Worth Individuals) and desirable type of borrowers/

industries. Some criteria are product-specific and are governed by individual credit product policies, while others generally 

include credit quality standards, purpose and terms of facilities, undesirable loans, credit analysis, concentrations of credit, 

repayment ability, compliance with laws & regulations, expected losses and documentation.

32.1  Portfolio Monitoring
Portfolio management is ensured through diversification of the credit portfolio on the basis of tenor, industries/business 

segments, risk grades and geographical areas to avoid the risk of over-exposure to certain economic sectors/credit 

products, which might be impacted by unfavourable developments in the economy. The Group broadly uses borrower 

and sector criteria for mitigating concentration risk. The Group’s business is predominantly concentrated in Saudi Arabia, 

minimising cross-currency risk although geographical concentration remains but this is considered acceptable and within 

Group’s risk appetite.

Consumer banking portfolio is a diversified one since relatively small exposures are approved to a large number of 

individuals, based mainly on assignment of salary or security with exposure caps on products/ employers, etc.

32.2  Risk Measurement and Reporting System
Credit Risk tracks trends and identifies weaknesses in the quality of corporate, commercial, retail and private banking loans 

portfolio by employing: 

• Obligor and facility risk rating system to assess the quality of obligor and riskiness of facilities; and

• Periodic reviews and reporting of aggregate statistics on asset diversification and credit quality for key segments of the 

portfolio.

Rating system is established with the objective to:

• place the responsibility on business units to regularly evaluate credit risk on exposures and identify problems within their 

portfolios;

• establish early warning signals for detecting deterioration in credit quality;

• set standards for business units to submit their inputs on problematic exposures; and

• provide guidelines to respond and take remedial actions as soon as deterioration in credit quality is detected.

The Group classifies its exposures into 13 risk categories, of which 10 are for performing obligors and 3 are for non-

performing obligors. A rating is assigned to a borrower through a system-based methodology that takes into account financial 

and non-financial information, translating into a grade and Probability of Default (PD) for the relationship.

Facility Risk Rating (FRR), which assesses the riskiness of facilities, is used for deriving the Loss Given Default (LGD) for a 

relationship, thus assigning separate rating for obligor and facility characteristics.

Management reports are generated for monitoring and control purposes on periodical basis - monthly, quarterly, semi-

annually and annually. These reports are comprehensive, have wide scope and address several issues including:

• Portfolio quality, industry concentration and large exposures;

• Product concentration, credit monitoring and concentration of shares held by the Group as collateral; and

• Past due follow-up, customer-provisioning details and provision movement.

Retail portfolio comprises of personal loans, credit cards, housing loans and auto leasing.
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Individual customers are assessed on the basis of standardised pre-set criteria for specific schemes to assess eligibility for 

each of the above products. Delinquent customers, based on days past due (bucket-wise), are classified as non-performing.

For the retail portfolio, personal loans are granted against salary assignments to borrowers who are employees of approved 

list of acceptable employers, mainly government and quasi-government employees. The main criteria for lending to this 

portfolio include approved employer, minimum salary requirements, length of service and pre-specified Debt Service Ratio 

(DSR). Housing loan and auto leasing products are considered generally secured since the underlying assets are owned 

by the Group and leased to customers in the case of auto loans, or mortgaged to the Group in the case of housing loans, 

thus mitigating risk to a large extent, housing loans are also insured against mortality, permanent disability and damages to 

property.

The Group has developed application score-cards and behavior score-cards, using internal and external data, to evaluate, 

monitor and control consumer credits as this is expected to go a long way in making consumer credit risk management more 

effective and efficient.

32.3  Asset Quality
Corporate and commercial exposures are considered non-performing in the following circumstances:

• The principal of loan or interest payment remains past due more than 90 days after its due date;

• The outstanding of an overdraft remains in excess of approved limit for more than 90 days or the overdraft account is 

in-active for more than 180 days.

Non-performing exposures migrate across the non-performing risk grades (substandard, doubtful and loss) according to 

their days past due and/or deterioration in credit quality.

In determining whether a corporate exposure has become impaired, the Group makes judgements as to whether there is 

any observable data indicating decrease in the estimated future cash flows. This evidence may include an indication that 

there has been an adverse change in the payment status of borrowers. Management uses estimates based on historical loss 

experience for loans with similar credit risk characteristics, when estimating the cash flows. 

The methodology and assumptions used for estimating both, the amount and timing of future cash flows,  are reviewed 

regularly to reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual loss experience.

Consumer exposures are considered non-performing if payment remains past due more than 90 days after its due date.

32.4  Credit quality analysis

32.4.1  The following tables sets out information about the credit quality of financial assets measured at amortised cost 

and FVOCI debt investments. Unless specifically indicated, for financial assets, the amounts in the table represent gross 

carrying amounts. For loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts, the amounts in the table represent the amounts 

committed or guaranteed, respectively:

Due from bank and other financial institutions

2023

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Investment grade  2,459,322 - -  2,459,322 

Non-investment grade  20,936 - -  20,936 

Unrated  -   - -  -   

Gross carrying amount  2,480,258 - -  2,480,258 
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Due from bank and other financial institutions

2022

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Investment grade 5,977,405 - - 5,977,405

Non-investment grade 74,392 - - 74,392

Unrated - - - -

Gross carrying amount 6,051,797 - - 6,051,797

Total Loans and advances 
carried at amortised cost

2022

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Grades 1-8: Low - fair risk 132,993,116  8,474,730  41,874  141,509,720 

Grades 9-10: Watch list  141,179  3,410,878  39,895  3,591,952 

Grades 11-13 Substandard, Doubtful, Loss  -    -    2,646,955  2,646,955 

Gross carrying amount 133,134,295  11,885,608  2,728,724  147,748,627 

Consumer loans and credit cards
Loans and advances carried at amortised cost

2022

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Grades 1-8: Low - fair risk 33,696,000  2,890,910  17,066  36,603,976 

Grades 9-10: Watch list  -    309,549  15,360  324,909 

Grades 11-13: Substandard, doubtful, loss  -    -    82,970  82,970 

Gross carrying amount 33,696,000  3,200,459  115,396  37,011,855 

Total Loans and advances 
carried at amortised cost

2023

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Grades 1-8: Low - fair risk 138,622,406 11,059,983  39,663 149,722,052 

Grades 9-10: Watch list  38,276  3,471,421  30,683  3,540,380 

Grades 11-13 Substandard, Doubtful, Loss  -    -   2,301,838  2,301,838 

Gross carrying amount 138,660,682 14,531,404 2,372,184 155,564,270 

Consumer loans and credit cards
Loans and advances carried at amortised cost

2023

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Grades 1-8: Low - fair risk 36,728,855  3,689,649  36,155 40,454,659 

Grades 9-10: Watch list  -    297,440  27,272  324,712 

Grades 11-13: Substandard, doubtful, loss  -    -    116,870  116,870 

Gross carrying amount 36,728,855  3,987,089  180,297 40,896,241 
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Commercial loans, overdrafts and others
Loans and advances carried at amortised cost

2022

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Grades 1-8: Low - fair risk 99,297,116  5,583,820  24,808 104,905,744 

Grades 9-10: Watch list  141,179  3,101,329  24,535  3,267,043 

Grades 11-13: Substandard, doubtful, loss  -    -    2,563,985  2,563,985 

Gross carrying amount 99,438,295  8,685,149  2,613,328 110,736,772 

Debt instruments carried at amortised cost

2022

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Investment grade 35,903,168 - - 35,903,168

Non-investment grade 855,040 - - 855,040

Unrated - - - -

Gross carrying amount 36,758,208 - - 36,758,208

Commercial loans, overdrafts and others
Loans and advances carried at amortised cost

2023

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Grades 1-8: Low - fair risk 101,893,551  7,370,334  3,508 109,267,393 

Grades 9-10: Watch list  38,276  3,173,981  3,411  3,215,668 

Grades 11-13: Substandard, doubtful, loss  -    -    2,184,968  2,184,968 

Gross carrying amount 101,931,827  10,544,315  2,191,887 114,668,029 

Debt instruments carried at amortised cost

2023

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Investment grade 36,693,537 - - 36,693,537

Non-investment grade 252,681 - - 252,681

Unrated - - - -

Gross carrying amount 36,946,218 - - 36,946,218

Debt instruments carried at FVOCI

2023

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Investment grade 5,063,242 - - 5,063,242

Non-investment grade 1,418,412 - - 1,418,412

Unrated - - - -

Gross carrying amount 6,481,654 - - 6,481,654
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Debt instruments carried at FVOCI

2022

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Investment grade 491,186 - - 491,186

Non-investment grade 836,195 - - 836,195

Unrated - - - -

Gross carrying amount 1,327,381 - - 1,327,381

Credit-related commitments and contingencies

2022

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Grades 1-8: Low - fair risk 23,561,218  1,060,939  23,910 24,646,067

Grades 9-10: Watch list -  980,954  286 981,240

Grades 11-13: Substandard, doubtful, loss  -    -    831,404  831,404 

Gross carrying amount  23,561,218  2,041,893  855,600  26,458,711 

Investment grade comprises investments having credit rating equivalent to Standard & Poor’s AAA to BBB.

32.4.3 Amounts arising from ECL - Significant increase in credit risk
When determining whether the risk of default on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition, 

the Group considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This 

includes both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the Group’s historical experience and expert 

credit assessment and including forward-looking information.

No change has been made in the backstop criteria for all types of exposures.

32.4.2  Credit analysis of financial assets held as FVSI
The following table sets out the credit analysis for financial assets measured at FVSI:

Credit-related commitments and contingencies

2023

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Grades 1-8: Low - fair risk 35,770,689 550,433 22,446 36,343,568

Grades 9-10: Watch list -   920,441 1,136 921,577

Grades 11-13: Substandard, doubtful, loss -   -   729,089 729,089

Gross carrying amount 35,770,689 1,470,874 752,671 37,994,234

Equities and funds 2023 2022

Investment grade - -

Non-investment grade - -

Unrated 648,747  618,811 

Gross carrying amount 648,747  618,811 
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32.4.4  Credit risk grades
The Group allocates credit risk grades to each exposure based on a variety of variables that is determined to be predictive 

of the risk of default and applying experienced credit judgements. Credit risk grades are defined using qualitative and 

quantitative factors that are indicative of risk of default. These factors vary depending on the nature of the exposure and the 

type of borrower.

Credit risk grades are defined and calibrated such that the risk of default occurring increases significantly as the credit risk 

deteriorates so, for example, the difference in risk of default between credit risk grades 1 and 2 is smaller than the difference 

between credit risk grades 8 and 9.

The 12 months PIT PD for the exposures in grade 1 to 8 ranges from 0.25% to 4.59%. The 12 months PIT PD for grade 9 and 10 

(watch list) goes up to 22.35%.

Credit risk grade or score is allocated to each exposures at initial recognition based on available information about the 

borrower. Exposures are subject to ongoing monitoring, which may result in an exposure being moved to a different credit 

risk grade or score. The monitoring of exposures involves use of the following data:

32.4.5  Generating the term structure of PD
Credit risk grades are a primary input in the determination of the term structure of PD for exposures. The Group collects 

performance and default information about its credit risk exposures analyzed by type of product and borrower as well as by 

credit risk grading. For retail portfolios, SIMAH information is also used.

The Group employs statistical models to analyze the data collected and generate estimates of the remaining lifetime PD of 

exposures and how these are expected to change over a period of time.

This analysis includes the identification and calibration of relationships between changes in default rates and macro-

economic factors. For most exposures, key macro-economic indicators include Oil Price, GDP growth, Government 

Expenditures, Share Price Index and Employment.

Based on the available economic data and consideration of a variety of external actual and forecast information, the Group 

formulates a ‘base case’ view of the future direction of relevant economic variables as well as a representative range of other 

possible forecast scenarios. The Group then uses these forecasts to adjust its estimates of PDs.

32.4.6  Determining whether credit risk has increased significantly 
The criteria for determining whether credit risk has increased significantly vary by portfolio and include quantitative changes 

in PDs and a backstop based on delinquency.

Using its expert credit judgements and, where possible, relevant historical experience, the Group may determine that an 

exposure has undergone a significant increase in credit risk based on particular qualitative indicators that it considers are 

indicative of such and whose effect may not otherwise be fully reflected in its quantitative analysis on a timely basis.

Corporate exposures Retail exposures

Information obtained during periodic review of customer files - e.g. audited financial 
statements, management accounts, budgets and projections.  Examples of areas of 
particular focus are: gross profit margins, financial leverage ratios, debt service coverage, 
compliance with covenants, quality of management, senior management changes etc

Internally collected data and 
customer behaviour data - e.g. 
utilisation of credit card facilities

Data from credit reference agencies, press articles, changes in external credit ratings Affordability metrics

Quoted bond and credit default swap (CDS) prices for the borrower where available.
Actual and expected significant changes in the political, regulatory and technological 
environment of the borrower or in its business activities

External data from credit reference 
agencies  including default 
information
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The assessment of significant increase in credit risk, is assessed taking on account of:

• Days past due;

• change in probability of default by 150% occurring since initial recognition for retail portfolio;

• downgrade in obligor risk rating of 2 or more notches for wholesale portfolio expected life of the financial instrument; 

and

• reasonable and supportable information, that is available without undue cost or effort that may affect credit risk.

Lifetime expected credit losses are recognised against any material facility which has experienced significant increase in 

credit risk since initial recognition. Recognition of lifetime expected credit losses will be made if any facility is past due for 

30 days or more. The Group monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify significant increases in credit risk by 

regular reviews to confirm that: 

• the criteria are capable of identifying significant increases in credit risk before an exposure is in default; and 

• there is no unwarranted volatility in loss allowance from transfers between 12 month PD (stage 1) and lifetime PD (stage 2). 

As a backstop, the Group considers that a significant increase in credit risk occurs no later than when an asset is more than 

30 days past due. Days past due are determined by counting the number of days since the earliest elapsed due date when 

full payment became due.

32.4.7  Modified financial assets
The contractual terms of a loan may be modified for several reasons, including changing market conditions, customer 

retention and other factors not related to a current or potential credit deterioration of the customer. An existing loan 

whose terms have been modified may be derecognised and the renegotiated loan recognised as a new loan at fair value in 

accordance with the accounting policy.

When the terms of a financial asset are modified and the modification does not result in de-recognition, the determination 

of whether the asset’s credit risk has increased significantly reflects comparison of:

• its remaining Net Present Value (NPV) of the cash-flows at the reporting date based on the modified terms; with

• the remaining NPV of the cash-flows calculated based on data at initial recognition and the original contractual terms.

The Group renegotiates loans to customers in financial difficulties to maximise collection opportunities and minimise the 

risk of default. As per Group’s policy, loan restructuring is granted on a selective basis if the debtor is currently in default on 

its debt or if there is a high risk of default, there is evidence that the debtor made all reasonable efforts to pay under the 

original contractual terms and the debtor is expected to be able to meet the revised terms.

The revised terms usually include extending the maturity, changing the timing of interest payments and amending the terms 

of loan covenants. Both retail and corporate loans are subject to the restructuring policy. 

For financial assets modified as part of the Group’s policy, the estimate of PD reflects whether the modification has improved 

or restored the Group’s ability to collect interest and principal and the Group’s previous experience of similar restructuring 

action. As part of this process, the Group evaluates the borrower’s payment performance against the modified contractual 

terms and considers various behavioral indicators.

Generally, restructuring is a qualitative indicator of a significant increase in credit risk and an expectation of restructuring 

may constitute evidence that an exposure is credit-impaired /in default. A customer needs to demonstrate consistently good 

payment behavior over a period of time before the exposure is no longer considered to be credit-impaired/ in default or the 

PD is considered to have decreased such that the loss allowance reverts to being measured at an amount equal to 12-month 

ECL.
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32.4.8  Definition of ‘Default’
The following criteria are used to determine obligor default, if the obligor: 

• has an obligation which is 90 (or more) days past due;

• has an obligation for which the Group has stopped accruing interest;

• has obligation(s) that has/have been restructured with loss to the Group;

• has an obligation that is classified as non-performing by the Group; and

• has an obligation that the Group has charged off in part or in full. 

In assessing whether a borrower is in default, the Group considers indicators that are:

• Qualitative - e.g. breaches of covenant;

• Quantitative - e.g. overdue status and non-payment on another obligation of the same issuer to the Group;

• based on data developed internally and obtained from external sources; and

• inputs to the assessment of whether a financial instrument is in default and their significance may vary over time to 

reflect changes in circumstances.

The definition of default largely aligns with that applied by the Group for regulatory capital purposes.

32.4.9  Incorporation of forward-looking information
The Group incorporates forward-looking information into both its assessment of whether the credit risk of an instrument has 

increased significantly since its initial recognition and its measurement of ECL. Based on consideration of a variety of actual 

and forecast information, the Group formulates a ‘base case’ view of the future direction of relevant economic variables as 

well as a representative range of other possible forecast scenarios. This process involves developing two or more additional 

economic scenarios and considering the relative probabilities of each outcome. External information includes economic data 

and forecasts provided by agencies, such as Moody’s Economic Data services.

The base case represents a most-likely outcome and is aligned with information used by the Group for other purposes such 

as strategic planning and budgeting. The other scenarios represent more optimistic and pessimistic outcomes. 

The Group has identified and documented key drivers of credit risk and credit losses for each portfolio using an analysis 

of historical data and estimated relationships between macro-economic variables and credit risk and credit losses. The 

economic scenarios used included the following weightages ranges of key indicators:

Economic Indicators 2023 2022

GDP

Upside 25%

Base case 30%

Downside 45%

Upside 25%

Base case 30%

Downside 45%

Brent oil prices

Upside 25%

Base case 30%

Downside 45%

Upside 25%

Base case 30%

Downside 45%

Tadawul all shares index

Upside 25%

Base case 30%

Downside 45%

Upside 25%

Base case 30%

Downside 45%
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32.4.10  Probability weightages
The Group considered the probability weightings to provide the best estimate of the possible loss outcomes and has 

analysed inter-relationships and correlations (over both the short and long term) within the Group’s credit portfolios in 

determining them. 

Predicted relationships between the key indicators and default and loss rates on various portfolios of financial assets have 

been developed based on analyzing historical data over the past 10 to 15 years. The Group has used below scenarios forecast 

in its ECL model, which is based on updated information available as at the reporting date:

The table below shows the sensitivity of change in economic indicators to the ECL computed under three different scenarios 

used by the Group:

Economic Indicators

Forecast calendar years used in 
2023 ECL model

Forecast calendar years used in 
2022 ECL model

2024 2025 2026 2023 2024 2025

GDP Upside  842  882  902  986  1,012  1,031 

Base  825  860  880  969  990  1,009 

Downside  772  772  808  907  889  926 

Brent oil prices (USD$) Upside  85.41  74.39  74.03  85.52  70.27  68.98 

Base  83.09  74.31  74.03  83.19  70.20  68.98 

Downside  47.40  52.01  65.69  47.50  47.89  60.64 

Tadawul all shares index Upside  11,664  11,683  12,141  11,569 11,482 11,948 

Base  11,119  11,491  11,855  10,950 11,297 11,796 

Downside  7,000  9,158  10,460  7,763  9,513 10,964 

2023

Due from 
Banks and 

other financial 
institutions Investments

Loans and 
advances

Commitments
and 

contingencies Total

More optimistic (upside)  1,394  22,322  2,456,569  73,730  2,554,015 

Most likely (base case)  1,594  25,421  2,518,111  78,363  2,623,489 

More pessimistic (downside)  3,351  57,489  3,092,677  119,450  3,272,967 

2022

Due from 
Banks and 

other financial 
institutions Investments

Loans and 
advances

Commitments
and 

contingencies Total

More optimistic (upside)  2,293  19,118  3,086,578  82,369  3,190,358 

Most likely (base case)  2,640  22,351  3,178,518  87,044  3,290,553 

More pessimistic (downside)  5,346  54,621  3,922,396  130,197  4,112,560 

32.  Credit risk (continued)

188



arab national bank – Saudi Joint Stock Company

Note to consolidated financial statements 
As at and for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022

All amounts in thousands of Saudi Riyals unless stated otherwise

32.4.11  Measurement of ECL
The key inputs into the measurement of ECL are the term structure of the following variables:

• Probability of default (PD);

• Loss given default (LGD);

• Exposure at default (EAD).

These parameters are generally derived from internally developed statistical models and other historical data. They are 

adjusted to reflect forward-looking information as described above.

PD estimates are estimates at a certain date, which are calculated, based on statistical rating models, and assessed using 

rating tools tailored to the various categories of counterparties and exposures. These statistical models are based on 

internally and externally compiled data comprising both quantitative and qualitative factors. Where it is available, market data 

may also be used to derive the PD for large corporate counterparties. If a counterparty or exposure migrates between rating 

classes, then this will lead to a change in the estimate of the associated PD.

LGD is the magnitude of the likely loss if there is a default. The Group estimates LGD parameters based on the history of 

recovery rates of claims against defaulted counterparties. The LGD models consider the structure, collateral and recovery 

costs of any collateral that is integral to the financial asset. For secured retail loans, asset value/ type is a key parameter in 

determining LGD. LGD estimates are recalibrated for different economic scenarios. They are calculated on a discounted cash 

flow basis using the effective interest rate as the discounting factor.

EAD represents the expected exposure in the event of a default. The Group derives the EAD from the current exposure to 

the counterparty and potential changes to the current amount allowed under the contract including amortisation. The EAD 

of a financial asset is its gross carrying amount. For lending commitments and financial guarantees, the EAD includes the 

amount drawn, as well as potential future amounts that may be drawn under the contract, which are estimated based on 

historical observations and forward-looking forecasts. For some financial assets, EAD is determined by modeling the range of 

possible exposure outcomes at various points in time using scenario and statistical techniques.

As described above and subject to using a maximum of a 12-month PD for financial assets for which credit risk has not 

significantly increased, the Group measures ECL considering the risk of default over the maximum contractual period 

(including any borrower’s extension options) over which it is exposed to credit risk, even if, for risk management purposes, the 

Group considers a longer period. The maximum contractual period extends to the date at which the Group has the right to 

require repayment of an advance or terminate a loan commitment or guarantee.

However, for overdrafts and credit card facilities that include both a loan and an undrawn commitment component, the 

Group measures ECL over a period longer than the maximum contractual period if the Group’s contractual ability to demand 

repayment and cancel the undrawn commitment does not limit the Group’s exposure to credit losses to the contractual 

notice period. These facilities do not have a fixed term or repayment structure and are managed on a collective basis. The 

Group can cancel them with immediate effect, however this contractual right is not enforced in the normal day-to-day 

management but only when the Group becomes aware of significant increase in credit risk at the facility level, prompting 

such action. This longer period is estimated considering the credit risk management actions that the Group expects to take 

and that serve to mitigate ECL. These include a reduction in limits cancellation of the facility and/or turning the outstanding 

balance into a loan with fixed repayment terms.
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32.4.12  Sensitivity of ECL allowance
The table below illustrates the sensitivity of ECL to key factors used in determining it as at the year end:

32.4.13  Aging of loans and advances (past due but not impaired)

Assumptions sensitised

Statement of income impact 
(absolute values)

2023 2022

Changes in Macro-economic factors while other assumptions kept constant:

Decrease/ increase in Oil price by 1%  6,498  21,349 

Decrease/ increase in GDP by 1%  51,037  71,009 

Decrease/ increase in Tadawul all shares index by 1%  3,566  18,846 

Scenario weightages:

Base scenario sensitised by - 5% with corresponding change in downside  32,474  53,954 

Base scenario increases by + 5% with corresponding change in upside  3,474  17,863 

2023
Credit
cards

Consumer
loans

Commercial 
loans, 

overdrafts and 
others Total

Past due (1-30) days 33,132 1,097,994 2,023,647 3,154,773

Past due (31-60) days 16,022 205,054 747,160 968,236

Past due (61-90) days 7,205 74,441 551,532 633,178

Past due (91-180) days - - 207,122 207,122

Above 180 days - - 1,769 1,769

Total 56,359 1,377,489 3,531,230 4,965,078

2022
Credit
cards

Consumer
loans

Commercial 
loans, 

overdrafts and 
others Total

Past due (1-30) days  25,506  786,907 1,180,871 1,993,284

Past due (31-60) days  7,848  238,601  92,336  338,785 

Past due (61-90) days  4,168  74,292  40,536  118,996 

Past due (91-180) days  12,076  70,894  1,158,816  1,241,786 

Above 180 days  -    -    511,653  511,653 

Total  49,598  1,170,694 2,984,212 4,204,504
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In exceptional cases financial assets past due more than 90 days are considered performing based on reasonable and 

supportable information (e.g. administrative oversight, delay in receipt of receivables from entities with strong credit 

standing) after following a rigorous review and governance process.

32.4.14  Collateral 
In the ordinary course of lending activities, the Group hold collaterals as security to mitigate credit risk. These collaterals 

mostly include time, demand, and other cash deposits, financial guarantees, local and international equities, real estate and 

other fixed assets. The collaterals are held mainly against commercial loans and are managed against relevant exposures at 

their net realisable values. For financial assets that are credit impaired at the reporting period, quantitative information about 

the collateral held as security is needed to the extent that such collateral mitigates credit risk.

The amount of collateral held as security for loans that are credit impaired are as follows:

2023 2022

Less than 50%  1,443,660  1,670,496 

51-70%  144,285  461,895 

More than 70%  784,239  596,333 

Total  2,372,184 2,728,724 
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32.4.15  Geographical concentration
The Group’s main credit exposure by geographical region is as follows in the below table:

2023
Saudi

Arabia

Other GCC 
& Middle 

East Europe
North

America
Latin

America

South 
East 
Asia

Other 
Countries Total

Assets

Cash and balances with SAMA

Cash in hand  1,707,402 -  2,261 - - - -  1,709,663

Balances with SAMA  9,182,519 -  -   - - - -  9,182,519

Due from banks and other financial institutions

Current accounts -  67,003  287,804  46,521 - 24,106 63,397  488,831

Money market placements -  1,224,769  764,349  -   - - -  1,989,118

Investments, net 

Held as FVSI  179,682  -    81  468,984 - - -  648,747

Held as FVOCI  4,966,637  1,027,943  498,992  2,478,702 - - 120,961  9,093,235

Held at amortised cost  36,889,157  44,691  -    -   - - -  36,933,848

Positive fair value of derivatives

Held for trading  226,890  14,278  669,323  484,060 - - -  1,394,551

Held as fair value hedges  -    -    407,340  -   - - -  407,340

Held as cash flow hedges  -    -    -    -   - - -  -   

Loans and advances, net

Overdraft  3,590,347  -    -    -   - - -  3,590,347

Credit cards  922,614  -    431  -   - - -  923,045

Consumer loans  39,405,154  -    159  -   - - -  39,405,313

Commercial loans and others  105,732,899  825,999  181,759  1,574,848 899 - - 108,316,404

Accounts receivable 2,125,049 - - - - - - 2,125,049

Total assets 204,928,350 3,204,683 2,812,499 5,053,115 899 24,106 184,358 216,208,010

Liabilities

Due to banks, SAMA and other financial institutions

Current accounts  -    67,943  1,408  105,540  -    1,012  60  175,963 

Money market deposits & commission free SAMA 
deposits

 7,339,774  914,013  -    -    -    -    -    8,253,787 

Customers’ deposits

Demand  81,826,623 - 626,660 - - - -  82,453,283 

Time  77,569,880 - - - - - -  77,569,880 

Saving  367,976 - - - - - -  367,976 

Other  5,470,199 - - - - - -  5,470,199 

Negative fair value of derivatives

Held for trading  167,976  43,393  760,783  334,713 - - -  1,306,865 

Held as fair value hedges  -    -    10,821  -   - - -  10,821 

Held as cash flow hedges  19,974  -    65,700  -   - - -  85,674 

Accrued expenses and accounts payable 6,066,340 - 10,762 - - - - 6,077,102

Issued Sukuk 2,828,863 - - - - - - 2,828,863

Total liabilities 181,657,605 1,025,349 1,476,134 440,253 - 1,012 60 184,600,413

Commitments and contingencies

Letters of credit  5,492,537  14,949  14,721  10,478  -    -    28  5,532,713 

Letters of guarantee 24,088,023  430,019  318,363  470  -    176,801  35,442 25,049,118

Acceptances  1,567,174  -    -    -    -    -    -    1,567,174 

Irrevocable commitments to extend credit  5,835,479  -    -    -    -    -    -    5,835,479 

Other  9,750  -    -    -    -    -    -    9,750 

Maximum credit exposure (credit equivalent amounts)

Derivatives

Held for trading  918,453  37,908  861,893  65,843 - -  162,344  2,046,441 

Held as fair value hedges  1,284  -    742,317  172,929 - -  -    916,530 

Commitments and contingencies

Letters of credit  5,274,541  14,949  14,721  10,478  -    -    28  5,314,717 

Letters of guarantee 13,083,035  215,009  159,181  235  -    88,400  17,721 13,563,581

Acceptances  1,567,174  -    -    -    -    -    -    1,567,174 

Irrevocable commitments to extend credit  2,334,192  -    -    -    -    -    -    2,334,192 

Other  975  -    -    -    -    -    -    975 
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2022
Saudi

Arabia

Other GCC 
& Middle 

East Europe
North

America
Latin

America

South 
East 
Asia

Other 
Countries Total

Assets

Cash and balances with SAMA

Cash in hand  1,620,059  -    1,796  -    -    -    -    1,621,855 

Balances with SAMA 10,812,342  -    -    -    -    -    -    10,812,342 

Due from banks and other financial institutions

Current accounts  -    168,000  331,155  235,121  -    34,223  139,254  907,753 

Money market placements  2,400,791  175,071  1,521,624  1,042,796  -    -    -    5,140,282 

Investments, net 

Held as FVSI  136,728  -    97  481,986  -    -    -    618,811 

Held as FVOCI  3,067,416  593,974  1,418  -    -    -    -    3,662,808 

Held at amortised cost  36,702,162  33,977  -    -    -    -    -    36,736,139 

Positive fair value of derivatives

Held for trading  110,760  22,987  1,246,382  731,784  -    -    -    2,111,913 

Held as fair value hedges  -    -    704,382  143,374  -    -    -    847,756 

Held as cash flow hedges  -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

Loans and advances, net

Overdraft  2,855,770  -    5,930  -    -    -    -    2,861,700 

Credit cards  673,850  -    1,071  -    -    -    -    674,921 

Consumer loans 35,907,229  -    175  -    -    -    -    35,907,404 

Commercial loans and others 101,964,818  913,234  376,413  1,130,329  -    -    -   104,384,794

Accounts receivable 1,655,398  -    -    -    -    -    -   1,655,398

Total assets 197,907,323 1,907,243 4,190,443 3,765,390  -    34,223  139,254 207,943,876

Liabilities

Due to banks, SAMA and other financial institutions

Current accounts  -    65,412  5,248  191,255  -    284  2,054  264,253 

Money market deposits & commission free SAMA 
deposits

 11,681,835  942,270  622,910  -    -    -    -    13,247,015 

Customers’ deposits

Demand  74,883,050  120,305  58,761  1,536  -    -    80  75,063,732 

Time  73,177,388  -    22,614  -    -    -    -    73,200,002 

Saving  311,438  -    -    -    -    -    -    311,438 

Other  6,296,094  -    -    -    -    -    -    6,296,094 

Negative fair value of derivatives

Held for trading  277,011  53,924  1,004,846  712,249  -    -    -    2,048,030 

Held as fair value hedges  -    -    -    72  -    -    -    72 

Held as cash flow hedges  27,278  -    88,861  -    -    -    -    116,139 

Accrued expenses and accounts payable 5,834,652  -    4,258  -    -    -    -   5,838,910

Issued Sukuk  2,829,092  -    -    -    -    -    -   2,829,092

Total liabilities 175,317,838 1,181,911 1,807,498  905,112  -    284  2,134 179,214,777

Commitments and contingencies

Letters of credit 4,392,157 71,841  18,509  -    -    -    383  4,482,890 

Letters of guarantee 16,916,439 1,421,168 300,810  -    -    -   254,734  18,893,151 

Acceptances 1,135,532  7,054  -    -    -    -    -    1,142,586 

Irrevocable commitments to extend credit 1,926,584  -    -    -    -    -    -    1,926,584 

Other  13,500  -    -    -    -    -    -    13,500 

Maximum credit exposure (credit equivalent amounts)

Derivatives

Held for trading  305,862  63,038  1,210,257  -    -    -    281,346  1,860,503 

Held as fair value hedges  810  -    1,218,439  -    -    -    -    1,219,249 

Commitments and contingencies

Letters of credit  3,550,623  14,368  3,702  -    -    -    77  3,568,770 

Letters of guarantee  10,678,976  843,534  152,958  -    -    -    192,339  11,867,807 

Acceptances  1,135,532  7,055  -    -    -    -    1,142,587 

Irrevocable commitments to extend credit  946,543  -    -    -    -    -    -    946,543 

Other  -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -   
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Credit equivalent amounts reflect the amounts that result from translating the Group’s off consolidated statement of financial 

position liabilities into the risk equivalent of loans using credit conversion factors prescribed by SAMA. Credit conversion 

factor is meant to capture the potential credit risk related to commitments being exercised.

32.4.16  The distributions by geographical concentration of non-performing loans and advances and 
allowance for expected credit losses are as follows:

33.  Market risk
Market Risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of financial instruments will fluctuate due to changes in market 

variables such as commission rates, foreign exchange rates, and equity prices. The Group classifies exposures to market risk 

into either trading, non-trading or banking-book.

33.1  Market risk - trading book
The Board of Directors has set limits for the acceptable level of risk in managing the trading book. To manage market risk in 

the trading book, the Group periodically applies a VaR (Value at Risk) methodology to assess the market risk positions held 

and to estimate the potential economic loss based on a set of parameters and assumptions regarding changes in market 

conditions. 

A VaR methodology estimates the potential negative change in market value of a portfolio at a given confidence level and 

over a specified time horizon. The Group uses risk models to assess the possible changes in the market value of the trading 

book based on historical data. VaR models are usually designed to measure the market risk in a normal market environment 

and therefore the use thereof has limitations due to it being based on historical correlations and volatilities in market prices 

and assumes that the future movements will follow a statistical distribution. 

The VaR that the Group measures is an estimate, using a confidence level of 99% of the potential loss that is not expected 

to be exceeded if the current market positions were to be held unchanged for one day. The use of 99% confidence level 

depicts that within a one-day horizon, losses exceeding VaR should occur, on average, not more than once every hundred 

days. 

The VaR represents the market risk in a portfolio at the close of a business day. It does not account for any losses that may 

occur beyond the defined confidence interval. Actual trading results can, however, differ from the VaR calculations. VaR does 

not provide a meaningful indication of profits and losses in stressed market conditions.

Although VaR is an important tool for measuring market risk, the assumptions on which the model is based do give rise to 

some limitations, including the following:

2023 Non-Performing Loans Allowance for expected credit losses

Overdraft
Credit 
cards

Consumer 
loans

Commercial 
loans and 

others Overdraft
Credit 
cards

Consumer
loans

Commercial 
loans and 

others

Saudi Arabia  15,221  23,365  93,505  2,169,747 121,528 89,313  478,570  2,639,750

2022 Non-Performing Loans Allowance for expected credit losses

Overdraft
Credit 
cards

Consumer 
loans

Commercial 
loans

and others Overdraft
Credit 
cards

Consumer
loans

Commercial 
loans and 

others

Saudi Arabia  26,729 12,076  70,894  2,537,256  183,314  63,458  366,072  3,306,964 
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• A 1-day holding period assumes that it is possible to hedge or dispose of positions within a one day horizon. This is 

considered to be a realistic assumption in most cases but may not be true in situations where there is severe market 

liquidity for a prolonged period.

• A 99 percent confidence level does not reflect losses that may occur beyond this level. Even within the model used there 

is a one percent probability that losses could exceed VaR.

• VaR is calculated on an end of day basis and does not reflect exposures that may arise on positions during the trading 

day.

• VaR is dependent upon the Group’s position and the volatility of market prices. The VaR of an unchanged position 

reduces if the market price volatility declines and vice versa.

The limitations of VaR are recognised by supplementing the VaR limits with other position and sensitivity limit structures, 

including limits to address potential concentration risks within each trading portfolio. In addition, the Group carries out stress 

testing on its trading book to simulate conditions outside normal confidence intervals. The potential losses occurring under 

stress test conditions are reported regularly to the Bank’s Asset and Liabilities Committee (ALCO) for review.

The Group’s calculated VaR is disclosed below in SAR million as follows:

* Total VaR is less than the sum of the VaR of the different market risk types due to risk offsets resulting from a portfolio diversification effect.

** It is not meaningful to compute a diversification effect because the high and low may occur on different days for different risk types.

33.2  Market risk: non-trading or banking book
Market risk on non-trading or banking positions mainly arises from commission rate and foreign currency exposures and 

equity price changes.

33.2.1  Commission rate risk
Commission rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in commission rates will affect either the fair values or the future 

cash flows of financial instruments. The Board of Directors has established commission rate gap limits for stipulated periods. 

The Group monitors positions daily and uses hedging strategies to ensure positions are maintained within the established gap 

limits. 

The following table shows the sensitivity of the Group’s consolidated statement of income and equity to a reasonable 

possible change in commission rates, with other variables held constant. Income sensitivity arises from the impact of 

assumed changes in commission rates on special commission income for one year, based on floating rate non-trading 

financial assets and liabilities held as at year end, after taking into account the effect of hedging. Equity sensitivity is 

calculated by revaluing fixed rate FVOCI/ FVOCI financial assets, including the effect of any associated hedges for the effect 

of assumed changes in commission rates. The sensitivity of equity is analyzed by maturity of the asset or swap.

2023 2022

Year-end Average High Low Year-end Average High Low

Special commission rate risk  0.9986  1.5844  6.2442  0.5002  0.7118  1.2608  5.0475  0.3439 

Foreign exchange risk  0.4545  0.9660  5.6209  0.3696  1.2499  0.9640  2.6532  0.2065 

Diversification effect *  (0.4964)  (0.6514) ** **  (0.6029)  (0.5578)  ** ** 

Total VaR (one day measure)  0.9567  1.8990  6.4552  0.5390  1.3588  1.6670  4.9625  0.5342 
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Banking book exposures are monitored and analyzed in their respective currencies and relevant sensitivities are disclosed in 

SAR million as follows:

33.2.2  Commission rate sensitivity of assets, liabilities and off consolidated statement of financial position 
items
The Group manages exposure to the effects of various risks associated with fluctuations in the prevailing levels of market 

commission rates on its financial position and cash flows. 

The table in next page summarises the Group’s exposure to commission rate risk. Included in the table are the Group’s 

financial assets and liabilities at carrying amounts, categorised by the earlier of contractual re-pricing or maturity dates. The 

Group is exposed to commission rate risk as a result of mismatches or gaps in the amounts of financial assets and liabilities 

and derivatives, credit related commitment and contingencies that mature or re-price in a given period. The Group manages 

this risk by matching the re-pricing of assets and liabilities through risk management strategies.

Currency

2023

Increase/ 
(decrease) 

in basis 
points

Sensitivity 
of special 

commission 
income

Sensitivity of equity Total

6 months 
or less

1 year or 
less

1-5 years or 
less

Over 5 
years

SAR +10  32.32  (0.03)  (0.04)  (0.06)  -    (0.13)

USD +10  2.71  -    (1.33)  (27.00)  (2.39)  (30.72)

Others +10  0.55  -    -    -    -    -   

SAR -10 (32.32)  0.03  0.04  0.06  -    0.13 

USD -10  (2.71)  -    1.33  27.00  2.39  30.72 

Others -10  (0.55)  -    -    -    -    -   

Currency

2022

Increase/ 
(decrease) 

in basis 
points

Sensitivity 
of special 

commission 
income

Sensitivity of equity Total

6 months 
or less

1 year or 
less

1-5 years or 
less

Over 5 
years

SAR +10  38.16  -    (0.06)  (0.01)  -    (0.07)

USD +10  3.00  -    (0.26)  (3.80)  -    (4.06)

Others +10  0.51  -    -    -    -    -   

SAR -10  (38.16)  -    0.06  0.01  -    0.07 

USD -10  (3.00)  -    0.26  3.80  -    4.06 

Others -10  (0.51)  -    -    -    -    -   
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2023
Within 3 
months

3-12 
months 1-5 years Over 5 years

Non 
commission 

bearing Total

Assets

Cash and balances with SAMA 358,000 - - - 10,534,182 10,892,182

Due from banks and other financial 
institutions

1,991,427 - - - 486,522 2,477,949

Positive fair value derivatives 124,572 111,060 683,761 882,498 - 1,801,891

Investments, net

Held as FVSI - - - - 648,747 648,747

Held as FVOCI 561,428 213,498 2,139,803 3,566,924 2,611,582 9,093,235

Held at amortised cost 11,523,561 587,325 8,651,134 16,171,828 - 36,933,848

Loans and advances, net

Overdrafts 3,590,347 - - - - 3,590,347

Credit cards 923,045 - - - - 923,045

Consumer loans 508,352 4,134,073 17,798,056 16,964,832 - 39,405,313

Commercial loans and others 74,968,198 32,526,926 620,656 200,624 - 108,316,404

Other assets

Accounts receivable - - - - 1,975,630 1,975,630

Total assets 94,548,930 37,572,882 29,893,410 37,786,706 16,256,663 216,058,591

Liabilities

Due to banks, SAMA and other 
financial institutions

4,132,862 1,266,868 2,854,057 - 175,963 8,429,750

Negative fair value derivatives  40,611  108,824  602,988  650,937  -    1,403,360 

Customers’ deposits  70,557,233  11,786,923  1,063,899  -    82,453,283  165,861,338 

Other liabilities

Accrued expenses and accounts 
payable

- - - - 6,077,102 6,077,102

Issued Sukuk - - - 2,828,863 - 2,828,863

Total liabilities 74,730,706 13,162,615 4,520,944 3,479,800 88,706,348 184,600,413

Commission rate sensitivity on 
financial assets and liabilities 
financial position gap

19,818,224 24,410,267  25,372,466  34,306,906 (72,449,685)  31,458,178 

Commission rate sensitivity for 
derivative financial instruments

 6,785,731  1,472,724  (2,139,645)  (6,118,810)  -    -   

Total commission rate sensitivity 
gap

26,603,955  25,882,991  23,232,821  28,188,096 (72,449,685)  31,458,178 

Cumulative commission rate 
sensitivity gap

26,603,955 52,486,946  75,719,767 103,907,863  31,458,178  -   

Overview  Strategic Review  Directors’ Report  Financial Statements

197Annual Report 2023



arab national bank – Saudi Joint Stock Company

Note to consolidated financial statements 
As at and for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022

All amounts in thousands of Saudi Riyals unless stated otherwise

2022
Within 3 
months

3-12 
months 1-5 years Over 5 years

Non 
commission 

bearing Total

Assets

Cash and balances with SAMA 2,722,000 - - - 9,712,197 12,434,197

Due from banks and other financial 
institutions

5,140,282 - - - 907,753 6,048,035

Positive fair value derivatives  83,696  71,520  898,201  1,906,252 - 2,959,669

Investments, net

Held as FVSI  -    1,230  -    -    617,581  618,811 

Held as FVOCI  158,400  -    303,342  890,027  2,311,039 3,662,808

Held at amortised cost  11,370,874  -    6,428,560  18,936,705  -   36,736,139

Loans and advances, net

Overdrafts  2,861,700  -    -    -    -    2,861,700 

Credit cards  674,921  -    -    -    -    674,921 

Consumer loans  483,167  4,179,459  16,316,889  14,927,889  -    35,907,404 

Commercial loans and others  73,031,237  28,573,942  2,478,682  300,933  -    104,384,794 

Other assets

Accounts receivable - - - - 1,655,398 1,655,398

Total assets  96,526,277 32,826,151  26,425,674  36,961,806 15,203,968 207,943,876

Liabilities

Due to banks, SAMA and other 
financial institutions

 1,513,845 6,302,043  5,431,127  -   264,253 13,511,268

Negative fair value derivatives  75,013  87,672  877,119  1,124,437  -    2,164,241 

Customers’ deposits  59,051,293  19,019,063  1,737,178  -    75,063,732 154,871,266

Other liabilities

Accrued expenses and accounts 
payable

- - - - 5,838,910 5,838,910

Issued Sukuk - - - 2,829,092 - 2,829,092

Total liabilities 60,640,151 25,408,778 8,045,424 3,953,529 81,166,895 179,214,777

Commission rate sensitivity on 
financial assets and liabilities 
financial position gap

35,886,126  7,417,373 18,380,250  33,008,277  (65,962,927)  28,729,099 

Commission rate sensitivity for 
derivative financial instruments

 7,169,591  1,532,177  (789,904)  (7,911,864)  -    -   

Total commission rate sensitivity 
gap

43,055,717  8,949,550  17,590,346  25,096,413  (65,962,927)  28,729,099 

Cumulative commission rate 
sensitivity gap

43,055,717  52,005,267  69,595,613  94,692,026  28,729,099  -   

The off consolidated statement of financial position gap represents the net notional amounts of derivative financial 

instruments, which are used to manage commission rate risk.

The effective commission rate (effective yield) of a monetary financial instrument is the rate that, when used in a present 

value calculation, results in the carrying amount of the instrument. The rate is a historical rate for a fixed rate instrument 

carried at amortised cost and a current market rate for a floating rate instrument or an instrument carried at fair value.
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33.2.3  Currency risk 
Currency risk represents the risk of changes in the value of financial instruments due to changes in foreign exchange rates. 

Foreign currency risk exposures that arise in the banking book are transferred to the trading book and are managed as part 

of the trading portfolio. The Board sets various types of currency risk limits that are monitored daily, including position, stop-

loss and VaR limits.

The table below shows the currencies to which the Group has a significant exposure as at year end, on its non-trading 

monetary assets and liabilities and forecasted cash flows. The analysis calculates the effect of reasonable possible movement 

of the currency rate against SAR with all other variables held constant, on the consolidated statement of income (due 

to changes in fair values of currency sensitive non-trading monetary assets and liabilities) and equity (due to changes in 

fair values of currency swaps used as cash flow hedges). A positive effect shows a potential increase in the consolidated 

statement of income or equity whereas, a negative effect shows a potential net reduction in the consolidated statement of 

income or equity, and are disclosed in SAR million as per the below table:

33.2.4  Currency position
The Group manages exposure to the effects of fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates on its financial position and 

cash flows. The Board sets limits on the level of exposure by currency and in total for both overnight and intra-day positions. 

These limits are monitored daily. At the end of the year, the Group had the following significant net exposures denominated 

in foreign currencies:  

Currency risk exposures

2023 2022

Changes in 
currency rate in %

Effect on net
income

Changes in 
currency rate in %

Effect on net
Income

US Dollar
+5

 -5

(2,480)

 2,480 

+5

 -5

 (58.302)

58.302

Euro
+3

 -3

51 

 (51)

+3

 -3

0.019

(0.019)

Pound Sterling
+3

 -3

(577)

 577

+3

 -3

(0.183)

0.183

Long (short)
2023

Long (short)
2022

US Dollar  (49,601)  (1,166,045)

Euro  1,703  646 

Pound Sterling  (19,244)  (6,084)
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33.2.5  Equity price risk
Equity price risk refers to the risk of a decrease in the fair values of equities in the non-trading investment portfolio as a 

result of reasonable possible changes in levels of equity indices and the value of individual stocks. The effect on the Group’s 

FVOCI equity investments due to reasonable possible change in equity indices, with all other variables held constant is as 

follows:

34.  Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will be unable to meet its net funding requirements. Liquidity risk can be caused by 

market disruptions or credit downgrades, which may cause certain sources of funding to dry up suddenly. To mitigate this 

risk, management has diversified funding sources, manages assets with liquidity in mind and maintains a healthy balance of 

cash, cash equivalents and readily marketable securities.

In accordance with the Banking Control Law and the regulations issued by SAMA, the Group maintains a statutory deposit 
with SAMA equal to 7% (2022: 7%) of total demand deposits and 4% (2022: 4%) of saving and time deposits. In addition to the 
statutory deposit, the Group also maintains liquid reserves of no less than 20% of its deposit liabilities, in the form of cash, 
Saudi Government debt instruments or assets that can be converted into cash within 30 days.

The Group has the ability to raise additional funds through repo facilities with SAMA mainly against debt instruments issued 

by Saudi companies or Saudi government.

34.1  Analysis of undiscounted financial liabilities by remaining contractual maturities
The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities based on contractual undiscounted 

repayment obligations. As special commission payments up to contractual maturity are included in the table, totals do not 

match with the consolidated statement of financial position. The contractual maturities of liabilities have been determined 

based on the remaining period at the reporting date to the contractual maturity date and do not take into account the 

effective expected maturities. The Group expects that many customers will not request repayment on the earliest date the 

Group could be required to pay and the table does not affect the expected cash flows indicated by the Group’s deposit 

retention history.

Market indices

2023 2022

Change
 in index %

Effect in
SAR thousands

Change 
in index %

Effect in
SAR thousands

Tadawul
+5

 -5

 102,469 

 (102,469)

+5

 -5

 101,897 

 (101,897)

International indices
+5

 -5

 24,453 

 (24,453)

+5

 -5

 -   

 -   

Unquoted
+5

 -5

 15,780 

 (15,80)

+5

 -5

 24,104 

 (24,104)
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Due to banks, SAMA and other financial institutions and Customers’ deposits under no fixed maturity are callable on demand.

2023
Within 3 
months

3-12 
months

1-5 
years

Above 5 
years

No fixed 
maturity Total

Financial liabilities

Due to banks, SAMA and other 
financial institutions

 2,954,699  1,755,053 3,586,902  -    175,963 8,472,617

Customers’ deposits 64,795,364 12,585,131 1,110,410 - 88,226,870 166,717,775

Issued Sukuk 16,402 77,398 374,432 2,999,595 - 3,467,827

Other liabilities

Accrued expenses and 
accounts payable

- - - - 6,077,102 6,077,102

Total financial liabilities 67,766,465 14,417,582 5,071,744 2,999,595  94,479,935 184,735,321

2022
Within 3 
months

3-12 
months

1-5 
years

Above 5 
years

No fixed 
maturity Total

Financial liabilities 

Due to banks, SAMA and other 
financial institutions

 4,970,002  3,391,839  5,000,015  -    264,253  13,626,109 

Customers’ deposits  52,638,846  20,286,022  1,857,223  -    81,491,875 156,273,966 

Issued Sukuk  16,630  78,213  375,474  3,093,651  -    3,563,968 

Other liabilities

Accrued expenses and 
accounts payable

- - - - 5,838,910 5,838,910

Total financial liabilities 57,625,478 23,756,074 7,232,712 3,093,651 87,595,038 179,302,953 
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34.2  Maturity profile of Group’s financial assets and liabilities
The table below shows an analysis of assets and liabilities analyzed according to when they are expected to be recovered or 

settled. See (note 34.1) above for the Group’s contractual undiscounted financial liabilities. 

Management monitors the maturity profile to ensure that adequate liquidity is maintained. The daily liquidity position is 

monitored and regular liquidity stress testing is conducted under a variety of scenarios covering both normal and more 

severe market conditions. All liquidity policies and procedures are subject to review and approval by ALCO. Daily reports 

cover the liquidity position of the Bank, operating subsidiaries and the foreign branch. A summary report, including any 

exceptions and remedial action taken, is submitted regularly to ALCO.

2023
Within 3 
months

3-12 
months 1-5 years

Over 5 
years

No fixed 
maturity Total

Assets

Cash and balances with SAMA 2,069,032  -    -    -    8,823,150 10,892,182 

Due from banks and other financial 
institutions

1,991,427  -    -    -    486,522  2,477,949 

Positive fair value of derivatives  124,572  111,060  683,761  882,498  -    1,801,891 

Investments, net 

Held as FVSI  -    -    -    -    648,747  648,747 

Held as FVOCI  -    215,970  2,532,799  3,732,885  2,611,581  9,093,235 

Held at amortised cost  544,184  235,341 18,625,652 17,528,671  -   36,933,848 

Loans and advances, net 

Overdraft  3,590,347  -    -    -    -    3,590,347 

Credit cards  923,045  -    -    -    -    923,045 

Consumer loans  1,261,501  4,870,972 16,302,593 16,970,247  -    39,405,313 

Commercial loans and others 42,669,689 28,651,943 28,030,508  8,964,264  -   108,316,404 

Other assets

Accounts receivable  -    -    -    -   2,125,049  2,125,049 

Total assets 53,173,797 34,085,286 66,175,313 48,078,565 14,695,049 216,208,010 

Liabilities

Due to banks, SAMA and other 
financial institutions

 2,925,024  1,717,763  3,611,000  -    175,963  8,429,750 

Negative fair value of derivatives  40,611  108,824  602,988  650,937  -    1,403,360 

Customers’ deposits  64,598,241  12,078,054  1,075,115  -    88,109,928  165,861,338 

Other liabilities

Accrued expenses and accounts 
payable

-  -    -    -    6,077,102  6,077,102 

Issued Sukuk  -    -   - 2,828,863  -    2,828,863 

Total liabilities  67,563,876  13,904,641  5,289,103  3,479,800  94,362,993  184,600,413 
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Due to/ from banks, SAMA and other financial institutions and Customers’ deposits under no fixed maturity are callable on 

demand.

2022
Within 3 
months

3-12 
months 1-5 years

Over 5 
years

No fixed 
maturity Total

Assets

Cash and balances with SAMA  4,357,800  -    -    -    8,076,397  12,434,197 

Due from banks and other financial 
institutions

 5,140,282  -    -    -    907,753  6,048,035 

Positive fair value of derivatives  83,696  71,520  898,201  1,906,252  -    2,959,669 

Investments, net 

Held as FVSI  -    -    -    -    618,811  618,811 

Held as FVOCI  -    -    645,143  682,238  2,335,427  3,662,808 

Held at amortised cost  -    297,896 16,027,648 20,410,595  -    36,736,139 

Loans and advances, net 

Overdraft  2,861,700  -    -    -    -    2,861,700 

Credit cards  674,921  -    -    -    -    674,921 

Consumer loans  1,280,391  4,107,888 16,008,525 14,510,600  -    35,907,404 

Commercial loans and others  45,153,334  21,886,042 24,905,918 12,439,500  -   104,384,794 

Other assets

Accounts receivable  -    -    -    -   1,655,398 1,655,398

Total assets 59,552,124 26,363,346 58,485,435 49,949,185 13,593,786 207,943,876

Liabilities

Due to banks, SAMA and other 
financial institutions

 4,848,388  3,406,000  4,992,627  -    264,253  13,511,268 

Negative fair value of derivatives  75,013  87,672  877,119  1,124,437  -    2,164,241 

Customers’ deposits  52,051,730  19,609,049  1,718,612  -    81,491,875  154,871,266 

Other liabilities

Accrued expenses and accounts 
payable

 -    -    -    -   5,838,910 5,838,910

Issued Sukuk  -    16,599  -    2,812,493  -    2,829,092 

Total liabilities 56,975,131 23,119,320  7,588,358 3,936,930 87,595,038 179,214,777
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35.  Fair values of assets and liabilities
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between 

market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction 

to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place in either:

• The accessible principal market for the asset or liability; or

• The absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous accessible market for the asset or liability.

• The fair values of on-consolidated statement of financial position for assets and liabilities are not significantly different 

from their carrying amounts included in the consolidated financial statements.

Determination of fair value and fair value hierarchy. The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing 

the fair value of assets and liabilities:

Level 1: quoted prices in active markets for the same instrument (i.e., without modification or repacking);

Level 2: quoted prices in active markets for similar assets and liabilities or other valuation techniques for which all   

 significant inputs are based on observable market data; and

Level 3:  valuation techniques for which any significant inputs are not based on observable market data.

35.1  Carrying amounts and fair value
The following table shows the carrying amount and fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities, including their levels 

in the fair value hierarchy for financial instruments. It does not include the fair value hierarchy information for financial assets 

and financial liabilities not measured at fair value if the carrying amount is a reasonable approximation of fair value.

35.1.1  Financial assets

2023
Carrying 

value

Fair value

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial assets measured at fair value

Investments at FVSI  648,747  22,460  -    626,287  648,747 

Investments at FVOCI  9,093,235  2,611,581  6,481,654  -    9,093,235 

Positive fair value of derivatives  1,801,891  -    1,801,891  -    1,801,891 

Financial assets not measured at fair value

Investments at amortised cost  36,933,848  -    34,315,718  -    34,315,718 

Loans and advances  152,235,109  -    -    150,135,004  150,135,004 

2022
Carrying 

value

Fair value

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial assets measured at fair value

Investments at FVSI  618,811  -   - 618,811  618,811 

Investments at FVOCI  3,662,808  2,335,427 1,327,381  -  3,662,808 

Positive fair value of derivatives  2,959,669  -    2,959,669  -    2,959,669 

Financial assets not measured at fair value

Investments at amortised cost  36,736,139 - 34,737,144 - 34,737,144

Loans and advances  143,828,819 - - 142,194,677 142,194,677
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35.2  Measurement of fair values

35.2.1  Transfer between levels of the fair value hierarchy
There have been no transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022.

35.2.2  Reconciliation of Level 3 fair values
The following table shows the movement of Level 3 fair values for the year:

35.2.3  Valuation technique and significant unobservable inputs
The following table shows the valuation techniques used in measuring level 2 and Level 3 fair values at December 31, 2023 

and 2022, as well as the significant unobservable inputs used:

35.1.2  Financial Liabilities

2023
Carrying 

value

Fair value

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial liabilities measured at fair value

Negative fair value of derivatives  1,403,360  -    1,403,360  -    1,403,360 

Financial liabilities not measured at fair value

Issued Sukuk  2,828,863  -    2,694,431  -    2,694,431 

2022
Carrying 

value

Fair value

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial liabilities measured at fair value

Negative fair value of derivatives 2,164,241 - 2,164,241 - 2,164,241

Financial liabilities not measured at fair value

Issued Sukuk 2,829,092 - 2,654,409 - 2,654,409

Investments at FVSI 2023 2022

Balance at the beginning of the year  618,811  613,729

Total gains in consolidated statement of income  30,735  52,755

Settlements/ adjustments  (23,259)  (47,673)

Balance at the end of the year  626,287  618,811
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Certain unobservable inputs were applied for the above valuation and the impact of the sensitivity is not material.

Type Valuation technique
Significant unobservable 
inputs

Inter-relationship between 
significant unobservable 
inputs and fair value 
measurement

FVSI investments classified as 
Level 3

Fair value is determined based on 
the investee fund’s most recent 
reported net assets value

These inputs include risk-
adjusted discount rates, 
marketability and liquidity 
discounts and control 
premiums

The higher the discount rate, 
the lower is the valuation; vice 
versa

FVOCI investments classified 
as Level 2 include plain vanilla 
bonds for which market 
quotes are not available

Fair valued using simple 
discounted cash flow techniques 
that use observable market data 
inputs for yield curves and credit 
spreads

None Not applicable

Derivatives classified as Level 
2 are comprised of over the 
counter special commission 
rate swaps, cross currency 
swaps, special commission 
rate futures and options, 
forward foreign exchange 
contracts, currency and 
commodity options and 
other derivative financial 
instruments

These instruments are fair valued 
using the Group’s proprietary 
valuation models that are 
based on discounted cash flow 
techniques. The data inputs 
on these models are based on 
observable market parameters 
relevant to the markets in which 
they are traded and are sourced 
from widely used market data 
service providers

None Not applicable

Financial assets and liabilities 
that are disclosed at fair 
value and classified as Level 
2 include investments held at 
amortised cost

These instruments are fair valued 
using simple discounted cash flow 
techniques that use observable 
market data inputs for yield 
curves and credit spreads

Additional buffer is 
added to account for 
any potential model 
discrepancy or any 
stressed market conditions

Not applicable

Financial assets and liabilities 
that are disclosed at fair 
value and classified as Level 
3 include loans and advances 
and debt issuances

These instruments are fair valued 
using simple discounted cash flow 
techniques that use observable 
market data inputs for yield 
curves and credit spreads

Additional buffer is added 
to the credit spreads to 
account for any potential 
model discrepancy or any 
stressed market conditions

The higher the credit spread, 
the lower is the valuation; vice 
versa

Other real estate asset

Earning Before Tax, Depreciation 
and Amortization (EBITDA) 
margins has been forecasted 
based on market and similar 
products offerings, taking into 
account the expected growth 
rate, room occupancy rate, rate 
per room, discount rate, yield, 
construction cost and other costs

• EBITDA forecast
• Discount rate and yield 

rate
• Room occupancy rate
• Rent per room

• EBITDA has been forecasted 
as higher or (lower)

•  The discount rate or yield 
were lower or (higher)

• The occupancy rate were 
higher or (lower)

• The rent per room were 
higher or (lower)

35.  Fair values of assets and liabilities (continued)
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36.  Related party transactions
In the ordinary course of its activities, the Group transacts business with related parties. In the opinion of management and 

the Board of Directors, the related party transactions are performed on an arm’s length basis. Related party transactions are 

governed by limits set by the Banking Control Law and regulations issued by SAMA.

36.1  The balances resulting from transactions with related parties included in the consolidated 
financial statements are as follows:

Other major shareholders represent shareholdings (excluding the non-Saudi shareholder) of more than 5% of the Bank’s 

issued share capital.

36.2  Income and expense transactions with related parties included in these consolidated 
financial statements are as follows:

2023 2022

Non-Saudi Major Shareholder and their Affiliates:

Due from banks and other financial institutions  43,491  35,039 

Due to banks and other financial institutions  442,133  305,146 

Commitments and contingencies  1,594,459  1,312,641 

Directors, key management personnel, other major shareholders and their affiliates:

Loans and advances  6,237,362  6,646,210 

Customers’ deposits  3,414,391 12,417,319

Commitments and contingencies  2,463,398  2,059,518 

Bank’s mutual funds and others:

Investments  602,546  138,016 

Loans and advances  1,805,822  2,780,326 

Customers’ deposits  5,274  206,791 

Associates:

Investments in associates  949,403 978,683

Loans and advances  3,365,114  3,283,976 

Customers’ deposits  158,681  51,567 

2023 2022

Special commission income  1,009,498 576,442

Special commission expense  (128,871)  (296,899)

Fees and commission income  109,451  96,919 

Gain on disposal of investment in an associate  -   36,050

Share in earnings of associates, net  19,508 72,081

Directors’ remuneration  (8,404)  (7,512)

Miscellaneous expenses  (127,604)  (52,218)

Insurance contracts  (68,153)  (64,620)
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As at and for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022

All amounts in thousands of Saudi Riyals unless stated otherwise

36.3  The total amount of compensation paid to key management personnel during the year 
is as follows:

Key management personnel are those persons, including an executive director, having direct or indirect authority and 

responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Group.

37.  Capital adequacy
The Group’s objectives when managing capital is to comply with the capital requirements set by SAMA; to safeguard the 

Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and to maintain a strong capital base. During the period, the Group fully 

complied with regulatory capital requirements.

The Group monitors the adequacy of its capital using ratios established by SAMA. These ratios measure capital adequacy by 

comparing the Group’s eligible capital with its interim consolidated statement of financial position assets, commitments and 

notional amounts of derivatives at a weighted amount to reflect their relative risk.

The current year figures are presented as per Basel III revised framework issued by SAMA effective from January 1, 2023 and 

applied prospectively. The prior year’s figures are not restated, but are presented based on Basel III previous framework and 

guidance.

Accordingly, the Group’s Pillar I consolidated Risk Weighted Assets (RWA), total capital and related ratios are as follows:

The Group maintains an actively managed capital base to cover risks inherent in the business. The adequacy of the Group’s 

capital is monitored using, among other measures, the rules and ratios established by the Basel Committee on Banking 

Supervision as adopted by SAMA in supervising the Bank.

2023 2022

Short-term employee benefits (Salaries and allowances)  51,676 57,091

Post-employment benefits (End of service indemnity and social security)  5,387 6,264

2023 2022

Credit Risk RWA  164,441,230  163,404,276 

Operational Risk RWA  9,113,477  15,716,196 

Market Risk RWA  13,724,205  1,981,945 

Total Pillar I RWA    187,278,912  181,102,417 

Tier I Capital  35,253,240  31,875,272 

Tier II Capital  3,816,425  3,953,833 

Total Tier I & II Capital  39,069,665  35,829,105 

Capital Adequacy Ratio %

CETI 18.82% 17.60%

Tier I ratio 18.82% 17.60%

Tier I + Tier II ratio 20.86% 19.78%

36.  Related party transactions (continued)
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38.  Investment management services
The Group offers investment services to its customers, which include management of investment funds with assets totaling 

SAR 12,208 million (2022: SAR 9,825 million).

The financial statements of these funds are not consolidated with these consolidated financial statements, as the Group 

is not significantly exposed to variability of return and hence do not qualify to be considered as a subsidiary. However, the 

Group’s share of these non-consolidated funds is included in FVSI investments and fees earned are disclosed under related 

party transactions.

Assets held in trust or in a fiduciary capacity are not treated as assets of the Group and accordingly are not included in these 

consolidated financial statements.

39.  IBOR transition (Interest Rate Benchmark Reforms)
A fundamental review and reform of major profit rate benchmarks are being undertaken globally. The IASB has published, 

in two phases, amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16 in order to address issues that might affect financial 

reporting after the reform of an interest rate benchmark, including the replacement of an existing London Inter-bank Offer 

Rate (“LIBOR”) with an alternative Risk-Free Rate (“RFR”).

Management had put in place a robust transition project for those contracts which reference LIBOR and to transition 

them to the alternate benchmarks as applicable. This transition project considered changes to systems, processes, risk 

management policies, and models, as well as accounting implications. Further, the Group has actively approached customers 

for awareness and led communication and negotiations with affected counterparties. As of December 31, 2023, the Group 

has completed the transition to alternate reference rate. The Group has no exposure to any other LIBOR rates.

40.  Subsequent events

40.1   Dividends
On February 6, 2024, the Board of Directors approved to pay cash dividends of SAR 1,050 million for the second half of 2023 

after deducting zakat. This final dividend will result in a net payment of SAR 0.70 per share to Saudi shareholders. Upon 

distribution, the income tax liability of the non-Saudi strategic shareholder for the current and prior period (if any) will be 

deducted from their share of the dividend. This final dividend will be distributed on February 25, 2024.

40.2  Increase of share capital
On February 7, 2024, the Board of Directors recommended to increase the share capital by granting bonus shares to 

shareholders (1 share for every 3 shares owned), this is will increase the share capital by 500 million shares to reach to SAR 

20,000 million (2,000 million shares of SAR 10 each). The recommendation is subject to the approvals of official authorities 

and extraordinary General Assembly.

41.  Comparative figures
Certain prior year figures have been reclassified to conform with current year presentation, which are not material in nature 

to the consolidated financial statements.

42.  Board of Directors’ approval
The consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board on Rajab 23, 1445 (corresponding to February 4, 2024).

Overview  Strategic Review  Directors’ Report  Financial Statements

209Annual Report 2023



anb.com.sa


	_Hlk153450083
	_Hlk153444205

